

UCC Library and UCC researchers have made this item openly available. Please let us know how this has helped you. Thanks!

Title	Preclinical characterisation of fingolimod as a potential therapeutic agent
	for stroke
Author(s)	Diaz Diaz, Andrea C.
Publication date	2022-12
Original citation	Diaz Diaz, A. C. 2022. Preclinical characterisation of fingolimod as a potential therapeutic agent for stroke. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2022, Andrea C. Diaz Diaz. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/
Item downloaded from	http://hdl.handle.net/10468/14066

Downloaded on 2023-01-20T02:13:19Z



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh Ollscoil na hÉireann, Corcaigh National University of Ireland, Cork



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh

Preclinical Characterisation of Fingolimod as a Potential Therapeutic Agent for Stroke

Thesis presented by Andrea Carolina Diaz Diaz, BSc

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9619-9143

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics Head Department: Professor Christian Waeber School of Pharmacy Head of School: Professor Brendan Griffin Supervisors: Dr Christian Waeber and Dr Anne Moore December 2022

Declaration

This is to certify that the work I am submitting is my own and has not been submitted for another degree, either at University College Cork or elsewhere. All external references and sources are clearly acknowledged and identified within the contents. I have read and understood the regulations of University College Cork concerning plagiarism.

Andrea Carolina Diaz Diaz

December 2022

Declaration of author contribution

This is to certify that this thesis was written solely by me with the input and feedback from my supervisory team, with the exception of the intracerebral haemorrhage discussion that was written in conjunction with the authors: Christian Waeber, and Kyle Malone as part of a published manuscript.

I designed the studies, performed surgeries, behaviour tests, data management, and conducted the data analysis. Jennifer Shearer performed most of the histological staining and quantification. Kyle Malone performed the flow cytometry experiments and data collection.

Andrea Carolina Diaz Diaz

December 2022

To Benjamín

The baby arriving on this world the same day as this thesis

Acknowledgements

I would like to give thanks to my supervisors Christian and Anne for their guidance. Thanks Christian for believing in me and providing the environment for me to grow as a researcher, thank you for all your feedback during the writing of this manuscript and showing me the way through the messy middle.

I would like to give a special thanks to the reviewers of this manuscript for having accepted to be part of my PhD journey. Thank you for your time and effort.

I would like to give thanks to all the great helpers and supporters that were part of my team: thank you Abbie, Emilie and Jennifer for providing the help necessary to move this project forward, specially to Jennifer because without you many of the work would not have been possible. Thank you Sylvie for all her support and for being a great researcher to look up to. Many thanks to Kyle, for the support and the encouraging words and for reminding me that we all have our gifts and talents and that is what makes us unique.

I would also like to thank the staff of the Biological Safety Unit for all the company they gave me on the long days of surgeries, as well for lending a hand whenever I needed it most. I would like to thank the staff of the School of Pharmacy, the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, and the university as a whole for having the infrastructure to help me develop my resilience and build skills outside of the lab. I am immensely grateful for the International Students Office for their support. I would like to thank Cliona for reaching out when I started at UCC and introducing me to great people that would later turn into long lasting friendships; Thank you Andres, David, Francisco, Juliet, and Walther.

I would also like to give thanks to my Stuck to Unstoppable friends: Ashley, Elisabeth, Elizabeth, Katherine, Lisa, Paulina and Tamara. Getting up early every day to write with you made all the difference to being able to finish. Thanks!

Last but not least, I would like to give thanks to my family, Pedro, Dotty, Valeria and José. Even though they were far, they were always a phone call away, their support was and is invaluable. I would also like to give thanks to my boyfriend Conor for being there for me through this journey, and being the cheerleader I didn't know I needed. I couldn't have done this without you

Funding

Health Research Board

Grant Title: "Preclinical characterisation of fingolimod as a potential therapeutic agent for stroke"

Research stay

I performed a research stay in the research laboratory: Laboratorio de Investigación de Neurociencias Clínicas (LINC) at the Hospital Clínico Universitario in Santiago de Compostela, Spain with Professor Francisco Campos Pérez. The visit was completed between September and October 2016. While there I had hands-on experience learning the mouse model of in situ thromboembolic stroke, as well as reperfusion, as originally described by Orset et al. 2007

Abbreviations

BSU	Biological service unit
dH ₂ 0	Distilled water
EMA	European Medicines Agency
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
h	hour
H&E	Haematoxylin and Eosin
i.p	Intra peritoneal
i.v	Intra venous
IVC	Individually ventilated cages
ICH	Intracerebral Haemorrhage
MCA	Middle cerebral artery
МСАо	Middle cerebral artery occlusion
N ₂	Nitrogen
NeuN	Neuronal Nuclei
O ₂	Oxygen
PFA	Para-formaldehyde
rtPA	Recombinant tissue plasminogen activator
STAIR	Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable
tMCAo	Transient middle cerebral artery occlusion
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
TTC	2,3,5-Triphenyltetrazolium chloride

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Chapter 1 Introduction	3
1.1. Stroke	6
1.1.1. Stroke Epidemiology	6
1.1.2. Stroke Prevention	7
1.2. Stroke Pathophysiology	9
1.2.1. Ischaemic Stroke Pathophysiology	10
1.2.2. Haemorrhagic Stroke Pathophysiology	13
1.3. Clinical Management Of Stroke Patients	14
1.3.1. Stroke Units	14
1.3.2. Ischaemic Stroke Treatment	15
1.3.2.1. Tissue plasminogen activator	15
1.3.2.2. Mechanical Thrombectomy	17
1.3.2.3. Other available treatments	18
1.2.3. Haemorrhagic Stroke Treatment	18
1.4. Preclinical Stroke Research	20
1.4.1. Stroke Research Guidelines	22
1.4.1.1. STAIR Guidelines	22
1.4.1.2. Other Guidelines	25

1.4.1.4. Preclinical Trials	26
1.4.2. Animal Models of Stroke	28
1.4.2.1. Ischaemic Stroke Models	28
1.4.2.2. Intracerebral Haemorrhage models	30
1.4.2.3. Animal Models of Comorbidities	31
1.5. Fingolimod	33
1.5.1. Approved Clinical Use	38
1.5.2. Fingolimod in Stroke Research	39
1.5.3. Stroke Clinical Trials of Fingolimod	44
1.6. Hypothesis and Objectives	46
Chapter 2 Methods	48
2.1. Animals	49
2.1.1. Experimental mice	49
2.1.2. Animal Husbandry	50
2.1.3. Focal Ischaemic Stroke Models	52
2.1.3.1. Thromboembolic Stroke	52
2.1.3.2. Electrocautery Stroke	62
2.1.4. Haemorrhagic Stroke	64
2.2. Experimental Outcome Measures	67
2.2.1. Histology	67
2.2.1.1. Tissue Collection	67
2.2.2.2. Tissue Staining	67
2.2.2.2.1. 2,3,5-Triphenyl tetrazolium Chloride Staining	68
2.2.2.2. Tissue Freezing and Sectioning	68
2.2.2.4. Haematoxylin and Eosin Staining	69
2.2.2.3. Cresyl violet	70
2.2.2.5. Immunohistochemistry (NeuN) Staining	71
2.2.1.3. Stroke Injury Quantification	72
2.2.1.4. Ventricle Measurements	73
2.2.2. Behaviour	74
2.2.2.1. Cylinder Test	75
2.2.2.2. Foot Fault test	76

2.5.2.3. Wire-Hanging test	77
2.2.3. Post-operative recovery scores	78
2.2.4. Blood Sampling	79
2.5.3.1. Flow Cytometry Analysis	79
2.2.3.2. Serum Analysis	80
2.2.3.2.1. Total Cholesterol	80
2.2.5. Atherosclerotic Lesions Quantification	82
2.3. Experimental Design	84
2.3.1. Sample Size Calculation	84
2.3.2. Exclusion Criteria	84
2.3.3. Randomisation and Blinding	85
2.3.4. Data Analysis and Statistical Tests	86
2.3.5. Drug Preparation and Dosing	87
2.4. Experimental Studies	88
2.4.1. Intracerebral Haemorrhage Study	89
2.4.2. Dose-Response Study in Ischaemic Stroke	90
2.4.3. Effect of Anaesthetic Carrier Gas	91
2.4.4. Treatment Duration Study	92
2.4.5. Effect of Comorbidities	93
2.4.5.1. Age Study	93
2.4.5.2. Hyperlipidaemia Study	94
Chapter 3 Results	95
3.1. The Effect of Fingolimod on Intracerebral Haemorrhage	96
3.2. Effects of Fingolimod on Ischaemic Stroke in a Dose-Response	Study104
3.3. Effects of Anaesthetic Delivery Gas on Stroke Lesion Size	109
3.4. Effects of Fingolimod on Ischaemic Stroke in a Dose-Response	Study
Under 30% Oxygen	112
3.5. Effect of a Longer Fingolimod Treatment Duration on Ischaemi	c Stroke
	117
3.6. Effect of Stroke Comorbidities	122
3.7. Pooled Data Analysis of Ischaemic Studies	134
Chapter 4 Discussion	136

4.1. Evaluation of Fingolimod in an Intracerebral Haemorrhage Model	_137
4.2. Thromboembolic Stroke Model Setup Studies	_141
4.3. Fingolimod Dose-Response Study in the Distal Electrocautery Occlu	sion
Model	_145
4.4. Evaluation of an Extended Treatment Duration of Fingolimod	_150
4.5. The Effect Of Fingolimod On Stroke In Mice With Comorbidities	_153
4.6. Pooled data	_161
Chapter 5 Conclusion	_164
Bibliography	_169
Appendix	_216
Conferences and Publications	_217

Abstract

Stroke is the leading cause for death and disability worldwide, and the search for novel drug treatments has been affected by repeated clinical trial failures. One novel drug that has garnered promising results in preclinical and clinical stroke studies is fingolimod, an FDA approved drug for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Even though there are several studies supporting the effectiveness of fingolimod for the treatment of stroke, the recommended characterisation based on the Stroke Treatment Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR) guidelines is incomplete. Furthermore, the quality of the preclinical studies supporting fingolimod has been poor, thus rigorous studies are required to validate the effectiveness of fingolimod prior to evaluation in clinical trials. This thesis aimed to inform whether fingolimod is effective for the treatment of stroke in intracerebral haemorrhage and ischaemic stroke, and to inform whether fingolimod is a good candidate for evaluation in large randomised clinical trials. This goal was achieved by first using a model of intracerebral haemorrhage to evaluate the effect of administering fingolimod at 30 min, 24 and 48 h after stroke on lesion size and behaviour in a 14-day study on male and female mice. This was followed up by a series of studies using middle cerebral artery occlusion to cause a focal ischaemia. First an optimal dose of fingolimod was determined in a dose response study; then we evaluated the optimal drug dose in two animal model of common comorbidities associated with stroke, age and hyperlipidaemia; and the last study evaluated the effect of an extended treatment duration on stroke. For the ischaemic stroke studies we focused on lesion and behavioural measurements as primary outcomes. and secondary data was collected from daily scores, plus additional measures where necessary. The intracerebral haemorrhage study fingolimod treatment had no measurable effect on either lesion size or behavioural outcomes irrespective of sex, the only finding was that fingolimod treatment reduced mortality in female mice. The dose response study showed no difference in lesion size or behavioural outcomes between the two fingolimod doses (0.5 and 1.0 mg/kg) and control mice, the study did show that saline treated mice had a significantly larger atrophy compared to the lower dose of fingolimod. The lower dose was selected as optimal for further studies. The study evaluating the effect of 0.5mg/kg fingolimod on stroke in aged mice showed that fingolimod-treated mice had a significantly larger atrophy and a significant improvement in the grid score 7 d after stroke compared to saline-treated mice. The study evaluating the effect of fingolimod on stroke in hyperlipidaemic mice showed that fingolimod-treated mice had a significantly reduced lesion size, without an effect on any other outcome measures. The final study evaluated two fingolimod treatment durations compared to saline controls, the study showed no difference between any of the outcome measures, with a trend towards improved behaviour outcomes in mice receiving 10 d of fingolimod treatment. Lastly, considering the fact that the results of these studies were inconclusive, we decided to pool the data of the ischaemic studies and evaluate whether fingolimod had an effect on the primary outcome measures in a heterogenous animal population. The pooled data showed that fingolimod treatment improved behaviour 7 d after stroke without an effect on lesion size or atrophy. The results of this thesis cast a doubt on the effectiveness of fingolimod and its suitability for translation into larger clinical trials. Furthermore, they highlight the need for thorough preclinical studies for promising drugs as well as the need for studies to meet the proposed STAIR guidelines prior to translation. Confirmatory studies, like those presented here, performed with measures intended to control for internal and external biases are all good measures to be implemented for future studies of novel and highly promising drugs for stroke treatment.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Stroke is an acute event caused by blockage of a brain blood vessel or a ruptured blood vessel haemorrhaging into the brain. The interruption of the blood flow can lead to permanent cell damage depending on the length of time blood flow is interrupted (Hankey, 2017). Individuals presenting with stroke are recognised by the acute and specific neurological deficits associated with the area of the brain affected by the interrupted blood flow (Kothari et al., 1997; Yew and Cheng, 2015). The disruption of blood supply causes the cells activity to slow down, initiating a cascade of molecular events that eventually cause cell death by necrosis, apoptosis or autophagy (Dirnagl et al., 1999; Fisher, 2003).

Ischaemic and haemorrhagic are the two major types of strokes (Fig. 1.1). Ischaemic stroke represents 87% of all stroke events, and they can be further broken down into a variety of types depending on the aetiology and the duration of the blockage (Virani et al., 2020). Some strokes are transient ischaemic attacks (TIA) that can resolve quickly without requiring medical intervention. However, the majority of strokes cause some degree of neurological damage that does not resolve independently and requires medical interventions to mitigate damage (Sommer, 2017). The initial ischaemic lesion is formed within minutes of blood flow interruption, forming the necrotic core due to cellular hypoxia. The adjacent tissue forms the penumbra, an area of salvageable tissue (Hossmann, 1994).



Figure 1.1: Cross-sectional diagram of a human brain with a haemorrhagic (left panel) and an ischaemic stroke (right panel). Image reproduced under permission from (Cornell, 2016).

Intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH) or haemorrhagic strokes are caused by the rupture of a blood vessel and the subsequent accumulation of blood in and around the brain parenchyma, ventricles and subarachnoid space (Sacco et al., 2013). Haemorrhagic strokes represent 10-15% of all strokes; however, they represent 50 - 60% of the morbidity and mortality associated with strokes (Virani et al., 2020; Keep, Hua and Xi, 2012; Donkor, 2018). The primary neurological deficits are caused by the haematoma and mass effect. The mass effect is a product of the accumulated blood that causes a displacement of the brain structures (Keep, Hua and Xi, 2012). The volume of blood released into the parenchyma and the increase in intracranial pressure are major determinants of the outcome post-stroke. Haematoma greater than 150 mL in volume can quickly lead to death from the compression of the brain stem (Xi, Keep and Hoff, 2006). The secondary damage is caused by brain oedema and inflammation caused in response to the injury and from the toxic effect associated with the accumulation and degradation of blood components (Wilkinson et al., 2018).

Despite stroke's major impact, there is only one pharmacological agent specific for the management of ischaemic stroke, tissue plasminogen activator (tPA). There has been extensive research over the last decades to discover and develop novel agents; however, no drug has been proven to be an effective neuroprotector. One group of drugs that has garnered a lot of interest are immunomodulators for their dynamic effects acting both as anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective drugs. There is a large body of research supporting the possibility that immunomodulators, such as fingolimod, may be effective in the management of stroke, yet more research is required (O'Collins et al., 2006; Dang et al., 2020). The overarching goal of this thesis was to determine the effectiveness of fingolimod for the treatment of stroke in a rigorously designed preclinical study. This chapter will briefly introduce the pathophysiology of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke and discuss the currently available treatments for stroke. The chapter will also introduce the current state of stroke preclinical research, covering the current guidelines and model of stroke. Lastly, it will provide a background on fingolimod as a potential drug for the treatment of both haemorrhagic and ischaemic stroke and explain what makes fingolimod such a promising candidate for stroke treatment.

1.1. Stroke

1.1.1. Stroke Epidemiology

Stroke is one of the leading causes of disability worldwide, and according to The World Health Organisation, it is the second-largest cause of death (Virani et al., 2020; World Health Organization, 2018). The report from the 2016 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Collaborators identified 80.1 million cases of stroke reported worldwide, and the mortality was 5.5 million people from all strokes, of which 2.7 million individuals died from ischaemic and 2.8 M haemorrhagic strokes (GBD 2016 Stroke Collaborators et al., 2019). The National Stroke Register of Ireland reported an incidence of 4,817 cases of stroke in 2018 (National Stroke Programme, 2019).

Men and women are both susceptible to stroke, and the risk and survival odds vary depending on age. At a younger age, men have a higher incidence of stroke compared to women and the incidence shifts after 85 years of age when women have a dramatic increase in the incidence of strokes (Manwani and McCullough, 2011). However, according to the GBD, females had a higher prevalence of stroke in 2016 (41.1 million) than males (39.0 million) (GBD 2016 Stroke Collaborators et al., 2019). The fact that women account for a higher percentage of the total deaths associated with stroke worldwide might be explained by differences in the age of the first stroke between males and females (69.2 vs 74.5 years) and the differences in life expectancy between the sexes (Virani et al., 2020).

Age is considered the strongest non-modifiable factor influencing the risk of stroke, and the risk doubles every decade past the age of 55 for people with other comorbidities and risk factors (Donkor, 2018). Yet, stroke is considered a preventable disease because it correlates with modifiable risk factors and lifestyle measures that can reduce the risk as age progresses. The modifiable risk factors associated with stroke were quantified in a recent case-control study involving 26,919 participants (10,388 ischaemic strokes, 3,059 intracerebral haemorrhage and 13,472 controls) from 32 countries; the ten most common were hypertension, physical activity, apolipoprotein ratios, diet, waist-to-hip ratio, psychosocial factors, smoking, cardiac issues, alcohol consumption and diabetes (O'Donnell et al., 2016). Furthermore, the GBD stroke collaborators attribute 91% of

strokes to similar modifiable risk factors that can vary between different regions and ethnicities (Virani et al., 2020; GBD 2016 Stroke Collaborators et al., 2019; O'Donnell et al., 2016).

The most common risk factors associated with intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH) are high blood pressure and amyloid angiopathy; less frequently ICH, is associated with brain tumours and cerebral aneurysms (Xi, Keep and Hoff, 2006). ICH has the highest mortality of all strokes, and it is among the leading causes of death and long-term disability worldwide (Benjamin et al., 2019). Low to middle-income countries also have the highest incidence and associated mortality, which represents 80% of the total ICH cases in the world (Katan and Luft, 2018).

The high incidence of stroke correlates with a high financial burden associated with the acute and chronic care and management of this condition because people that survive a stroke experience various degrees of disability. The financial burden of stroke can be measured starting from acute to long-term care and rehabilitation (Rajsic et al., 2019). In Europe, it has been estimated that the total healthcare cost of stroke was \notin 27 billion in 2017. In the same year, in Ireland, the healthcare-related cost of strokes represented \notin 172 million, less than 1% of the total healthcare expenditure of the country (Luengo-Fernandez et al., 2019). The burden of disability and the financial burden to families and countries makes the development and characterisation of novel drug treatments a critical area of research for preventing and managing recovery after stroke.

1.1.2. Stroke Prevention

The post-stroke treatment has many limitations and contraindications that restrict the time window of administration, as is the case with tPA administration, which limits the population for whom treatment is available. Thus, stroke prevention is the most effective intervention for the management of stroke. The American Heart Association has set forth evidence-based guidelines for the primary prevention of stroke to guide physicians on preventative treatment selection based on the modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors of each patient (Meschia et al., 2014). Age, genetics, and ethnicity are non-modifiable risk variables that cannot be addressed with behavioural changes or pharmacological therapies; however, modifiable risk factors can be pharmacologically controlled to reduce the incidence of stroke, i.e., dyslipidaemia, hypertension and diabetes. Other diseases like atrial fibrillation and coagulopathies, which increase the risk of an ischaemic stroke, can

only be treated with drugs that increase the risk of ICH (i.e., aspirin, warfarin) (Meschia et al., 2014).

After the first stroke, the incidence of stroke increases for an individual; hence, secondary stroke prevention is an important aspect of stroke treatment. Secondary prevention involves managing the risk factors that can lead to a repeat ictus with drugs and behaviour modifications similar to primary prevention. Treatments to prevent further strokes vary depending on the aetiology of the stroke (i.e., strokes caused by an embolus, a clot or a thrombus) and the risk factors of the individual. Behaviour modifications include changes in activity level and patient's diet to control comorbidities like diabetes and hypercholesterolemia. Furthermore, statins are prescribed when behaviour modifications are not enough to address lipid levels and reduce atherosclerotic related risk (Graham, 2008).

There are two classes of antithrombotic drugs effective for stroke prevention (antiplatelets and anticoagulants) that are recommended after stroke. Anti-platelet therapy reduces the 90-day risk of stroke or death. Furthermore, anticoagulant therapy for ischaemic strokes of arterial origin is just as effective at reducing the risk of repeat ictus as anti-platelet therapy (Meschia et al., 2014; Costa, Windecker and Valgimigli, 2017). High blood pressure is another risk factor for ischaemic and haemorrhagic strokes. Managing blood pressure by maintaining it below 120 mmHg reduces the risk of stroke in older individuals (Spence et al., 2020).

1.2. Stroke Pathophysiology

Stroke pathophysiology is described as a cascade of events that begins with the disruption of cerebral blood flow (CBF). Persistent low levels of perfusion cause the development of an ischaemic core in both ischaemic stroke and haemorrhagic strokes. The ischaemic core is an area that becomes necrotic and permanently damaged within minutes after blood flow interruptions. The surrounding tissue has low levels of CBF, enough to supply energy and to sustain a resting membrane potential for a short period of time but not enough energy to evoke action potentials. This area is known as the penumbra, an area of salvageable tissue that can be rescued if CBF is restored (Hossmann, 1994). The penumbra slowly disappears as cells start dying from the prolonged lack of energy, causing the expansion of the ischaemic core (Astrup, Siesjö and Symon, 1981; Hossmann, 2011).

Over the years, basic research has helped understand the pathophysiological cascade of events in ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke. The development of neuroprotective drugs has focused on interfering with the tissue damage cascades, e.g. O₂ depletion and glutamate release, by designing drugs that counteract the events (Wilkinson et al., 2017). Animal models have helped in the understanding of the penumbra and the expansion of the ischaemic core and the contribution of cortical spreading and depolarisation mechanisms to this expansion (Fig. 1.2) (Hossmann, 1994, 2006). Advances have also been made in the understanding of inflammation, the vascular unit and immunological system and their involvement in stroke in endogenous protective mechanisms (Kleinig and Vink, 2009; Malone et al., 2019; Lambertsen, Finsen and Clausen, 2019).



Figure 1.2: Stroke Pathophysiology progression from acute to chronic stages of the disease, damage and protection are on one side of the diagram, and pathogenic mechanism and therapeutic options are on the other end of the graph. The x axis represents time and the progression from damage to repair and energy failure to inflammation and apoptosis from minutes to weeks (Gutiérrez et al., 2009). Reproduced under copyright authorisation from Karger Intl.

The acute treatment for stroke aims to limit the ischaemic core expansion primarily by reperfusion. However, it is also important to support the recovery of the nearby tissue with neuroprotective drugs aimed at modulating the cascade of events and rescuing the cells in the penumbra and nearby tissue (Fig. 1.2). Inflammation is directly associated with stroke pathology because it has been identified as a major contributing factor for poor outcomes in stroke recovery. Inflammation can be modulated by the local and infiltrating immune cells and managing their response (Lambertsen, Finsen and Clausen, 2019; Anrather and Iadecola, 2016). Furthermore, common comorbidities are associated with low-grade inflammation that leads to a heightened inflammatory response in the brain after stroke (Przykaza, 2021). Thus, inflammation has become a research target for drug development for many years (Chen, Shao and Ma, 2021).

1.2.1. Ischaemic Stroke Pathophysiology

The expansion of the ischaemic core follows a series of events that lead to cell death by autophagy, necrosis or apoptosis. The initial events are associated with energy failure and an inability of the neurones and glia to maintain homeostasis and cell membrane polarisation (Khoshnam et al., 2017). At the same time, there is a release of glutamate into the synaptic cleft, causing excessive calcium influx that, in turn, activates calcium dependent proteases, lipases and DNAses, leading to apoptosis. Furthermore, sodium influx is accompanied by water, causing cell swelling, oedema and reduction of extracellular space that further restricts blood flow (Lipton, 1999).

The expansion of the damaged area is also facilitated by cortical spreading depression (Hossmann, 1994), a phenomenon causing intense depolarisation of neurones and glia that propagates across neighbouring cells, furthering the loss of cellular activity and increasing swelling associated with extracellular potassium concentrations exceeding critical thresholds (Xing et al., 2012). Cell depolarisation ultimately leads to brain inflammation and oedema, a product of the abnormal ionic gradients generated by cell lysis that is exacerbated by the accumulation of blood products as the blood-brain barrier breaks down.

The cells in the ischaemic core release their contents and trigger the activation of microglia (resident immune cells) and the recruitment of peripheral immune cells (Esposito et al., 2019). The microglia activation and the infiltration of the peripheral immune cells are triggered by the recognition of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released by dying cells. Cell death also activates the innate immune system through antigen presentation of cell proteins by antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells (Anrather and Iadecola, 2016; Iadecola and Anrather, 2011). Locally, microglia focus on phagocytosing, clearing debris, and modulating early response by interacting with other immune cells and releasing cytokines. Early on after stroke, astrocytes also start to multiply (astrogliosis), sealing off the necrotic core scar. However, in the later stages of recovery, excessive scaring can interfere with the revascularisation of the area and limit nutrient diffusion necessary for neurogenesis (Levard et al., 2020).

The immune response after stroke involves the innate and adaptive immune systems. The response from the innate and adaptive immune system varies over time from proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory states. Correspondingly, these can have a negative or positive effect on recovery following stroke. Inflammation can be associated with adverse outcomes, especially in cases where there is an over-reactive immune response (Anrather and Iadecola, 2016; Harris, Rooij and Kuhl, 2019).

Neutrophils are the first responders of the innate immune system, invading the brain as early as 3 h after stroke and reaching a peak by day three (Perez-de-Puig et al., 2015). Macrophages can differentiate into M1 and M2 states and perform inflammatory or antiinflammatory functions, respectively. The activation depends on the cytokines and DAMPs present in the interstitial space; thus, in the early stages after stroke, there are primarily M1 (pro-inflammatory) macrophages (Kronenberg et al., 2018; Benusa, George and Dupree, 2020). Later on, the macrophages start to shift to an M2 (anti-inflammatory), helping with the recovery process after stroke.

The adaptive immune system also responds after stroke insult and the release of inflammatory cytokines. The response involves T cells that infiltrate and differentiate into cytotoxic T cells or regulatory T cells (Tregs). The activated Tregs have been associated with balancing between pro- and anti-inflammatory responses (Fu et al., 2015; Yoshimura and Ito, 2020). Furthermore, Tregs have been reported in preclinical studies to promote an anti-inflammatory environment by inhibiting the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and they are associated with better outcomes and improved recovery after stroke (Wang et al., 2021).

Furthermore, several studies have found that B cells also have an effect on stroke recovery as they become activated and recognise self-antigens of the brain cells as part of the adaptive immune response to stroke (Hum et al., 2007; Ren et al., 2011; Ortega et al., 2015, 2020). The use of immune deficient mice (SCID) lacking both B and T cells showed a reduced lesion, implicating both cells in the inflammatory process after stroke (Hum et al., 2007). Additional studies have shown positive effects associated with the presence of B cells in the injury, and this is supported by the fact that mice lacking B cells had larger lesion sizes and higher mortality than wild type mice (Ren et al., 2011). These results reflect the complexities of the recovery following stroke and the dynamic changes involved in the pathology and recovery, as well as the involvement of different immune cell types.

The possibility of modulating the immune response has further developed an interest in immunomodulatory drugs that can also interfere with the response of macrophages and astrocytes, as well as interfere with inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β and TNF α) (Malone et al., 2018). Immunomodulation has become a major area of research focused on understanding the pathways involved in recovery and the inflammatory response after stroke (Malone et al., 2018), and it is an active area of research for drug development (Malone et al., 2019; Lambertsen, Finsen and Clausen, 2019; Ren et al., 2020). Neuroprotective drug research has focused on the period in which there is salvageable tissue (penumbra) by limiting the expansion of the necrotic core and reducing apoptosis. Clinical results with these drugs have been disappointing, possibly because they target events occurring during a short time window. Yet, there is still a chance to limit the damage by treating with immunomodulators that can target inflammation, a more protracted phenomenon, and prevent an overreactive immune response after stroke (Fig. 1.2).

1.2.2. Haemorrhagic Stroke Pathophysiology

Specifically in haemorrhagic stroke, the pathophysiological cascade is triggered by the accumulation of blood within the parenchyma of the brain. This can be divided into the physical and molecular aspects associated with blood accumulation and haematoma. The physical aspect relates directly to the volume and location of the blood and is associated with its accumulation in the parenchyma, causing intraventricular distention (Asch et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2019). Bleeding stops for most patients after the initial ictus, but some continue to bleed and suffer from haematoma expansion and mass effect. The haematoma expansion limits blood flow to the nearby tissue, and it negatively correlates with the chances of survival. The increase in intracranial pressure and mass effect cause further damage, necrosis and death (Ye et al., 2020).

The molecular aspects of the injury are associated with the blood, clotting cascade, cell lysis, and the accumulation of haemoglobin in the parenchyma of the brain. Haemoglobin, iron and clotting cascade components have each been independently identified to negatively impact the lesion following stroke causing inflammation and apoptosis (Xi, Keep and Hoff, 2006; Wilkinson et al., 2018). The cascade of events leads to oedema and inflammation following the initial injury, that can further increase intracranial pressure and disrupt blood flow.

Furthermore, the infiltrating macrophages and local microglia are activated and contribute to the inflammatory response by the secretion of cytokines and phagocytosis of haemoglobin and cellular debris (Zhu et al., 2019). In contrast to the inflammatory of ischaemic stroke that operates over days or even weeks, the inflammatory response after ICH is much faster. The inflammatory response is triggered by the extravasated blood that quickly activates both the innate and adaptive immune system in response to exposure to antigens previously unavailable to the immune system (Keep, Hua and Xi, 2012; Tschoe et al., 2020). Being that inflammation is a shared factor between ischaemic and haemorrhagic strokes, various anti-inflammatory agents have been tested for both types of stroke (Kleinig and Vink, 2009).

1.3. Clinical Management Of Stroke

Patients

Stroke recovery is highly dependent on the type of stroke and the access to medical treatment. The goal of stroke treatment and management is to minimise brain tissue damage, disability and risk of death. The availability of adequate medical care shortly after people first experience stroke symptoms is critical because early intervention highly correlates with recovery and survivability (Hossmann, 2006; Powers et al., 2019).

Recanalisation is the only available specific treatment for ischaemic stroke. While it can be spontaneous, as in transient ischaemic attacks, most cases require medical interventions. Recanalisation can be achieved by thrombolysis with tissue plasminogen activator (tPA; Alteplase), or by mechanical removal of the clot or embolus. However, the implementation of these treatment modalities are restricted to patients arriving at the hospital within a narrow time window from the onset of symptoms, limiting their use (Meschia et al., 2014). On the other hand, haemorrhagic stroke management is more dependent on the arrival of the patient to a hospital with a capable team for the clinical management of ICH because there are no specific pharmacological treatments for intracerebral haemorrhage.

1.3.1. Stroke Units

The most effective care for patients with stroke is achieved in highly specialised stroke units. The stroke units have been developed on the basis of many clinical trials aimed at refining and improving the standards of care. There are specialised stroke units that focus on ischaemic stroke and haemorrhagic stroke care. They are composed of a multidisciplinary team that can diagnose, treat and stabilise the patient in the shortest amount of time after arriving at the hospital (Ringelstein et al., 2013; Hostettler, Seiffge and Werring, 2019). The highly specialised stroke units offer a comprehensive team of neurologists, neurosurgeons, radiologists, intensivists, emergency and internal medicine specialists that can increase the odds of survival for the most deadly types of stroke (Hostettler, Seiffge and Werring, 2019). These specialised facilities also include rehabilitation, physical and occupational therapy as part of the treatments to aid the long-term recovery of stroke patients (Gonzales and Grotta, 2016).

The treatments are defined by pre-established algorithms that allow the medical team to quickly determine individualised care based on the specific characteristics of each patient. The algorithms were developed to increase the number of patients that receive the best care possible and to expand the usage of thrombolysis (tPA) by standardising the selection of ischaemic stroke patients (Hankey, 2017). Patients will also be treated to prevent deterioration and secondary strokes by controlling blood pressure, blood glucose levels and other common comorbidities that patients have at the time of stroke (Powers et al., 2019; Specogna et al., 2014).

1.3.2. Ischaemic Stroke Treatment

1.3.2.1. Tissue Plasminogen Activator

Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) is the only drug approved by regulatory agencies for the reperfusion and recanalisation of brain arteries. The drug proved effective for reducing stroke injuries in two pilot studies evaluating safety in 0-90 min and 91-180 min time windows from symptom onset (Brott et al., 1992; Haley et al., 1992). The follow-up double-blinded randomised trial carried out by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) confirmed the safety of administering tPA within 3 h of symptom onset. It showed that reduced neurological deficits and improved clinical outcomes three months after stroke outweighed the risk of haemorrhagic transformation and provided the first guidelines for the use of tPA (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group, 1995).

In Europe, tPA was approved for clinical use by the European Medicine Agency after the completion of The Safe Implementation of thrombolysis in Stroke-Monitoring Study (SITS-MOST). The study evaluated the safety and best therapeutic window and confirmed that a 3 h treatment window was adequate, with very low rates of haemorrhagic transformation at 24 h (1.7%) (Wahlgren et al., 2007). In an effort to expand the treatment window, two clinical trials evaluated a treatment window of up to 6 h from the onset of symptoms, The European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study (ECASS) and ECASS II (Hacke, 1995; Hacke et al., 1998). However, these studies failed to show an overall positive effect of a 6 h treatment window.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of the ECASS and ECASS II clinical trials determined that a treatment window extension of up to 4.5 h after symptom onset provided the best outcomes. The updated treatment window (3-4.5h) was confirmed by the ECASS III clinical trial, proving that treatment with alteplase in a subset of eligible patients improved clinical outcomes even though there was an increased frequency of haemorrhagic transformation associated with tPA (Hacke et al., 2008). Based on these and other studies, an extensive list of criteria that a patient must meet was developed to determine eligibility for tPA treatment, summarised in table 1.1 (Powers et al., 2019).

Even though thrombolysis with tPA is a lifesaving treatment, there is still a significant number of patients that do not receive thrombolysis even when they might benefit from treatment. In Ireland, only 11.2% of patients presenting with ischaemic stroke received thrombolysis in 2018, and the remainder of the patients were not treated because of contraindications (61%) or non-specified reasons (27.4%) (National Stroke Programme, 2019). This shows that there is a substantial number of patients that would benefit from novel treatment options that can protect the brain and limit disability, especially for patients that do not and cannot receive recanalisation treatment. Furthermore, a novel treatment could expand the use of tPA by limiting the side-effects associated with delayed tPA treatment. One example of such a novel drug that can expand the treatment window is fingolimod because it reduced haemorrhagic transformation in a mouse model of ischaemic stroke that was treated with tPA and improved outcomes in the case of non-recanalisation (Campos et al., 2013). These preclinical findings were later evaluated in a small proof of concept clinical trial wherein fingolimod reduced reperfusion injury and improved outcome measures (Zhu et al., 2015).

Table 1.1: Up-to-date summary of the most common inclusion and exclusion criteria for

intravenous thrombolysis

Inclusion criteria:	
< 3 h from symptom onset	
• Age ≥ 18 years	
• Acute stroke with clear symptomatology (mild to severe and disabling symptoms)	
3 - 4.5 h	
• Age ≤ 80 years	
No history of diabetes or prior stroke	
• NIHSS score ≤ 25	
Not on oral anticoagulants	
• Imaging reports that the injury is not greater than one-third of the MCA territory	
Exclusion criteria	
Intracranial haemorrhage in CT or MRI	
Brain CT with clear hypo-attenuation	
Prior ischaemia within 3 months	
Intracranial or spinal surgery 3 months prior	
History of intracranial haemorrhage	
Symptomatology suggesting subarachnoid haemorrhage	
• Gastrointestinal bleeding event reported within the last 21 d	
• Platelets < 100.000 mm3	
• Treatment with low molecular weight heparin within the last 24 h	
• Warfarin and use of factor Xa inhibitors	
Suspicion of infective endocarditis	
Known or suspected aortic dissection	
Intra-axial intracranial neoplasm	
• Unruptured or unsecured aneurysm	
• If MRI is available: high burden of cerebral micro-bleeds	

Adapted from (Powers et al., 2019)

1.3.2.2. Mechanical Thrombectomy

Mechanical thrombectomy is an endovascular technique adapted from cardiovascular procedures that has been successfully used in the removal of an embolus from brain arteries. This is a novel procedure based on stent and clot retrievers commonly used in the cardiovascular field (Meyers et al., 2011; Smith and Furlan, 2018). The procedure has expanded the treatment options available for recanalisation, especially for those patients with large brain vessel occlusions. The American Heart Association recently presented guidelines intended to expand the use of endovascular procedures in stroke patients (Powers et al., 2019).

A meta-analysis of multi-centre clinical trials found that endovascular procedures

improved neurological outcomes and 90-day survivability after stroke without increasing the risk of haemorrhagic transformation when compared to tPA or standard of care (Badhiwala et al., 2015). Furthermore, recent clinical trials have evaluated the potential use of mechanical revascularisation in combination with tPA and other neuroprotectants with the aims of improving life expectancy, degree of disability and functional independence (Badhiwala et al., 2015; Fischer et al., 2017; Yang, Yang and Chen, 2019). The meta-analysis of the small proof of concept trial shows no difference between the tPA alone and tPA in combination with mechanical thrombectomy, and yet a larger randomised control clinical trial might be necessary (Phan et al., 2017). Neuroprotectants, like K3A-APC (a recombinant variant of human activated protein C), have been found promising for the reduction of haemorrhagic transformation (Lyden et al., 2019), and others, like fingolimod, have been proposed for clinical trial evaluation in combination with mechanical thrombectomy (NCT04718064 - Revascularization Pretreated With Fingolimod in Acute Stroke - REPAIR FAST).

1.3.2.3. Other Available Treatments

There are additional treatment options for patients that can be used in conjunction or independently for recanalisation. Prolonged treatment with anti-platelets, i.e., aspirin, is recommended for all patients within 24-48 h after onset of symptoms, but not as a replacement for tPA in eligible patients. For patients that receive tPA, aspirin should be initiated 24 h after infusion. Anticoagulant usage is not a well-established treatment following an ischaemic stroke, and more research is necessary to establish the safety and use of thrombin inhibitors at the acute and subacute treatment phases (Powers et al., 2019). Lastly, acute and chronic blood pressure management after stroke is necessary for the prevention of repeat strokes.

1.2.3. Haemorrhagic Stroke Treatment

Unlike ischaemic stroke, haemorrhagic stroke does not have a specific pharmacological treatment that has been proven effective. Clinical trials are underway evaluating anti-inflammatory drugs and drugs promoting haematoma and iron clearance (Wilkinson et al., 2017). The cell surface marker CD47, a "do not eat me" marker, can be blocked with an antibody and in both mice, and aged rats, it has led to effective and accelerated haematoma clearance (Jing et al., 2019; Tao et al., 2019). Other work has focused on targeting the immune system with the development of treatments targeting Sphingosine-1-Phosphate receptors, Toll like receptor 4 and Cyclooxygenase 2 to reduce inflammation and manage cell infiltration (Shao et al., 2019).

High blood pressure and anticoagulant prescriptions are two of the major causes of haemorrhagic stroke; thus, the focus of the current standard of care is to control their effects after the stroke. The treatment course involves the medical management of blood pressure and coagulopathies to control the volume and limit the expansion of the haematoma. It is recommended that systolic blood pressure values be lowered to values equal to or below 130-140 mmHg within an hour of admission to prevent adverse events (Hostettler, Seiffge and Werring, 2019). Traditional methods for counteracting the anticoagulant therapies with platelet transfusions have shown negative effects in various clinical trials, and newer therapeutic agents are being evaluated to reverse the effects of both direct oral anticoagulants and vitamin K antagonists (for review, see (Kuramatsu, Sembill and Huttner, 2019)).

International Surgical Trial in Intracerebral Haemorrhage (STICH, STICH II) evaluated open skull surgery to remove the haematoma in two clinical trials that failed to show benefits when compared to conservative (non-surgical) treatments (Wilkinson et al., 2017). Recommended surgical or endovascular evacuation of the haematoma for some patients depends on the size and location of the haematoma (Keep, Hua and Xi, 2012; Luzzi et al., 2019). Patients with a moderate to large haematoma undergoing surgical evacuation show a reduction in mortality compared to non-surgical controls (Hegde, Menon and Kumar, 2019). However, more conservative stroke management recommends surgery only for patients with a haemorrhage smaller than 30 mL in volume, and there are still debates on what is the best timing for any surgical procedure (Luzzi et al., 2019). Less invasive catheter based procedures to reduce the size of the haematoma have been clinically evaluated in several trials. However, the recent report from the Minimally Invasive Surgery Plus Rt-PA for ICH Evacuation Phase III (MISTIE-III) clinical trial did not show improved functional outcomes though there were trends for reduced mortality at 365 d in the experimental arm compared to standard of care (Hanley et al., 2019).

1.4. Preclinical Stroke Research

Basic stroke research has been evaluating the cellular and molecular mechanisms of stroke for decades; preclinical research has focused on identifying potential drugs for clinical use. Basic stroke research has elucidated the cascade of events following the reduction in CBF in ischaemic models ranging from global to focal ischaemia. The knowledge gained about the mechanisms involved in stroke pathology has allowed for the development of drug targets that modify different injury pathways (Dirnagl and Endres, 2014). Neuro- and cytoprotection have been targeted with anti-inflammatory drugs, antioxidants, thrombolytics, stimulants, calcium and excitotoxicity modulating drugs (O'Collins et al., 2006). However, all of the time and money invested in preclinical and clinical studies have failed to produce clinically effective drugs; there have been no new pharmaceuticals specifically approved for the acute treatment of stroke since tPA was approved in 1995 (Hankey, 2017; National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group, 1995).

Many drugs with different modes of action, have been tested in preclinical studies and clinical trials. Glucocorticoids, mineralocorticoids, and cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors have been evaluated for their anti-inflammatory effects and potential benefits on stroke, and even though some produced promising effects in pilot studies (preclinical and clinical), they have all failed in large randomised controlled clinical trials (O'Collins et al., 2006). The interest in anti-inflammatory drugs remains; however, it is now focused on immunomodulatory drugs that affect lymphocytes populations and immunoreactivity after stroke. Immunomodulators as anti-inflammatory drugs have shown promise in preclinical research, and some are in the early stages of clinical trials for the treatment of stroke, including fingolimod, because they limit the immune cell infiltration and reactivity after cell death in stroke (Malone et al., 2019).

Clinical trials have been impacted by repeated failures to translate potential drugs from the laboratory into the clinic, leading to a translational gap that consequently exposed a reproducibility crisis. O'Collins and colleagues evaluated the drugs selected for clinical trials and examined which drugs were taken forward to clinical trials based on 1,026 drugs tested in animals (O'Collins et al., 2006). Their findings showed that the drugs chosen for clinical testing (114) did not show more robust efficacy in animal studies than the drugs that were not selected for clinical studies (912). This observation led the authors to question whether the best drugs are being selected for clinical trials (O'Collins et al., 2006; Dirnagl, 2006; Ioannidis, 2017).

The effect of publication bias and small sample sizes are other aspects related to the quality and reproducibility of research that have been identified through a meta-analysis of preclinical studies of drugs that failed in clinical trials. The publication bias favours positive findings, and this is supported by the near absence of published studies showing no-effect or negative findings, which leads to the overestimation of drug efficacy (Sena et al., 2010). Furthermore, the small sample sizes frequently used in basic and preclinical studies reduce the likelihood that a statistically significant finding represents the true effect (Button et al., 2013; Tsilidis et al., 2013). All of these factors highlight the possibility that a proportion of published work might be false positives and that drugs selected for clinical trials are bound to fail (Ioannidis, 2005).

Even though much continues to be said about the reproducibility crisis, only a few researchers have adopted methodologies that reduce the effect of internal and external bias in their work (Tsilidis et al., 2013). A study performed to evaluate the quality and extent of methodological rigour improvement in cardiovascular studies over the past decade revealed that only 1 in 5 articles reported randomisation, a third blinding and about 2% performed sample size estimations (Ramirez et al., 2017).

The external validity and reproducibility of the studies also rely on the selection of the animal models, first by modelling the disease with different methods of causing stroke and modelling underlying comorbidities along with stroke to closely mimic the human population that suffer from strokes (Sommer, 2017). However, comorbidities commonly associated with stroke patients are rarely used when characterising promising drugs, a factor that could improve the translatability of the experimental results (Kleinschnitz, Fluri and Schuhmann, 2015; Cho and Yang, 2018).

As part of the effort to bridge the translational gap, several sets of guidelines have been proposed by expert groups to promote well-designed rigorous research. The ultimate goal of the guidelines is to overcome the reproducibility crisis and identify the best drugs for clinical evaluation in a more robust manner. Conducting research studies with rigour involves following expert guidelines as well as adhering to general principles of preclinical study design, and differentiating between exploratory and confirmatory studies (Macleod and Mohan, 2019; Dirnagl, 2019). One part of the recommendation involves the pre-registration of the study and the methods of analysis intending to reduce p-hacking and data manipulations to achieve significant finding that is driven by the publication bias in favour of positive findings (Ioannidis et al., 2014; Nosek et al., 2018).

1.4.1. Stroke Research Guidelines

Several guidelines have been introduced that are specific to the field of neuroscience that are aimed at improving the reproducibility crisis (Baker, 2016; Voelkl and Würbel, 2016). Improving reproducibility is part of efforts to bridge the translational gap in stroke research. These guidelines provide a checklist for preclinical researchers to ensure that the work performed is going to support clinical trials and help meet the needs of the affected population.

1.4.1.1. STAIR Guidelines

The Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR) gathered experts with academic and industry backgrounds to propose the first set of guidelines for the preclinical characterisation of drugs intended for stroke treatment. The guidelines aimed to improve the quality of the preclinical research in order for clinical trials to be based on results from rigorously conducted studies (Table 1.2) (Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 1999). The goal was to reduce internal bias by encouraging researchers to perform blinded and randomised studies and to characterise an optimal dose and treatment window. These guidelines gave researchers a benchmark for designing studies for the characterisation of new drugs for clinical use.

Table 1.2: STAIR preclinical guidelines 1999

- 1. Adequate dose-response curve
- 2. Define the time window in a well-characterised model
- 3. Blinded, physiologically controlled reproducible studies
- 4. Histological and functional outcomes assessed acutely and long-term
- 5. Initial rodent studies, then consider gyrencephalic species
- 6. Permanent occlusion, then transient in most cases

(Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 1999)

However, this first set of guidelines did not appear to have solved the translation gap. NXY-059, a free radical spin trap agent with neuroprotective properties, had been evaluated in preclinical studies and scored highly in the STAIR checklist defined from the 1999 guidelines in table 1.2 (O'Collins et al., 2006; Macleod et al., 2008; Sutherland et al., 2012). However, the Stroke–Acute Ischaemic NXY Treatment II (SAINT II), a

larger follow-up study to the SAINT I clinical trial, found NXY-059 to be ineffective for the treatment of ischaemic stroke (Lees et al., 2006; Shuaib et al., 2007). The failure of NXY-059 came as a surprise because it had been evaluated in several preclinical studies, and it was considered a promising drug based. After the failure of the SAINT II trial, a refined set of guidelines for preclinical research were proposed in the 2009 STAIR meeting (Shuaib et al., 2007; Fisher et al., 2009).

The updated guidelines aimed to address several shortcomings identified through systematic reviews and meta-analyses of several preclinically evaluated drugs that, like NXY-059, had failed in clinical trials in the decade since the original recommendations (Fisher et al., 2009). The guidelines expanded on the first set by being more specific on the characterisation requirements for drugs in preclinical studies prior to advancing to them into clinical trials (Table 1.3), and there was an additional set of recommendations for good scientific inquiry (Table 1.4) to aid in the designing of the experiments and standardisation across research laboratories.

In 2017, the most recent STAIR meeting shifted the focus of stroke research towards cytoprotective therapies, i.e. therapies treating all cells and not only neurones; and towards preclinical studies mimicking endovascular recanalisation. The shift involves recommendations for the use of the filament stroke model because it achieves reperfusion with similar complications to those experienced in endovascular procedures and away from permanent occlusions (Savitz et al., 2019). Furthermore, there is an increased interest in using larger animal models that could undergo endovascular procedures in combination with thrombolytics and other novel therapeutics.

Table 1.3: Updated STAIR preclinical guidelines 2009

2. Define the time window in a well-characterised model: optimal treatment window to salvage penumbral tissue

3. Relevant outcome measures: evaluation of multiple endpoints, including both histological and behavioural outcomes, as well as delayed survival measures (2 - 3 weeks after stroke)

4. Basic physiological monitoring: monitoring of cerebral blood flow in the occlusion area, as well as blood pressure, gasses, glucose and body temperature.

5. Efficacy evaluated in multiple species: rodent and rabbit studies followed by cats or primates as a second species

6. Reproducibility evaluation: positive results from one laboratory need to be replicated in at least one independent laboratory.

7. Follow the Recommendation for good scientific enquiry (Table 1.4)

(Fisher et al., 2009)

^{1.} Adequate dose-response curve: the minimum and maximum tolerated dose should be defined, as well as the optimal tissue concentration target.

Sample size	Describe how the size of the experiment was planned. If a sample size
Sample size	Describe now the size of the experiment was planned. If a sample size
calculation	calculation was performed, including the expected difference between
	groups, the expected variance, the planned analysis method, the desired
	statistical power, and the sample size thus calculated.
Inclusion and	If a pre-specified lesion size is required for inclusion, then this should
exclusion criteria	be detailed, as well as the corresponding exclusion criteria.
Randomisation	Describe the method by which animals were allocated to experimental groups.
Allocation	Concealed allocation if the investigator responsible for the induction of
Allocation	ischaemia and care of experimental animals has no knowledge of the
conceannent	experimental group to which an animal belongs.
Reporting of animals excluded from analysis	All randomised animals (both overall and by treatment group) should be accounted for in the data presented.
	The assessment of outcome is blinded if the investigator responsible
Blinded assessment	for measuring infarct volume, scoring neurobehavioural outcome or
of outcome	determining any other outcome measures has no knowledge of the
	experimental group to which an animal belongs.
Reporting potential conflicts of interest and study funding	Any relationship that could be perceived to introduce a potential
	conflict of interest, or the absence of such a relationship, should be
	disclosed in an acknowledgements section, along with information on
	study funding and, for instance, supply of drugs or equipment.

Table 1.4: Recommendations for ensuring good scientific inquiry

(Fisher et al., 2009)

Similar to the STAIR roundtable, clinicians and researchers working on haemorrhagic stroke gathered to form the Haemorrhagic Stroke Academia and Industry (HEADS) roundtable in efforts to address the translational gap in haemorrhagic stroke research. This new organisation is focusing on the unmet needs and challenges that are specific to haemorrhagic stroke, and in their first meeting, produced guidelines for basic, translational, and clinical research, thus establishing a guided path for novel treatments being developed for ICH (The Haemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants et al., 2018a; b).

Following the neutral results of several ICH clinical trials published after the first meeting, the HEADS met again to refine the recommendation with a focus on quality and rigour in study design (The Haemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants et al., 2020). The updated HEADS guidelines recommend that drugs be evaluated for efficacy and safety, and that the results be replicated. The guidelines also recommend the use of multiple models of ICH and the inclusion of animals of different ages, sexes, strains and species (The Haemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants et al., 2018a).
1.4.1.2. Other Guidelines

As mentioned previously, the reproducibility crisis is not unique to stroke and neuroscience research; it is a problem of animal research in general. Because the problem is not limited to the rigour of the studies, but they are also poorly reported, additional guidelines have been proposed to increase both the quality of the reporting and the quality of the research performed.

The ARRIVE guidelines (Animals in Research: Reporting In Vivo Experiments) were proposed to improve the quality of all research reporting of bioscience and preclinical research (Kilkenny et al., 2010). The guidelines aim to improve the information shared in manuscripts in order to communicate the quality and reliability of the work and provide others with information that would allow for study replication. Even though the guidelines have been widely endorsed, the quality of the reporting and level has not been enough (Leung et al., 2018). The National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research (NC3Rs) revised the original guidelines and divided them into "the essential 10" and "the recommended set" (Sert et al., 2020). The renewed effort has the goal of facilitating and increasing adherence to the guidelines because setbacks and failures in animal research have been blamed on poor experimental design and lack of reproducibility. Thus, these guidelines are intended to be used for experimental design and manuscript preparation.

The IMPROVE Guidelines (Ischaemia Models: Procedural Refinements of In-Vivo Experiments) were also proposed by the NC3Rs in conjunction with stroke research experts from academic and industry backgrounds. These guidelines provide incremental fine-tuning of all aspects of care and experimental procedure for stroke modelling (Sert et al., 2017). Their goal is to foster the translational success of pharmacological agents to treat stroke. The guidelines are useful for both established and novice researchers working with rodent stroke models as they help standardise procedures between laboratories and institutions. The use of standard techniques will enhance reproducibility and the possibility of translating the best treatments into the clinic (Ferreira et al., 2020; Eggel and Würbel, 2020).

1.4.1.4. Preclinical Trials

The increased focus on improving the quality of preclinical research led to the proposal and development of the concept of preclinical trials (Bath, Macleod and Green, 2009; Dirnagl and Fisher, 2012). Preclinical trials are designed based on clinical trial methodology to determine the efficacy of a drug in animal models, and they can include a multicentre approach as part of the drug development process (Mergenthaler and Meisel, 2012). The preclinical studies would follow clinical trials parameters to increase the complexity and diversity of animal populations evaluated with the ultimate goal of informing the design of a randomised clinical trial (Fig. 1.3) (Macleod et al., 2008; Sena et al., 2007)

The preclinical trials focus on evaluating drug toxicity, safety, and efficacy and include different animal populations (age, sex, strain and comorbidities). Preclinical studies can inform the predictive value of clinical trials based on extensive and high quality research (Boltze et al., 2016). This study design is also intended to solve the reproducibility crisis because it can address internal and external validities of experimental studies. Internal validity refers to internal bias and whether they are controlled for, i.e., randomisation, blinding, and allocation concealment. The external validity of an experiment refers to how applicable the findings are to the real world, addressed by modelling stroke in aged animals, animals with comorbidities, and evaluation of drug interactions (Dirnagl, 2019; Eggel and Würbel, 2020)



Figure 1.3: "Preclinical trial phases of translational stroke" Increasing complexity of studies and drug characterisation leading to the design and execution of preclinical studies with mixed populations of animals encompassing age, sex and comorbidities with the ultimate goal of designing clinical trials. Reproduced from (Mergenthaler and Meisel, 2012) under Creative Commons Licence 3.0.

Preclinical trials have been carried out for interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) and Anti-CD49d, two drugs identified through systematic reviews and meta-analyses to be candidates for further preclinical characterisation and clinical studies. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist was evaluated and found successful for the treatment of stroke in a cross-laboratory preclinical study (Maysami et al., 2015b). These results were followed by a randomised controlled phase II clinical trial, SCIL-STROKE (Subcutaneous Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist in Ischaemic Stroke); however, it only identified a reduction in plasma inflammatory markers without an effect on the modified Rankin scale, a measure of the degree of disability or dependence in day-to-day activities (Smith et al., 2018).

The multicentre preclinical randomised controlled trial (pRCT) for anti-CD49d (Natalizumab) was performed after the positive outcomes of the ACTION Phase II clinical trial (Elkins et al., 2017). However, the pRCT observed conflicting results in the lesion size measurements, with a lesion size reduction in the permanent ischaemic model and no effect in the transient ischaemic model (filament) (Llovera et al., 2015). Notwithstanding, two clinical trials were performed after these conflicting and inconsistent preclinical results were published, the first and smaller trial showed some efficacy, and the second larger trial failed (Elkins et al., 2017; Elkind et al., 2020). A follow-up preclinical study using a thromboembolic stroke model found no lasting improvements in lesion size or grip strength in mice treated with anti-CD49d, matching

the clinical trial results (Drieu et al., 2019).

Preclinical trials and rigorously designed animal experiments are fundamental to the advancement of any drug into the clinic. The examples presented here evaluated different animal strains and sexes, as well as different stroke models, producing results that put in doubt the efficacy of the drugs, and yet they were tested in clinical trials that eventually failed. Lastly, the animal studies lacked animals with comorbidities, thus limiting the external validity and predictive value of these studies because most individuals in the clinical trials had one or more comorbidities.

1.4.2. Animal Models of Stroke

Animal models of stroke have been developed in rodents, dogs, pigs, and non-human primates, to name a few species. The use of stroke models has helped in the understanding of major pathways involved in the pathological cascade of events following stroke (Howells et al., 2010). Knowledge of the pathophysiological cascade has allowed the evaluation of targeted drugs for disrupting the cascade of events in an effort to identify novel drug treatments (Dirnagl and Endres, 2014).

Each method for modelling stroke has its advantages and disadvantages when it comes to mimicking human strokes, which makes the selection of the model a critical step in the study design (Macrae, 2011). There are several methods of inducing different types of cerebral ischaemia. Strokes can be global, with a critical reduction of cerebral blood flow to the whole brain, or focal, with a reduction of blood flow to a specific area of the brain (Traystman, 2003). There are also models of haemorrhagic strokes in which blood vessels are disrupted with collagenase, or blood is injected directly into the brain (MacLellan et al., 2010). The model selected for a study affects the translation potential of the findings into humans (Braeuninger and Kleinschnitz, 2009). An ischaemic and a haemorrhagic stroke model were selected for characterising the effect of fingolimod.

1.4.2.1. Ischaemic Stroke Models

The two common surgical approaches to model ischaemic stroke involve accessing the middle cerebral artery (MCA) through the internal carotid artery (proximal occlusion) or directly occluding the MCA either through the skull or by craniotomy (distal occlusion) (Fig. 1.4). Inducing a stroke through the internal carotid artery can be achieved with a filament or by injection of preformed clots. The filament model was first developed in rats; it produces large strokes (37% of the brain) that vary in size depending on the duration of the occlusion or whether the occlusion is transient or permanent (Longa et al., 1989).

Larger infarcts are easier to measure. This facilitates the detection of changes in lesion size associated with treatment. However, the filament model has a high mortality rate that correlates with the duration of the occlusion. The vessel walls can be damaged when introducing and withdrawing the filament, and the permanent ligation of the carotid artery causes an overall reduction of blood flow to the brain, limiting the usage of the model in long-term studies (Hossmann, 2011; Howells et al., 2010). The injection of preformed clots was developed in dogs and then adapted to rats (Kudo et al., 1982). The clots can occlude MCA and other arterial and capillary branches, causing large diffuse strokes. However, one limitation is that this model has high variability in lesion size between animals, hindering reproducibility (Howells et al., 2010).



Figure 1.4: Diagrams depicting different methods for inducing stroke in rodents by occluding the middle cerebral artery (MCA). The top left image shows the brain with the MCA territory in pink. The other images show the location of the MCA occlusion and the different methods of occlusion. Reproduced from (Macrae, 2011) under permission from John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Distal focal ischaemias are lesions that are mostly limited to the brain cortex, and they

are caused by the occlusion of the distal parts of the MCA (Fig. 1.4). There are several physical methods for inducing a permanent or transient focal ischaemia using sutures or clips to cause the occlusion. Other methods to cause focal ischaemia use electrocoagulation, endothelin injection or photochemicals (i.e., rose bengal) to only cause permanent occlusions (Howells et al., 2010; Macrae, 2011; Bacigaluppi, Comi and Hermann, 2010). These methods produce cortical injuries with comparable size and location that are all highly reproducible with a low mortality rate. However, the disadvantages of these methods are in part associated with the fact that these methods do not resemble humans because the occlusion does not respond to recanalisation treatment. However, the impact of this shortcoming is limited by the fact that a large proportion of the population does not reperfuse or does not receive tPA treatment (Sommer, 2017). Another limitation specific to the photo-thrombotic model is that this method does not produce a salvageable penumbra.

A novel procedure originally described by Orset et al. in 2007 produces a thromboembolic MCA occlusion by injecting thrombin into a distal branch of the MCA to create a clot in situ. The model mimics the human ischaemic stroke caused by a clot located in the middle cerebral artery (MCA) that can be treated with tPA to produce reperfusion. The thromboembolic MCA occlusion (tMCAo) model has been characterised and used by others after the original publication (Campos et al., 2013; Ansar et al., 2014; Correa-Paz, 2019) and a meta-analysis of its usage found that early (<3 h) tPA administration produced favourable results, as opposed to late (>3 h) administration that produces haemorrhagic transformation, an effect that can be counteracted with fingolimod treatment (Campos et al., 2013; Salas-Perdomo et al., 2019). Based on these reports, we initially selected this model to evaluate the effects of fingolimod in the presence or absence of recanalisation following tPA treatment, adding to the external validity and translatability of the results.

1.4.2.2. Intracerebral Haemorrhage models

There are two commonly used methods for modelling haemorrhagic stroke: a collagenase-based method in which the blood vessels are disrupted by an enzymatic weakening of the vessel wall and a blood injection, wherein a volume of blood is injected into the brain parenchyma. The limitation of blood injection is that it requires blood collected from a donor mouse or from the femoral artery of the same mouse. Autologous

blood requires the ligation of the femoral artery, a step that has been reported to affect behavioural test results (Ma et al., 2011). The injection of blood can also lead to increased intracranial pressure causing mass effect and a high chance of reflux up the needle tract (Manaenko et al., 2011). On the other hand, the collagenase model simply disrupts blood vessels with the limitation that the enzyme can have unintended effects (Keep, Hua and Xi, 2012). The collagenase method was selected for the studies herein because it provides a consistent injury, and it can mimic the haematoma expansion that humans experience from continuous bleeding.

1.4.2.3. Animal Models of Comorbidities

Comorbidities are modifiable and non-modifiable conditions affecting many patients presenting with a stroke. Most patients that present with stroke range between 50-80 years old and have modifiable comorbidities; the most commonly associated with stroke are dyslipidaemia, hyperglycaemia, and high blood pressure. Modifiable comorbidities can be managed with drugs and behaviour modifications, such as exercise, diet and drugs to reduce the risk of stroke, and other cardiovascular diseases. On the other hand, age is an example of a non-modifiable comorbidity.

As part of the effort to improve the quality of preclinical stroke research, increasing emphasis is being placed on the use of animals with comorbidities in studies evaluating the effect of a drug on stroke (Sommer, 2017; Dirnagl, 2006; Ergul et al., 2016; Dirnagl et al., 2018). Testing in animals with comorbidities becomes critical as the positive evidence for a drug accumulates, and the drug is being considered for translation into the clinic (Yuan et al., 2012; Buga, Napoli and Popa-Wagner, 2013). Failure to do so may underlie the reproducibility crisis and the low predictive value of preclinical studies for the success of clinical trials (O'Collins et al., 2006; McCann and Lawrence, 2020).

The presence of comorbidities tends to exacerbate stroke pathology both in rodents and humans (Sommer, 2017; Cho and Yang, 2018; Macleod et al., 2008), and the fact that most failed clinical trials used drugs that were not evaluated in preclinical studies with comorbid models is reported as a finding in a recent meta-analysis evaluating possible factors contributing to clinical trial failure. This study found that preclinical studies involving comorbidities show neutral results compared to studies with healthy animals (Schmidt-Pogoda et al., 2020). Thus, the evaluation of drugs in animals with comorbidities prior to translation might limit unnecessary risk to patients, and the time and money invested in drugs that are bound to fail.

Comorbidities are associated with a specific inflammatory profile unique to each condition that could be the factors that exacerbate stroke pathophysiology (Przykaza, 2021). By using comorbid mice, we can evaluate how a drug behaves in these pathological conditions and inform the feasibility and likelihood of translation of a drug. At the time of the designing of these studies, fingolimod had not been evaluated in any comorbid model, and since then, only one study has done so. A study evaluating the intersection of diabetes, stroke and fingolimod treatment found that fingolimod exacerbated oedema while reducing inflammation (Li et al., 2020)

The use of aged mice would mimic the age of stroke onset in humans would add to the understanding of the pathophysiology and the pharmacological responses after stroke (Buga, Napoli and Popa-Wagner, 2013; Flurkey, Currer and Harrison, 2007; Dutta and Sengupta, 2016). Additionally, modelling hyperlipidaemia as a modifiable comorbidity by feeding a high-fat diet to ApoE-/-mice combines the genetic background and diet that accelerates the development of hypercholesterolemia and the accumulation of the atherosclerotic plaques in the aorta (Nakashima et al., 1993; Maganto-Garcia, Tarrio and Lichtman, 2012). Both of these models have an underlying inflammatory state that could also be modulated by fingolimod treatment.

1.5. Fingolimod

Fingolimod (FTY720; Gilenya [®]) is an immunosuppressive drug derived from the naturally occurring molecule myriocin and approved for the treatment of multiple sclerosis (Adachi et al., 1995). Fingolimod is rapidly phosphorylated by sphingosine kinase 2, one of the two sphingosine kinases (SPHK1 & SPHK2), to become the structural analogue of the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) (Blondeau et al., 2007; Wacker, Park and Gidday, 2009; Chun and Hartung, 2010). The phosphorylated form of fingolimod binds to sphingosine receptor 1 (S1P1), S1P3, S1P4 and S1P5 but not S1P2 (Kim et al., 2015). S1P receptors are a family of G-protein coupled receptors that are expressed throughout the body and have effects that are specific to the tissue in which it is expressed (O'Sullivan and Dev, 2017).



Figure 1.5: Chemical structure of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate and structural analogues that bind selectively to S1P receptors.

Orally administered fingolimod reaches peak concentrations of 1.1 ng/mL 12 h after administration, conversely the peak concentrations of the active fingolimod-phosphate were 1.6 to 2.8 ng/mL at 6 to 8 h after dosing (Kovarik et al., 2007). The drug is rapidly

absorbed and distributed mostly to the lymphoid tissue where it accumulates, resulting in a ten times higher concentration in lymphoid tissues than in blood (Sensken, Bode and Gräler, 2008). The large pool of fingolimod present in the lymphoid tissue is phosphorylated locally by SPHK2, where it then exerts its function of blocking the egress of lymphocytes from the lymph nodes by functioning as a functional antagonist of the S1P1 receptor (Sensken, Bode and Gräler, 2008). Shortly after the first dose, some patients experience a drop in blood pressure and heart rate, being the most common side effect associated with fingolimod treatment. Fingolimod has a half-life in humans of 6-9 d, independent of the number of doses, and after one to two months, lymphocyte levels return to normal (David, Kovarik and Schmouder, 2012). The elimination of fingolimodphosphate happens via dephosphorylation back to fingolimod, fingolimod is eliminated by oxidative processes and excreted via urine, and a small fraction is excreted in faeces (Meno-Tetang et al., 2006; Zollinger et al., 2011; FDA, n.d.).

Even though fingolimod was the first drug approved for multiple sclerosis treatment, more recently, a second generation of S1P modulators has been approved to treat other types of multiple sclerosis (Park and Im, 2017). The newer drugs were developed to have a shorter half-life, higher specificity to S1P1 receptor binding and not bind to the S1P3 receptor, the receptor commonly expressed in the cardiovascular system and thought to be the cause of the bradycardia observed after the first dose of fingolimod. Siponimod (BAF312) binds to S1P1 and S1P5 receptors, and it does not require phosphorylation; however, the lack of binding to the S1P3 receptor did not eliminate bradycardia as a side effect (O'Sullivan et al., 2016; Cohan et al., 2022). Siponimod. was approved for the treatment of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (Kipp, 2020).

Ozanimod (RPC1063) is another derivative of fingolimod that binds to S1P1 and S1P5 without the need for phosphorylation in order to exert its effects, and it has been approved for the treatment of relapsing forms of MS and moderate to severe ulcerative colitis (Scott et al., 2016). Ozanimod has a wide distribution with slow absorption, and it has a relatively short half-life of 19 h. These characteristics have been found to decrease the cardiovascular effects associated with the first dose of S1P1 modulators (Scott et al., 2016; Sandborn et al., 2016). Ponesimod (ACT-128800) is a selective S1P1 receptors agonist that has rapid absorption and a short half-life (30 h) that, with rapid elimination, allows for the lymphocyte counts to return to baseline one week after stopping treatment (Dash, Rais and Srinivas, 2018; Ruggieri, Quartuccio and Prosperini, 2022). Lastly, amiselimod (MT1303) is a selective S1P1 modulator that lacks the cardiovascular side effects associated with other S1P1 modulators, but it is no longer being evaluated for MS,

yet there is continued research in the inflammatory bowel disease and colitis fields (Kappos et al., 2016; Shimano et al., 2019).



Figure 1.6: Schematic summary of S1P receptor signalling pathways through different G proteins and the therapeutics that target each receptor. Reproduced from (Bravo et al., 2022) under Creative Commons Licence 4.0.

The S1P receptors are five G protein-coupled receptors expressed throughout the body, most notably in the cardiovascular, immune and nervous systems, with unique functions in each tissue (Fig. 1.6) (Brinkmann, 2007; Obinata and Hla, 2011). The use of global S1P1 knockout mice has demonstrated that S1P1 receptors are involved in the maturation of blood vessels and neurogenesis, and S1P2 and S1P3 receptors have redundant or supportive roles in the development of the blood vessels (Obinata and Hla, 2011; Brinkmann et al., 2010). S1P3 is involved in the regulation of myocardial perfusion and vasodilation, and it is considered pro-inflammatory. Lastly, S1P4 and S1P5 mediate the immunosuppressive effects of S1P in T cells, where they are mostly expressed (Obinata and Hla, 2011).

Fingolimod acts as a full agonist of S1P1, S1P4 and S1P5, and it is a partial agonist for S1P3 receptors (Fig. 1.6). Furthermore, fingolimod acts as a functional antagonist at S1P1 receptors expressed on T cells. Fingolimod causes the internalisation of the S1P1 receptor leading to the sequestration of lymphocytes in lymph nodes, the mechanism that makes fingolimod an immunomodulator and anti-inflammatory agent (Matloubian et al., 2004). The binding and activation of the S1P1 receptor is highly potent (Kd=0.3 nM) and with higher efficacy than S1P. Fingolimod phosphate is a functional antagonist of the S1P1 receptor on lymphocytes causing the internalisation and degradation of the receptor due to overactivation (Matloubian et al., 2004; Arnon et al., 2011).

Although the effects on S1P1 have been more extensively investigated, the effects on S1P3, S1P4 and S1P5 also have the potential to influence recovery after stroke. In the central nervous system, sphingosine receptors (S1P1, S1P3, and S1P5) are expressed on astrocytes, neurones, microglia and oligodendrocytes, suggesting that brain cells can be targeted for modulation with fingolimod, where it can exert additional effects in stroke recovery (Fig. 1.7) (O'Sullivan and Dev, 2017). Fingolimod also acts directly in the brain by reducing reactive astrogliosis and scar formation (Brunkhorst et al., 2013). Furthermore, the expression of S1P receptors on lymphocytes varies depending on the cell type and maturation stage, and the effect of S1P receptor activation produces pro or anti-inflammatory effects depending on the cells (Fig. 1.6) (Bravo et al., 2022).



Figure 1.7: S1P receptor family expression in central nervous system cells. All cells have S1P1, and the others are not consistently expressed in the cells. Copyright (O'Sullivan and Dev, 2017); reproduced under license authorisation.

The reduction of circulating lymphocytes limits the number of lymphocytes that can infiltrate into to CNS (Liesz et al., 2011; Rolland et al., 2013). This is facilitated by the inability of lymphocytes to egress from the lymph nodes after stimulation with fingolimod (Matloubian et al., 2004). Lymphocyte egress is normally mediated by S1P1 receptor

recognition and an S1P gradient (Brinkmann, 2007), and in the presence of S1P1 receptor modulators, the S1P1 receptor is internalised, and the lymphocytes can no longer exit the lymph node (Brinkmann, 2007). The ensuing lack of S1P receptors on the T cell surface from fingolimod treatment prevents lymphocytes from egressing the lymph nodes into the general circulation. The reduction in circulatory T cells prevents the recirculation of inflammatory T cell subtypes that have been associated with detrimental effects on multiple sclerosis and stroke (Weaver et al., 2006). The effect of fingolimod is measurable five days after the last dose by a lymphocyte count reduction (Malone et al., 2021).



Figure 1.8: The effect of fingolimod on brain cells by interaction with the S1P receptors. Reproduced under license authorisation. Copyright to (Groves, Kihara and Chun, 2013).

The reduction of circulating lymphocytes associated with the treatment with fingolimod led to the characterisation and study of its effects in the model of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) (Webb et al., 2004). EAE is a model of CNS inflammation that leads to demyelination and neurodegeneration similar to that observed in multiple sclerosis. Fingolimod treatment resulted in a sustained improvement of the clinical signs in a mouse model of EAE, thus prompting the clinical evaluation of fingolimod (Webb et al., 2004). Long-term treatment with fingolimod in mice and humans has led to remyelination of neuronal axons (Groves, Kihara and Chun, 2013). Other treatment effects associated with fingolimod have been identified with the use of other disease models, i.e., LPS-mediated lung injury, in which fingolimod reduced microvascular permeability and inflammation that is consistent with the observation that fingolimod prevents blood brain barrier breakdown after stroke (Fig. 1.8) (Campos et al.,

2013; Peng et al., 2004).

In stroke, one of the mechanisms of action associated with fingolimod is the modulation of infiltrating immune cells into the brain, which has been shown to reduce ischaemic lesions and behavioural outcomes. Furthermore, fingolimod has been found to protect the vascular unit and prevent the degradation of the tight junctions of the blood brain barrier (Foster et al., 2008; Pinheiro et al., 2016). Being that fingolimod is neuroprotective by protecting against excitotoxic cell death (Menna et al., 2013); and is neuroregenerative by increasing brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in models of Rest syndrome and Alzheimer's disease (Fukumoto et al., 2014), it is a promising agent for the treatment of stroke (Groves, Kihara and Chun, 2013; Hunter, Bowen and Reder, 2016).

1.5.1. Approved Clinical Use

Fingolimod was approved by the Federal Drug Administration in September 2010 for the treatment of relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis (Brinkmann et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2011), and the European Medicines Agency approved it the following year. Currently, the drug is approved for use in patients older than 10 years of age since the effectiveness in individuals 10-18 of age was recently confirmed in a phase 3 clinical trial comparing fingolimod with interferon beta-1a, another approved treatment for MS (Chitnis et al., 2018).

The first study that led to the approval of fingolimod for MS was a double-blinded proof of concept clinical trial where fingolimod treatment reduced the number of gadolinium-enhanced lesions and frequency of relapses in patients with multiple sclerosis compared to placebo controls (Kappos et al., 2006). These results were followed up by two phase III trials: the TRANSFORMS (Trial Assessing Injectable Interferon vs FTY720 Oral in RRMS) evaluated the effectiveness of 0.5 mg and 1.25 mg doses of fingolimod vs the standard of care (interferon beta-1a) (Cohen et al., 2010), and the FREEDOMS trial (FTY720 Research Evaluating Effects of Daily Oral therapy in Multiple Sclerosis) evaluated two fingolimod doses compared to placebo (Kappos et al., 2010). Both studies found fingolimod to be effective and significantly better than standard of care (interferon beta-1a) or placebo.

1.5.2. Fingolimod in Stroke Research

The commonalities between the pathophysiological processes behind MS and stroke are the reasons supporting attempts at using MS drugs for the treatment of stroke. This makes fingolimod a good candidate drug for the treatment of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke. Some of the early studies on ischaemic stroke found that S1P receptor modulation with fingolimod reduced stroke lesion size and improved neurological scores (Wacker, Park and Gidday, 2009; Shichita et al., 2009; Czech et al., 2009). These and other findings were later evaluated in two meta-analyses and systematic reviews to assess the effect size and possible benefit of fingolimod in a larger population (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012).

The first meta-analysis included 9 reports with a median quality score of 6, with the lowest score of 2; the scores were based on an 11 item quality assessment using the STAIR guidelines (Liu et al., 2012). Even though the overall finding is that fingolimod reduces lesion size and behavioural deficits, the low scores suggest that more studies of higher quality studies are necessary in order to support fingolimod for evaluation in large clinical trials. The lower overall quality score correlates with the fact that only two studies reported sample size calculations (Pfeilschifter et al., 2011b; a), and four studies reported some degree of randomisation (Czech et al., 2009; Pfeilschifter et al., 2011a; Wei, Zhiquiang and Li, 2011; Hasegawa et al., 2010). There were 194 animals assessed in the review, and none of them modelled a comorbid state like age, diabetes, hypertension or dyslipidaemia or included female mice.

The second meta-analysis published in 2020 included seventeen studies, nine publications previously summarised and eight newer articles published between 2009-2019 (Table 1.5) (Dang et al., 2020). The overall study quality remained low (median [IQR] 6 [4-8]). The median score did not change because the newer studies did not meet all of the CAMARADES checklist parameters, and only two new studies reported doing power calculations (4 total) (Brunkhorst et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2013). Ten publications reported a randomised study design, six reported blinded allocation, and nine reported blinded outcome assessment, but no study evaluated fingolimod in animals with comorbidities.

Authon (waan)	(1)	(2)	(2)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(0)	(0)	(10)	Total
Author (year)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(/)	(8)	(9)	(10)	Total
Czech (2009)	N	٦	٦	٦	N	N			N		7
Shichita (2009)	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark					3
Wacker (2009)	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark			\checkmark		4
Hasegawa (2010)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		6
Liesz (2011)	\checkmark	\checkmark									4
Pfeilschifter (2011A)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	9
Pfeilschifter (2011B)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		8
Ying (2011)	\checkmark	\checkmark									4
Wei (2011)	\checkmark		\checkmark								3
Brunkhorst (2013)	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		5
Cai (2013)	\checkmark		\checkmark					\checkmark		\checkmark	8
Campos (2013)	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark			\checkmark		4
Hasegawa (2013)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	7
Kraft (2013)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	8
Xu (2014)						\checkmark					1
Nazari (2016)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						\checkmark	\checkmark	6
Schuhmann (2016)	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	8
Studies fulfilling the following criteria: (1) published in a peer-reviewed journal; (2) stated that body temperature was controlled; (3) allocated to groups by randomisation; (4) experimenters were blinded to allocation; (5) estimation of outcome was blinded; (6) anaesthetic used during the study did not have intrinsic neuroprotective activity; (7) use of comorbid subjects (aged, diabetic or hypertensive); (8) reported that sample size was determined by power calculation; (9) complied with internationally recognised animal welfare regulations; (10)											

statement of potential conflicts of interest.

Table 1.5: Quality characteristics of included studies (CAMARADES checklist) (Dang et al., 2020)

The overall effect sizes for stroke lesion size and neurological function in the second meta-analyses were similar to the first, with an overall reduction in lesion size and an improvement in neurological function. So far, fingolimod research has only partially met the recommended STAIR guidelines, and more research is necessary to fully satisfy these recommendations (Table 1.6). In particular, the studies fail to use male and female mice, evaluate the effect of comorbidities on treatment response and use a small number of mice that are not the product of a power calculation and do not consistently control for internal bias by blinding and randomisation. The aim of our studies was to fill this gap.

STAIR recommendation	Description	Criteria met?	
Dose Response	Two or more doses have been studied in five publications	Partial	
Therapeutic Window	A few different time points of initiation of therapy have been evaluated	Partial	
Outcome measures	Multiple endpoints, with histological and behavioural outcomes, have been investigated. Most studies evaluated 1-3 d short term effects, and a few evaluated 7 d or more.		
Physiological	Intra-operative blood pressure, temperature, blood		
monitoring	glucose, and blood gases were measured.	D (1	
Multiple species	I reatment has been evaluated in rodents (mice and rats)	Partial	
Reproducibility	Two meta-analyses show positive results of FTY/20 that have been replicated in independent laboratories.	Yes	
Permanent occlusion	Only two used permanent occlusion models	Partial	
Randomisation, inclusion and exclusion criteria	Randomisation and defined exclusion criteria were reported in some studies.	Partial	
Power calculations	Sample size calculation not commonly reported	Partial	
Disclosure of potential conflict of interest	The information on whether a potential conflict of interest exists was given in some studies.	Partial	
Animals with comorbidities	One study evaluated diabetes as a comorbidity. Age, hypertension, and hypercholesterolemia have not been evaluated.	Partial	
Measurements of relevant biomarker	Diffusion/perfusion MRI or serum markers of tissue injury were not reported.	No	
Drug interaction studies	The interaction of fingolimod with thrombolysis (tPA) and other drugs has not been investigated thus far.	Partial	

Table 1.6: STAIR checklist for fingolimod stroke research.

Table adapted from (Liu et al., 2012) and (Dang et al., 2020).

Even though there are many studies evaluating the effect of fingolimod, there might be an overestimation of the benefits associated with fingolimod treatment. This can be inferred by the low number of neutral studies, the small sample sizes, and the lack of control affecting variables, thus, increasing the odds that the results are false (Button et al., 2013; Ioannidis, 2005, 2014). Furthermore, there is a preponderance of short-term studies that use the filament model, causing large strokes, and only a handful of studies that evaluate small distal ischaemic strokes that are limited to the brain cortex (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012). The filament stroke model was typically used in short-term studies because this model has a high mortality, although many of these studies do not report mortality rates that could confound the data and lead to an overestimation of the treatment effect (Sommer, 2017; Ström et al., 2013).

The evaluation of long-term outcomes using stroke models that are compatible with

long-term survival (i.e., focal ischaemia), along with different treatment durations, dictates the use of a distal model, as well as the evaluation of fingolimod treatment in stroke models with comorbidities (age, diabetes and hyperlipidaemia). In this context, it is worth mentioning that a recent study reported that fingolimod exacerbated oedema formation in the acute phase of stroke in diabetic mice (Li et al., 2020); yet its effect might be different in other comorbidities. Studies evaluating other drugs have observed different treatment effects between comorbidities (Przykaza, 2021; Popa-Wagner et al., 2020; Grisotto et al., 2021). For example, one study showed that mice fed a HFD for 2 months had significant metabolic alterations that caused increased infarct volume and haemorrhagic complications (Grisotto et al., 2021).

When it comes to ICH, as mentioned above, fingolimod has also been evaluated as a potential treatment for intracerebral haemorrhage in a few preclinical studies and one open label clinical study (Fu et al., 2014a). There are three preclinical studies evaluating fingolimod that showed both behavioural and histological improvements in short and long-term studies (Rolland et al., 2013, 2011; Lu et al., 2014). There are two studies evaluating siponimod, a more specific S1P1 modulator that was also shown to be beneficial in haemorrhagic stroke by also acting as an immunomodulator (Bobinger et al., 2019, 2020). The use of fingolimod and siponimod are all motivated by the need to reduce inflammation and modulate the immune response and infiltration into the brain after intracerebral haemorrhage. However, these studies are not sufficient to validate fingolimod for clinical trials, and more research is necessary.

More studies using models of ICH are required to evaluate different animal populations, including both male and female mice and animals with comorbidities, i.e., aged mice. There is also a need to evaluate a variety of treatment regimens in order to meet characterisation standards prior to clinical translation of fingolimod. As far as ICH studies, there is a lack of variety of animals strains, they predominantly have small group sizes, and the studies focus on short-term outcomes (Table 1.7), all of the shortcomings that are also common in ischaemic stroke studies.

Table 1.7: Comparison between the published research evaluating S1P1 modulation fo
ICH treatment.

	Roland et al, 2011	Rolland et al, 2013		Lu et al, 2014	Bobinger et al, 2019
Drug, dose, route	Fingolimod, 1mg/kg, i.p.	Fingolimod, 1mg/k	‹g, i.p.	Fingolimod, 0.5mg/kg, i.p.	 Siponimod, 0.3mg/kg, i.p. Siponimod, 3mg/kg, i.p.
Treatment regimen	1h after surgery	 ☐ 1h after surgery ☐ 1h after surgery and once daily on the following two days 		30 min after surgery and once daily on the following two days	 30 min after surgery 30 min after surgery and once daily on the following two days
Sex, strain, species	CD-1 mice (sex not reported)	Male CD-1 mice	Male Sprague- Dawley rats	Male CD1 mice	Male C57BL/6 mice
Model	Collagenase	 Collagenase Autologous blood 	Collagenase	Collagenase	Collagenase
Group sizes	5 or 10	7		9-10	10
Histological outcom	ie				
Edema	Wet-dry: p<0.05 (D1 and D3)	Wet-dry: p<0.05 (D1 and D3)		Wet-dry: p<0.05, D3 (n=5)	 MRI: p=0.02 at D3 (multiple dosage) Wet-dry: p=0.022, p=0.0013, p=0.04 for single and multiple 0.3, and multiple 3mg/kg doses
Atrophy/Tissue loss			p<0.05 at 10 weeks	p<0.01, D14	
Apoptotic cells				p<0.05, D3	
Behavioural outcom	ne				
Composite neuroscore	p<0.05 D1 and D3	p<0.05 D1 and D3		p<0.05, D3	No effect at D1 p=0.03 at D3
Wire hanging	p<0.05 (D1) n.s. (D3)	p<0.05 (D1)* n.s. (D3)*		p<0.05, D3 and D14	
Beam balance	p<0.05 (D1) n.s. (D3)	p<0.05 (D1)* n.s. (D3)*			
Forelimb use asymmetry		n.s. at D1 and D3*			
Corner test		p<0.05 D1 and D3			
Paw placement		p<0.05 D1 and D3	p<0.05 D1 and D2 No effect at D3 and 10 weeks		
Weight loss				P<0.01 (D1), p<0.05 (D3)	p=0.036 (multiple 0.3mg/kg)

(Diaz Diaz et al., 2020)

1.5.3. Stroke Clinical Trials of Fingolimod

Based on the preclinical work published on fingolimod, a few open label clinical trials have been performed in both intracerebral haemorrhage (Fu et al., 2014a) and ischaemic stroke (Zhu et al., 2015; Fu et al., 2014b; Tian et al., 2018; Liantao et al., 2019). Eleven participants were treated with a 3 d course of 0.5 mg fingolimod in a 2-arm proof-of-concept study involving 23 participants with a medium sized haemorrhage; clinical fingolimod treatment reduced perihaematomal oedema at 7 and 14 d after stroke compared to matched the controls (Fu et al., 2014a). In another randomised study evaluating a 3 d treatment with fingolimod or standard of care on ischaemic stroke in 22 patients presenting with an acute ischaemic stroke beyond the tPA treatment window were found that individuals in the fingolimod treatment group had improved neurological rehabilitation and a significant reduction of the secondary lesion compared to controls up to 90 d after stroke (Fu et al., 2014b).

These two proof of concept studies and the fact that alteplase remains the most effective treatment were the basis for clinical trials evaluating the co-administration of fingolimod and alteplase. A small 22 patient study in which individuals were randomised to control or the co-administration of alteplase with 3 d of 0.5 mg fingolimod found that fingolimod treatment reduced secondary lesion expansion and limited the haemorrhagic transformation events compared to the control group (Zhu et al., 2015). A larger follow-up randomised study involving 46 patients evaluated the efficacy of alteplase with fingolimod and reported improved outcome measures, improved anterograde perfusion and retrograde collateral flow in non-recanalised alteplase treated patients (Tian et al., 2018).

These results are all promising for the clinical effectiveness of fingolimod, and several follow-up clinical trial studies have been proposed. One such study is the Fingolimod with Alteplase bridging with Mechanical Thrombectomy in Acute Ischaemic Stroke (FAMTAIS) that was planned to involve 98 participants receiving alteplase along with mechanical thrombectomy randomised into receiving fingolimod or placebo (Zhang et al., 2017); however, this study was withdrawn in March 2020. Lastly, a double-blinded placebo-controlled pilot trial of Fingolimod as a Treatment of Cerebral Oedema After Intracerebral Haemorrhage (FITCH) has started recruiting patients, and the treatment plan involved the administration of a single dose of fingolimod (0.5 mg) and evaluate outcomes up until 365 d after stroke (NCT04088630, 2021).

Siponimod, a more selective S1P receptor binding agent that only binds to S1P1 and S1P5, has also been evaluated for ICH in phase 2 randomised controlled clinical trial (NCT03338998), where it was found to be ineffective at reducing perihaematomal oedemas as opposed to the results of a preclinical study (Bobinger et al., 2019). The failed trial for ICH could also mean that in a larger study that includes a more varied population of patients that fingolimod might also have neutral results, again emphasising the need for thorough evaluation in preclinical studies prior to the performance of large randomised controlled trials.

1.6. Hypothesis and Objectives

In summary, based on the background showing the potential benefits associated with fingolimod, we designed a series of preclinical studies with the goal of fulfilling the STAIR guidelines.

This would be achieved by designing and executing robust studies that address internal and external biases, thus filling the gap in fingolimod research for the use of comorbid mice.

Overall objective:

To evaluate and characterise the effects of fingolimod in preclinical stroke studies using mouse models of both ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke.

Intracerebral haemorrhage study:

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of fingolimod in a model of intracerebral haemorrhagic stroke in male and female mice.

Hypothesis: Male and female mice treated for 3 d starting 2 h after intracerebral haemorrhagic stroke with 0.5 mg/kg of fingolimod will have a better outcome than those treated with vehicle (saline) 14 d after intracerebral haemorrhage.

Dose response study:

The aim of this study was to determine the optimal dose of fingolimod for the treatment of a stroke in mice by performing a dose response test.

Hypothesis: Mice treated for 3 d starting 2 h after ischaemic stroke with a low dose (0.5mg/kg) or a higher dose (1.0 mg/kg) of fingolimod will have improved outcomes than mice treated with vehicle (saline) in a dose dependent manner 7 d after stroke. A dose-response relationship should be observed.

Aged mice study:

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of an optimal dose of fingolimod for the treatment of ischaemic stroke in aged mice.

Hypothesis: Aged mice treated for 3 d starting 2 h after ischaemic stroke with an optimal dose of fingolimod will have better outcomes than mice treated with vehicle (saline) 7 d after stroke.

Hyperlipidaemic mice study:

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of fingolimod for the treatment of ischaemic stroke in a mouse model of hyperlipidaemia.

Hypothesis: Mice with hyperlipidaemia treated for 3 d starting 2 h after ischaemic stroke with an optimal dose of fingolimod will have better outcomes than mice treated with vehicle (saline) 7 d after stroke.

Treatment duration study:

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of different treatment durations for the treatment of an ischaemic stroke in mice.

Hypothesis: Mice treated with an optimal dose of fingolimod for 10 d will have better outcomes than mice treated with fingolimod for 5 d and saline-treated controls after ischaemic stroke.

Chapter 2 Methods

The overall aim of this project was to systematically evaluate the efficacy of fingolimod in a series of rigorously designed studies to inform whether this drug is suitable for further testing in clinical trials.

Our studies were designed to meet the currently accepted quality standards in preclinical research with power calculation, randomisation, and blinding to reduce internal bias. To control for external biases, we used aged and hyperlipidaemic mice (Fisher et al., 2009). The outcome measures focused on histological lesion size and behavioural measurements with experimental endpoints of seven or more days. The goal of assessing these long-term outcomes was to expand on the literature because most previously published studies have focused on fingolimod's short-term effects (24-72 h post-stroke) (Wacker, Park and Gidday, 2009; Liesz et al., 2011; Hasegawa et al., 2010, 2013).

The methods section is divided into four subsections: animal models, experimental outcome measures, experimental design, and experimental studies.

2.1. Animals

All animal studies were performed with the approval and authorisation of: (1) the Irish Health Products Regulatory Authority (HPRA, project authorisation AE19130/P042) and (2) the University College Cork Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee (AEEC; authorisation 2016-004). Furthermore, the studies were performed according to the National Institute of Health Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Research Council, 2011).

2.1.1. Experimental Mice

Young adult mice:

C57BL/6J mice from Envigo (C57BL/6JOlaHsd) were received from the UK colony and housed in groups of 3-4. Male and female mice were ordered at 6-8 weeks. Female mice were used only in the intracerebral haemorrhage study along with male mice and all other studies used exclusively male mice.

Male mice were used at 8-16 weeks of age. Conversely, female mice were used when they weighed ≥ 20 grams or were 10-16 weeks of age. This was because female mice were observed to have difficulty recovering after surgery when they weighed ≤ 20 grams.

Aged mice:

Thirty-three male mice (C57BL/6NCrl) were received at 58 weeks of age from Charles River (UK). The delivery included two singly housed mice, and a third mouse was single-housed after its cage-mate died during the acclimatisation period. Mice were aged in-house for an additional 16 weeks until 74 weeks, approximately 18 months.

ApoE knockout mice:

Forty male ApoE/J (Apoetm1Unc) mice were ordered from Charles River (Italy); 20 were four weeks of age, and 20 were five weeks old. Atherosclerosis was induced in ApoE -/- mice at eight weeks by feeding them an adjusted calorie diet for 12 weeks. The high-fat diet (HFD) contained 43% calories from fat and 1.5 g/kg of cholesterol (0.2% total cholesterol), and it was sourced from Envigo (TD.88137).

Mice on HFD are known to develop skin lesions due to higher cholesterol levels (Zhang et al., 2015). Thus, mice were monitored daily for their health status and to ensure proper levels of food. Mice were housed in groups of 4, but ten mice were singly housed at the end of the study because of skin lesions and signs of fighting. Mice started to develop skin lesions at about 16 weeks of age (8 weeks after starting the high-fat diet), and the lesions were treated with Calamine solution once a day.

2.1.2. Animal Husbandry

The animal husbandry varied locations during the study because the university was transitioning between two Biological Services Unit (BSU) facilities. The first study evaluating the effect of fingolimod on intracerebral haemorrhage was completed in the older facility, Doughcloyne-BSU. Western Gateway Building BSU (WGB-BSU), the new facility, opened in 2018 and was the location for all other experimental studies. Mice were housed maintaining the groups in which they arrived, and they were allowed to acclimate for at least seven days before procedures were performed.

Doughcloyne facility

Mice were housed in conventional open-top cages in groups of 3-4 unless otherwise noted. Cages were lined with aspen wood-chip bedding, shredded paper, and additional enrichment (cardboard cylinder and chewing blocks). They had a 12 h light and dark cycle, with food and water provided ad libitum. Mice were fed a regular high-protein diet (Envigo TD2018, Teklad global 18% protein).

The facility was positive for numerous FELASA (Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Associations) exclusion pathogens, such as MNV (murine norovirus) and MPV (mouse parvovirus). Even though some exclusion pathogens were under control, others were endemic. The room temperature and humidity were monitored, yet they fluctuated throughout the year and were challenging to control.

Western Gateway facility

The facility is a Specific-pathogen-free (SPF) unit free from the FELASA exclusion pathogens. Mice were housed in groups of 3-4 in individually ventilated cages (IVCs) connected to an air handling unit that controls temperature and humidity (Tecniplast). The cages were lined with aspen wood-chip bedding, and the mice were provided with

shredded paper and cardboard tunnels as enrichment. Mice had free access to food and water in a 12 h dark and light cycle. Animals were fed an irradiated high-protein diet (Envigo TD2918, Teklad global 18% protein, Irradiated). Alternatively, mice in the atherosclerotic diet (ApoE-/-) were housed in groups of 4 in IVC cages with paper-based bedding used to wick excess fat from food (Alpha-dri bedding; Shepherd Specialty Papers, UK).

Individual housing

Mice were individually housed only in cases where the welfare of the mice required it. Individually housed mice were provided extra enrichment. Single housing was necessary for two reasons: fighting and the development of skin lesions. The aggressor mouse was separated from the group and singly housed when the fighting was evident.

Handling

Mice were handled by researchers and BSU staff with a tunnel. Tunnel handling ensures reduced anxiety and stress levels even after brief tail handling necessary for intraperitoneal injections (Hurst and West, 2010; Gouveia and Hurst, 2017; Clarkson et al., 2018).

Pre-operative stroke care

Mice were given a hydration gel (Hydrogel, ClearH2O, USA) with a wet diet to facilitate eating and maintain hydration. The gel was provided two days before surgery to allow mice to get used to the novel object and ensure that they consumed it after surgery.

Post-operative care and monitoring

After the stroke induction, mice were monitored daily with a scoring sheet that measured and scored body weight, appearance, behaviour and neurologic aspects starting one day after surgery (Appendix 1). The scores were collected and analysed as an outcome measure (see Scoresheet measurements).

2.1.3. Focal Ischaemic Stroke Models

2.1.3.1. Thromboembolic Stroke

Thromboembolic middle cerebral artery occlusion (tMCAo) was induced on C57BL/6 mice anaesthetised with 2% isoflurane in 100% oxygen or 30%/70% oxygen/nitrogen mixture. Mice were placed in an induction box, and the isoflurane was set to 2% for induction of anaesthesia; once the mouse fell over and their breathing slowed down, the pedal reflex was tested for depth of anaesthesia. Anaesthetised mice were transferred to the heated thermo-regulated surgical mat that uses a rectal probe to monitor the temperature and provide feedback to maintain the mouse body temperature around 37°C (NeosBiotec, Spain). The mouse was placed in a stereotaxic frame by placing the head onto a bite bar within the anaesthetic nose cone and stabilising it with the ear bars and tape to a 20° to 30° (Fig. 2.1a). The lower body of the mouse was covered with a surgical drape to prevent heat loss.

Next, LacriLube was applied to the eyes to prevent drying or ulceration. A local anaesthetic (0.05 mL 0.25% bupivacaine) was injected into the surgical site between the left eye and left ear. The area was shaved with a cream hair remover and sterilised by alternating between 70% alcohol and Povidone-iodine solution three times. Once the surgical area was sterile and dry, a 1 cm incision was opened vertically between the left eye and ear, the skin was retracted, and the parietal muscle was dissected and retracted from the insertion point to the parietal bone using a suture. Then, the middle cerebral artery (MCA) and its branches were quickly identified through the bone.

A Laser Doppler device (Moor VMS-LDF, Moor Instruments, United Kingdom) was used to measure the blood flow and confirm occlusions by attaching the tip of the laser Doppler probe above the territory perfused by the MCA. The attachment of the optic fibre was performed by first determining the area of interest, followed by lightly thinning the skull with a micro-drill to facilitate adhesion and flow detection. The fibre optic probe was glued perpendicularly to the skull with cyanoacrylate glue and an accelerator to set the glue quickly. A blood flow greater than 90 perfusion units (PU) was expected for baseline, and if the flow was lower than 90 PU, the probe was removed and reattached until a higher flow was detected.

The next step was to create a window centred over the MCA bifurcation with the

micro-drill. The edge of the circumference was thinned down, and a thicker centre was maintained. Once the outer area of the circle was thin enough, the skull flap was removed using 5SF or 5/45 forceps (Fine Science Tools). The meninges were removed by puncturing with a 30 G needle bent 90° and delicately pulling them back with the needle or with forceps and a small cotton tip, thus completely exposing the MCA. Once the meninges were removed, the area was maintained clean and hydrated with saline and the aid of a small metal shaft cotton tip.



Figure 2.1: Representative images of the thromboembolic surgery setup for a right MCA occlusion. (a) Top view of a mouse in the stereotaxic instrument with a Doppler flow probe attached to the skull and microneedle in place for injection (b) Closeup of the mouse head positioning in the stereotaxic instrument. (c) The middle cerebral artery with an in situ clot visualised through the microscope eyepiece.

Thrombin was injected into the bifurcation of the MCA to form an intraluminal clot using a microneedle (a needle made from a glass micropipette, as described in a separate section). A 50 mL syringe with a catheter tip and PE50 tubing was attached to the glass pipette to pneumatically load the microneedle with thrombin (2 μ L; 2U/ μ L); once loaded, the microneedle was attached to the probe holder on the stereotaxic instrument. The microneedle was advanced towards the MCA bifurcation, once in the vicinity of the injection site, the tubing was reattached to the 50 mL syringe, and positive pressure was maintained on the syringe to prevent blood absorption by capillary action that would block the microneedle.

The microneedle was pushed into the MCA lumen, and the thrombin was injected. During the injection, white streams of clotted blood were observed, and the blood flow was monitored by laser Doppler flowmetry until a blood flow reduction of 80-90% and a stable clot had formed in the bifurcation. After a clot was established, the microneedle was left in place for 10 min and then slowly retracted, preventing disturbance of the clot. Blood flow was monitored for 20 minutes before the bone defect was covered with bone wax. The Doppler probe was removed, the muscle returned to its place, and the incision was closed with a 5-0 prolene suture. The mice were placed in a recovery chamber for 30 min at 32°C before being returned to their home cage.

2.1.3.1.1. Glass Micropipettes

The glass micropipettes used for the thrombin injection were 1-2-3-4-5 μ L capacity disposable micropipettes with ring marks (No. 40555003; Hecht Glaswarenfabrik GmbH & Co, Germany). The microneedles were prepared with a P-1000 Pipette Puller (Sutter Instruments, USA), and the optimal pulling protocol was established with the Pipette Cookbook 2018.

The first step was to determine the melting temperature of the glass micropipette using the ramp test function on the P-1000 machine. Test pulls were carried out to establish the optimal protocol to achieve the long tapered microneedle required with the known ramp value. The following tables present the Pipette Puller settings used for each test, followed by a brief description of the microneedles produced.

Test no. 1: Standard thick wall pipet pulling protocol from the Sutter Instruments Pipette Cookbook

	Heat	Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
Settings	504	90	70	80	200

Product: the microneedles were too long and curved once the glass had cooled.

Test no. 2: Increase time delay by 10 units (1 unit is 0.5 milliseconds)

	Heat	Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
Settings	504	90	70	90	200

Product: the microneedles had a good taper. One end was curved and brittle.

Test no. 3: Reduce ramp heat by five units

Hea	t Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
-----	--------	----------	------	----------

Settings 499	90	70	90	200
--------------	----	----	----	-----

Product: both ends were sharp yet curved

Test no. 4: Revert to standard thick wall pipet pulling protocol and decrease velocity

	Heat	Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
Settings	504	90	60	80	200

Product: the resulting microneedle was too long and curved.

Test no. 5: Reduce pull intensity

	Heat	Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
Settings	504	85	60	80	200

Product: the resulting microneedle was too long and brittle.

Test no. 6: Increase pull delay

	Heat	Pull	Velocity	Time	Pressure
Settings	504	85	60	90	200

Product: the microneedle had no curling, had a good length-to-taper ratio and was selected as the optimal pull program for future preparation of micropipette needles.

Microneedle cutting and bevelling

The recommended microneedle tip size for thrombin injection ranges from 20 to 40 μ m (Orset et al., 2007). Microneedles were cut back and measured with an Olympus BX43 microscope with Stream Essential software (Olympus; V2.3.3.) to verify the microneedle diameter. The next step was to test the microneedles for being able to breach the vessel wall to inject the lumen of the MCA: one set of microneedles were cutback with iris spring scissors and bevelled with a BV-10 Beveler (Sutter Instruments, USA) to 25°, and 45°; and the other set of microneedles were cut back with the spring scissors at a 45° angle. The bevelled microneedles, though clean-cut, could not breach the vessel to inject the thrombin (Fig. 2.2.a & b); however, the slightly jagged edge of the scissor-cut microneedles was able to breach the vessel wall (Fig. 2.2.c).







Figure 2.2: Representative images of the bevelled microneedles; (a) 25° and (b) 45° bevel microneedle that were instrument bevelled; and (c) microneedle bevelled with a scissor that was successfully used for thrombin injection into the middle cerebral artery. The diameter was measured with a calibrated microscope and is represented as a length in the images.

2.1.3.1.2. Thrombin Dilution and

Characterisation

Human Alpha-Thrombin (HTC-0020; Haematologic Technologies Inc, USA) was used to induce the formation of a clot in the bifurcation of the MCA. The thrombin product was delivered as 50% glycerol/H₃0 (vol/vol) solution at 0.1mg/mL concentration. Each batch of thrombin had a unique activity, and it was diluted to a final concentration of 2 U/µL with 18% glycerol by adding saline and glycerol. Fifteen microlitre aliquots were stored at -20° C.

Thrombin injection and clot formation

During the setup stages of the tMCAo surgical model, $1-2 \mu L$ of $2U/\mu L$ thrombin was injected into the MCA lumen. The clots produced were unstable, and early reperfusion was observed shortly after the thrombin injection. As a part of the setup of this model, we decided to evaluate a few controlled scenarios (Table 2.1) to determine whether the concentration of thrombin or isoflurane levels affects clot stability.

Cerebral blood flow (CBF) positively correlates with isoflurane concentrations, with higher concentrations leading to higher CBF, which could affect the stability of the clot (Munting et al., 2019). In addition, lesion size may depend on thrombin concentration. A study using C57Bl/6 mice observed a concentration-dependent lesion with 1.5 and 3.0 UI of thrombin (Ansar et al., 2014); however, a meta-analysis of published and unpublished data found that concentrations greater than 2 UI led to clots that were resistant to thrombolysis with tPA (Orset et al., 2016). Hence, we limited the trial to comparing 1.5 and 2 UI of thrombin and two isoflurane concentrations to evaluate their effect on clot formation and stability.

Number of mice	Isoflurane concentration	Buffer	U/µL
2	2 - 2.5%	PBS	1.5
2	2 - 2.5%	Saline	2
2	1.5 - 2%	PBS	2
2	1.5 - 2%	Saline	1.5
Total mice= 8			

Table 2.1: Thrombin optimisation trial

2.1.3.1.3. Thrombolysis

The human recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (tPA, Alteplase) (Actilyse \mathbb{B} , Boehringer Ingelheim Limited) was used to dissolve the clot formed by thrombin injection. We used the recommended dose for rodents (10 mg/kg), which is ten times higher than the clinically used dose of 0.9 mg/kg because rodent clots are less susceptible to lysis than human clots (Korninger and Collen, 1981). The Alteplase was prepared from 10 mg powder into a 2 g/mL solution using sterile saline as solvent. For a 25 g mouse, 188 µL of the 2mg/mL solution were mixed with 113 µL of saline for a final volume of 300 µL, of which 200 µL were infused.

For tPA infusion, mice were anaesthetised with an injectable anaesthetic cocktail containing ketamine (75 mg/kg) and xylazine (1 mg/kg). Mice were maintained warm and placed on a heating pad for the infusion of tPA (10 mg/kg; 200 μ L), administered with a syringe pump into the tail vein with a 10% bolus, and the remainder infused over 40 min. After the infusion, mice were injected with 100 μ L of Revertor (Atipamezole hydrochloride, 1 mg/kg) to wake them up following the anaesthesia. Mice were monitored until they became recumbent, at which point they were returned to their home cage.

2.1.3.1.4. Cerebral Blood Flow Measurement

Laser Doppler flow (LDF) measurements were performed for the thromboembolic model to measure the percentage reduction of CBF in the MCA perfusion area. A reduction of >90% that was stable for 20 minutes after removing the microneedle was considered successful. The LDF also allowed us to exclude any animals that spontaneously reperfused or had an insufficient level of reduction of flow during the observation period (Fig. 2.3). The Laser Doppler Monitor system was calibrated as per manufacturer instructions before use, and the fibre-optic filament was cut back to remove any remaining cyanoacrylate glue from the previous usage. The filament was then attached to the skull, and the baseline CBF was determined. Once the MCA was ready for injection, the recording was started. After the injection, a CBF drop was observed (Fig. 2.3), and the clot stability was monitored until the probe was removed 20 min after injection.



Figure 2.3: Graph representing the cerebral blood flow of a mouse that received thrombin into the MCA. The mouse was observed for one hour after the thrombin injection. After 25 min, there was an increase in perfusion due to clot instability.

2.1.3.1.5. Experimental Setup of Thromboembolic Stroke Model

The thromboembolic stroke procedure was learned on a research stay at the Laboratorio de Investigación de Neurociencias Clínicas (LINC) at the Hospital Clínico Universitario in Santiago de Compostela, Spain, with Professor Francisco Campos Pérez. In Spain, the occlusion was performed on the right MCA of BalbC mice, as previously described by Orset et al. 2007. The procedure was implemented in Cork and set up on the left MCA mice due to the equipment availability (Stereotaxic instrument orientation). We used C57Bl/Bl6 mice because the overall study aimed to use a variety of models that use C57Bl/B6 as genetic background, and aged mice are more commonly available in that strain. During the effort to establish this stroke model, we used 59 mice (Fig. 2.4).



Figure 2.4: Pie chart representing the total number of mice used to set up the thromboembolic stroke model. Grey: Practice animals that were not recovered. Black and dark blue: euthanised mice that suffered a burst MCA or no clot formation. Light blue: non-recovery mice with a stable clot. Yellow represent the recovered mice with a lesion, and pink represents the mice that did not have a lesion.

The procedure was initially performed under non-recovery conditions to practice and become familiar with the steps of the overall procedure (5 animals; 8.5%). Once familiar with the procedure and consistent access to the MCA without rupturing it, the thrombin
injection practice stage was started observing for clot formation and stability (Fig. 2.4). There was a considerable failure rate of 23.7% (14 animals), mainly due to rupturing of the MCA causing uncontrollable bleeds and a lack of clot formation in the MCA bifurcation (7 animals; 11.9%).



Figure 2.5: Evaluation of the success of the clot and the development of a lesion size following the thromboembolic stroke surgery. Dark yellow represents mice with a lesion with a stable clot (a clot was formed with a greater than 80% reduction in blood flow) and mice with a lesion with a clot with significant reflow (light yellow). Dark pink represents mice without a lesion that had a clot with significant reflow, and pale pink represents mice that did not have a clot and no lesion.

Once the number of successful clots observed during practice procedures was consistent, mice were allowed to recover. A stable clot was determined by an 80% reduction of cerebral blood flow (CBF) or greater that remained in place for 10 minutes. In cases where a clot was unstable, and there was reflow, we recorded the information and compared it to the lesion size measurements after 24 to 72 h. The brains were evaluated with TCC for the presence of a lesion (Fig. 2.5).

As expected, mice with no clots had no lesion (2 animals; 7.1%), and most mice with reflow did not have a lesion (13 animals; 46.5%); however, some mice with considerable reflow did have a measurable lesion. Lastly, mice with stable clots and greater than 80% reduction of CBF always led to a lesion (11 animals; 39.3%).

To identify the cause of the variability in the success rate of this procedure, we compared two different anaesthesia concentrations along with two different thrombin concentrations, as they both could affect clot formation (Munting et al., 2019; Orset et al., 2016). Our results suggest that a higher concentration of isoflurane with a lower concentration of thrombin is more successful than the other combinations (Fig. 2.6).

Overall, 2.5% of isoflurane had a higher frequency of success for clot formation (3:1) vs 1.5% with only one lesion observed. On the other hand, thrombin seems to have had a higher success rate when using the lower 1.5UI (3:1) than 2UI.



Figure 2.6: Results of the pilot study comparing two concentrations of isoflurane with two concentrations of thrombin. Four groups were studied by the number the outcomes. The observed outcomes were lesion (yellow), No-lesion (pink) and Non-recovery (black).

These results highlight the difficulties experienced while attempting to establish this model. While considering the risk that proceeding with this model might require additional mice to achieve the intended number of mice per group, we decided to use another stroke model that produces a similarly sized stroke lesion (Macrae, 2011). The electrocautery stroke model was selected, and all subsequent studies were performed with the new method because it has a high success rate, is highly reproducible, and has low mortality.

2.1.3.3. Electrocautery Stroke

Mice were anaesthetised with 2% isoflurane using 100% O_2 or 30% O_2 :70% N_2 gas mixture as the carrier gas. After induction, the anaesthesia was maintained at 1.5-2% isoflurane using the face mask on the stereotaxic frame. The head was placed in the nose cone, angled to 20-30° and stabilised with the ear bars for a better view and access to the left side of the head (Fig. 2.7). Once the animal was in place, the rectal probe was inserted as part of the homeothermic blanket system (NeosBiotec) used to maintain the animal's

temperature at 37°C. LacriLube was applied to avoid cornea ulceration during the procedure. The surgical site was infiltrated with 0.25% w/v bupivacaine (0.05 ml). The fur between the eye and the ear was removed with depilatory cream, and the area was cleaned with three cycles of iodine solution/70% isopropyl alcohol.

An incision was made vertically on the skin midway between the left eye and the ear. The parietal muscle was cut at the insertion point, and the muscle was retracted using a suture to expose the parietal bone. The left middle cerebral artery was identified through the skull in the area posterior to the zygomatic arch. The skull was thinned in a circular pattern around the bifurcation of the MCA using a micro-drill. Once the edge of the circle was thin enough to break with forceps, the skull flap was lifted and removed. The dura was then pierced and pulled away from the artery, allowing access to the MCA.

The MCA was occluded by bipolar electrocoagulation with a Bovie Bantam Pro electrosurgical generator (A952) with the aid of McPherson 3 1/2" straight forceps (A842) (Symmetry Surgical Inc, USA). The voltage ranged from 0.7V on ApoE mice up to 1.5V used on older mice, with younger mice falling in the middle at 1.0V. The MCA bifurcation and accessory branches were occluded by electrocoagulation (Fig. 2.7). Occlusion was visually confirmed once the blood turned white and the clot was stable for a few minutes. The absence of bleeding after nicking the MCA distally to the coagulation site confirmed the occlusion. The bone defect was covered with bone wax to prevent adhesions, and the muscle was released and returned to its position. The incision was allowed to recover in a heated chamber at 32°C for 30 minutes before being returned to its home cage.



Figure 2.7: Electrocautery surgical setup: Top image shows the surgical microscope, electrocautery machine, dental drill, heated surgical pad and stereotaxic instrument. The bottom picture shows an anaesthetised mouse with the head in the nose cone at a 30° angle; the mouse also has the rectal temperature probe in place for the feedback control of the heated surgical pad.

2.1.4. Haemorrhagic Stroke

Experimental intracerebral haemorrhage was induced by injecting collagenase into the right striatum with some modifications to a previously described method (Lu et al., 2014). Briefly, mice were anaesthetised with 2% isoflurane in 100% O₂. Once deeply anaesthetised, mice were placed in the stereotaxic instrument: the head was held in place with the ear bars, which were covered with a topical anaesthetic (EMLA Cream 5% lidocaine/prilocaine). The skull was levelled by adjusting the bite bar that also served as a nose cone (see Fig. 2.8). LacriLube (Allergan Ltd) was used to protect the eyes from drying and ulceration. Body temperature was monitored and maintained through feedback thermoregulated surgical mat (NeosBiotec, Spain).

The surgical area was infiltrated with 0.05 mL of Bupivacaine (0.25% w/v solution), and the fur was removed with cream hair remover (Veet, Reckitt Benckiser). The surgical area was sterilised by alternating 70% alcohol and Povidone-iodine solution three times. Once the area was sterilised, a 1 cm incision was made on the scalp, and the skin was drawn back with a Colibri retractor (Fine Science Tools, Germany) to expose the skull.



Figure 2.8: Intracerebral haemorrhage surgery. Mouse with a needle in the right hemisphere following the injection of collagenase for the induction of haemorrhagic stroke

A 2.5 μ L Hamilton syringe (RN701, needle 30G, blunt, 4 inches long) was loaded with 0.075 U of collagenase (0.5 μ L, Bacterial collagenase VII-S, Sigma Aldrich, UK) and placed in the syringe holder. The needle was aligned to bregma and then moved 2 mm right, 0.2 mm anteriorly; when in place, the skull was marked. The needle was lowered through a 1 mm burr hole created with a micro-drill using a 0.9 mm burr. The needle went 3.5 mm into the brain, and the distance was counted from the point where the needle bevel was level with the skull. The collagenase injection was performed over 15 seconds; the needle was left in place for 10 min to allow the collagenase to act and prevent reflux through the needle track. Lastly, the needle was slowly retracted, and the burr hole was covered with bone wax. The scalp was closed with 5-0 sutures, and the mice were allowed to recover in a heated chamber at 32°C for 30 min before being returned to their home cage.

2.2. Experimental Outcome Measures

The primary outcome measures evaluated are the stroke lesion size and performance in behaviour tests. The secondary outcomes comprise the weights and daily scores after surgery, as well as, when relevant, other supplemental data such as cholesterol levels and lymphocyte counts. The lesion size was measured from histological slides, and the behaviour was assessed by cylinder test, foot fault and wire-hanging test.

2.2.1. Histology

2.2.1.1. Tissue Collection

Mice were euthanised by anaesthetic overdose (20-30 μ L intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital, Euthatal 200 mg/ml). The depth of anaesthesia was verified by testing pain reflexes with a tail or toe pinch. The ribcage was opened by cutting it from the sides and lifting it towards the head. A small incision was made into the left atrium, and 15 mL of cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) was slowly injected into the left ventricle until the perfusate coming out through the left atrium ran clear.

An incision was made down the middle of the scalp and retracted to the sides to dissect the brain. The skull was cut along the lambdoid suture and sagittal sutures with sharp scissors. The base of the skull was pulled down with forceps to expose the cerebellum, followed by the retraction of the parietal bones to expose the brain completely. Lastly, the brain was removed and stored on ice until further processing.

2.2.2.2. Tissue Staining

The following sections describe the different methods for visualising the stroke lesion once the brain has been isolated. Fresh tissue can be stained with 2,3,5-triphenyl tetrazolium chloride (TTC) to visualise lesions 1-3 d after stroke (Zille et al., 2011). However, this technique cannot be used beyond three days after stroke because infiltrating immune cells might produce uneven staining (Liszczak et al., 1984). TTC was implemented to verify the injury in both thromboembolic and electrocautery models. Histological sections from cryopreserved brains were stained with haematoxylin and eosin and immunohistochemistry.

2.2.2.1. 2,3,5-Triphenyl Tetrazolium Chloride

Staining

Fresh ischaemic stroke tissue was characterised 24-72 h after stroke with TTC staining. Brains were collected from euthanised mice, perfused with PBS and stored on ice in 15 mL tubes. The brains were transferred onto an ice-cold brain matrix (RBMS-200C, World Precession Instruments, UK) and cut into 1 mm thick coronal sections with cold razor blades.



Figure 2.9: Mouse brain sections (1 mm) 24 h after an electrocautery-induced stroke stained with TTC. Left hemisphere stroke lesion in white, and healthy tissue in red.

The sections were transferred to a 5 cm Petri dish with 5 mL of 2% TTC in PBS. The plate was wrapped with foil and placed in an incubator at 37°C for 30 min. The ischaemic regions remained white in successfully stained tissue, and the healthy tissue stained red (Fig. 2.9). Sections were then imaged next to a calibration ruler with a camera or scanner, and the lesion was quantified with ImageJ (v1.51f, NIH).

2.2.2.2. Tissue Freezing and Sectioning

Brains were frozen in isopentane (2-methyl butane) that was chilled on dry ice and maintained at -40° C. The freshly isolated brains were submerged in the isopentane and then removed, lightly covered with embedding matrix (M-1, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and chilled again before being stored. The frozen brains were stored at -80° C.

For sectioning, brains were transferred to a -20° C freezer overnight to stabilise the tissue to the sectioning temperature. The brains were sectioned with a Leica CM 1900 cryostat at -20° C. For sectioning, the brains were mounted perpendicularly onto the cryostat chuck inside the cryostat at -20° C by adding fresh embedding matrix and attaching the brain perpendicularly to the chuck. Once the embedding matrix was set, the brain and the base were thinly coated with more embedding matrix to create one block. Once the embedding matrix sets, the brain could be sectioned.

The sectioning was performed by first aligning the chuck perpendicularly to the blade and beginning to slice the embedding matrix and the anterior part of the brain. The alignment was adjusted to ensure that the sections were even. The sections were collected onto a single slide (SuperFrost Plus, Thermo Fisher Scientific) based on brain anatomy. The sections were collected at 500 μ m intervals from 1.54 mm anterior-to-bregma to 2.92 mm posterior-to-bregma throughout the cortex. Any deviations in the interval distance were recorded and accounted for in volume calculations. The 20 μ m thick section were collected onto ten slides per brain in serial coronal sections. The completed slides were air-dried and stored at –20°C until staining was performed. Before staining, all slides were air-dried for 1 h and scanned to allow accurate hemispheric volume measurements in case of damage or lifting of sections during staining.

2.2.2.4. Haematoxylin and Eosin Staining

Air-dried slides were fixed in 4% formalin for 5 min and then rehydrated in a series of graded alcohols (100%, 95% and 70%) for 2 min each, followed by 2 min in distilled water. Slides were placed in Mayer's haematoxylin solution (Sigma Aldrich, UK) for 4 min, followed by rinsing in tap water until the water ran clear. Slides were then dipped into 0.25% Eosin Y (Sigma Aldrich, UK) solution for 1 min. Lastly, slides were washed in 70% alcohol and then dehydrated through a series of alcohols (70%, 90% and 100%) for 2 min each, cleared in Histochoice (xylene alternative; Sigma Aldrich, UK) and coverslipped with Permount mounting medium (Fisher Scientific).



Figure 2.10: Brain sections from mice subject to ischaemic stroke. The sections are 20 μ m thick and 500 μ m apart. The sections to the left are stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin, and the sections to the right are stained by immunohistochemistry detection of NeuN. The brain sections have the stroke injury delineated in a contrasting colour (black for H&E and white for NeuN). These sample images belong to the same mouse and compare the detectable ischaemic area under each staining condition. Scale bar 1 mm

2.2.2.3. Cresyl violet

The goal was to increase the clarity and definition of the injury. Llovera et al. described the possibility of having clear boundaries of the lesion, in contrast to the results observed in H&E staining. The Cresyl violet staining was performed as previously described (Llovera et al., 2014). For establishing the method, a range of concentrations of Cresyl violet (0.1, 0.2 and 0.5%) were dissolved in dH₂O, acid dH₂O or acetate buffer. The different parameters that were evaluated resulted in different intensities of staining; however, the best staining would have paler staining in the ischaemic area as opposed to what we were able to observe in figure 2.11.



Figure 2.11: Representative image of brain sections from a mouse with a stroke. The sections are $20 \,\mu$ m thick section 500 μ m apart. Scale bar 1 mm

The staining protocol was performed on tissue dried overnight and fixed for 5 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). The tissue was rehydrated for 2 minutes in a series of alcohols (100%, 95%, and 70% ethanol) and washed in distilled water for 2 minutes. The slides were stained for 5 minutes in a 0.2% solution of Cresyl violet and then washed in distilled water until the excess stain was removed. The slides were dehydrated in a series of alcohols, cleared with histolene, and coverslipped. The 0.2% Cresyl violet stain solution was prepared in H₂O acidified to pH 4.0 with glacial acetic acid. The solution was heated to 60°C to dissolve the Cresyl violet powder and then filtered. Even though the stain was achieved, it was challenging to differentiate the injured tissue from the healthy tissue, primarily due to unclear borders.

2.2.2.5. Immunohistochemistry (NeuN) Staining

NeuN is a protein expressed in the neuronal nucleus (Badan et al., 2003; Hughes et al., 2009). Immunohistochemistry was used to determine the injury size by quantifying the area negative for NeuN antibody staining, as previously published (Katchanov et al., 2006). The rabbit monoclonal Anti-NeuN antibody (ab177487, Abcam) was selected over

the commonly used mouse monoclonal anti-NeuN antibody (MAB377, Chemicon) because the mouse monoclonal would have required extra blocking steps to eliminate background binding on mouse brain tissue. After staining with the secondary antibody, biotinylated Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (ab207995, Abcam) and conjugated to avidin-biotin horseradish peroxidase complex solution (ABC Kit pk-4000, Vector Laboratories), the signal was visualised with 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB Kit SK-4100, Vector Laboratories).

Slides with brain sections were air-dried overnight, followed by 20 minutes of methanol (Sigma Aldrich, UK) fixation at –20°C. Slides were incubated in cold 10% hydrogen peroxide methanol solution for 10 min, followed by blocking in 5% normal goat serum (S-1000, Vector Laboratories) in 0.3% TritonX TBS. Anti-NeuN antibody (1:1500) was incubated for 1 h at RT, followed by secondary antibody Goat Anti-Rabbit biotinylated IgG (1:250) for 1 h at RT. Slides were washed three times with TBS, incubated in avidin-biotin horseradish peroxidase complex solution (ABC Kit PK-4000, Vector Laboratories) for 30 min, and the reaction product was visualised with diaminobenzidine (DAB Kit SK-4100, Vector Laboratories). Lastly, the sections were dehydrated in a series of alcohols, cleared with histochoice and coverslipped with Permount mounting medium (Fisher Scientific).

2.2.1.3. Stroke Injury Quantification

The measurements associated with injury quantification were performed by scanning the slides before and after staining with a high-resolution scanner (Epson V600) to 3200 dpi (dots per inch) resolution. The measurements were obtained with ImageJ (Version 1.51.f, NIH); for this, the file was opened with ImageJ, and the calibration was set to 3200 dpi (125.98 pixels per mm). So all measurements were obtained in mm². Brain hemispheres and the lesioned area were measured, and the volumes were calculated by multiplying the area in each section by the known distance (500 μ m) between sections. The total volume was taken as the sum of these individual volumes (Sommer, 2016). Oedema expressed as [(Ipsilateral hemisphere – contralateral hemisphere) / contralateral hemisphere * 100].

The intracerebral haemorrhage regions of interest included measurement of the hemispheric volumes, ventricles and infarct sizes associated with haemorrhage cavitation and ventricular dilation (Fig. 2.10). The injured tissue was observed under a light

microscope to determine the boundary of the lesion, and that was transcribed onto the scanned image for measurement of the injured area. Injured tissue was identified as brain tissue with abnormal morphology. Depending on the brain, this could include bleeding, cavitation and areas of tissue necrosis with visible pallor and abnormal nuclei.



Figure 2.12: Intracerebral haemorrhage NeuN stained representative images of a) Saline and b) fingolimod-treated male mice; c) Saline and d) fingolimod-treated female mice. Scale bar 1 mm.

For the ischaemic stroke model, the regions of interest (hemispheric volumes, ventricles and infarct) were measured in H&E and NeuN stained tissue (Fig. 2.10). Injured tissue was observed, and the boundary was determined under a light microscope. Infarct tissue was identified area with abnormal morphology. Depending on the extent of damage, included areas of necrosis, haemorrhage or cavitation with immune cell infiltration and, in some cases, glial scar formation at the boundary. The infarct boundary was identified where the abnormal tissue transitioned to a normal morphology. The edge was verified under the microscope, especially in the case of H&E stained samples, wherein the border was diffuse, and the boundary between the infarct and healthy tissue had to be closely identified.

2.2.1.4. Ventricle Measurements

The enlarged ventricles were measured similarly to all other regions of interest. They were identified in each section and outlined. Furthermore, the samples were compared with the unstained tissue to ensure none of it was lost during the staining procedure. The volume was calculated by multiplying the area of the ventricle by the thickness of the section (20 μ m) and by the separation between the sections (500 μ m)

2.2.2. Behaviour

Behaviour evaluation was utilised to characterise the effect of stroke and fingolimod treatment on functional recovery. Animals were tested with cylinder and foot fault tests to evaluate the asymmetry associated with unilateral stroke damage. The wire-hanging test evaluates grip strength, balance, and endurance (Balkaya et al., 2012). The tests were performed at baseline and, depending on the study, at 7 and 14 d; 3 and 7 d; or 2, 5 and 10 d after surgery. A Canon Legria HF R706 camera was used to record all the tests for offline analysis.



Figure 2.13: Behaviour test views matching video recording style used for each test; a) Foot fault test: mouse on the grid viewed at an angle from below; b) Cylinder test: mouse in the cylinder viewed from above; c) Wire-hanging test: frontal view of a mouse hanging off the wire.

2.2.2.1. Cylinder Test

The cylinder was selected because it is a widely used behaviour test that can be compared to other studies (Balkaya et al., 2012). The test was performed in a large glass beaker of 12.5 cm in diameter by 23.5 cm in height. The recording was done from above

to allow visualisation of the times the mice reared and touched the cylinder wall (Fig. 2.13b). A mouse was placed in the cylinder for the test and allowed to explore until it performed 20 rears and wall touches.

Recordings were analysed by an investigator blinded to the treatment groups at 0.5X speed and frame by frame when necessary to determine the paw usage. The numbers of independent touches with ipsilateral (I), contralateral (C) or both (B) forepaws were used to calculate a score for each mouse and time points with the equation (C-I)/(C+I+B).

2.2.2.2. Foot Fault Test

The test evaluated the level of laterality a mouse experienced after a stroke by counting the number of times the mouse missed a step (Schaar, Brenneman and Savitz, 2010). For this test, a metal grid ($25 \times 35 \text{ cm}$) with 1 cm² openings was placed over a pair of mouse cages (Fig. 2.13a). The test was performed by placing a mouse on the grid and inducing it to walk across from one end to the other using a cardboard cylinder and the smell of the home cage.

The videos were recorded at an angle from below the grid to visualise the missed steps (Fig. 2.14). Videos were viewed frame by frame by a researcher blinded to the treatment groups. The score was calculated by the number of missed ipsilateral steps over the contralateral ones out of 100 steps.



Figure 2.14: Recording setup for the grid walking test: The grid is set on top of two cages, and the video is shot from below.

2.5.2.3. Wire-Hanging Test

The wire-hanging test was performed using a 45 cm long metal wire placed between two wooden poles 35 cm above a padded base. Mice were allowed to grab onto the middle of the wire with their forepaws for the test (Fig. 2.13 c). The scores ranged from 0 to 5, based on the ability of the mice to hang onto the wire and escape.

- 0 unable to remain on the wire for more than 30s
- 1 failed to hold onto the wire with both forepaws and hind paws
- 2 held on to the wire with both forepaws and hind paws but not the tail
- 3 held on to the wire using its tail along with all four paws
- 4 moved along the wire with all four paws plus the tail
- 5 scored four and ambulated down the post supporting the wire

Three attempts were recorded and scored by a researcher blinded to the treatment and measurement time-point. The final score was the median of the attempts.

2.2.3. Post-operative recovery scores

The post-operative recovery was assessed with a scoresheet (Appendix 1). The data collected served as a measure and a sign of the recovery after stroke, informing whether there were differences in the recovery-associated treatment. Body weight was measured at baseline to determine the daily weight loss percentage. Based on the percentage of weight loss, a score was assigned as follows: 0 = <5%, 1 = 5-10%, 2=11-15%, 3=16-20%, and mice that has lost 20% of their original weight required humane endpoint.

Appearance scores were determined based on the grooming behaviour of the mice and the degree of piloerection they were experiencing. The scores were 1= coat slightly unkempt, 2= slight piloerection and 3= marked piloerection. Behaviour scores were based on the ability of mice to move around the cage and their response to handling. The scores were 1= slightly abnormal gait, 2= markedly abnormal gait, 3= significant mobility problems, and mice that experienced prolonged immobility (>24hrs) required a humane endpoint. Additionally, mice tense and nervous on handling scored a 2; when markedly distressed, they scored a three.

Neurological scores were determined using the Bederson scale to assess the recovery of the mice after stroke (Pinkernell, Becker and Lindauer, 2016). The grading scale of 0-3 is used, with 0= normal and 3= the highest level of disability; 0= no observable deficit, 1= forelimb flexion, 2 = decreased resistance to lateral push (and forelimb flexion) without circling, 3 = same behaviour as grade 2, with circling

Lastly, a composite score was calculated by adding the individual scores from weight, appearance and behaviour. The score was adjusted by adding one more point every time there was a score of 3. The composite score defined additional post-operative care, such that mice scoring 4-5 were given supplementary care, scoring 6-9 were reviewed by BSU staff, and mice scoring ≥ 10 points were humanely euthanised by anaesthetic overdose or cervical dislocation.

2.2.4. Blood Sampling

Blood samples were collected from mice in the atherosclerotic study by submandibular facial vein puncture. The procedure was performed with modifications to a previously described method (Golde, Gollobin and Rodriguez, 2005). A 16G needle was used to puncture the vein, and 2-3 drops of blood were collected (about 100 μ L) in a 500 μ L Eppendorf tube.

Blood was collected from all mice after euthanasia and prior to cardiac perfusion. For this procedure, the abdomen was cut open, and the viscera were gently moved aside to expose the abdominal aorta. A 26G needle attached to a 2 mL syringe was used to collect 0.5-1 mL of blood.

2.5.3.1. Flow Cytometry Analysis

For the analysis of the lymphocyte counts, approximately 500 μ L of blood was collected from the abdominal aorta of euthanised mice. The blood was transferred into EDTA tubes until further processing. The blood was mixed with 5 ml of 1X Red Blood Cell Lysis Buffer (eBioscience, #430054) and incubated for 5 minutes to remove red blood cells. The lysis reaction was stopped by adding 20 ml of 1X PBS. The cell suspension was then washed twice by spinning at 300 x g at 2-8°C and re-suspending in the appropriate volume of 1X PBS. The washed and re-suspended cells were counted with trypan blue to determine the total cell concentration and viability.

For the confirming of the delivery and subsequent reduction in lymphocytes counts in the intracerebral haemorrhage studies, the cell samples were incubated with the following fluorophore-conjugated antibodies at 4°C for 30 minutes: anti-mouse CD3ε PE-Cy-7 (Invitrogen, Clone 145-2C11), anti-mouse CD4 FITC (Invitrogen, Clone RM4-5) and anti-mouse CD8a PerCp-Cy5.5 (Invitrogen, Clone 53-6.7). All antibodies were used at concentrations estimated by titration experiments. Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 780 (eBioscience) was added as a live/dead cell stain. The total cell counts were estimated using "CountBright absolute counting beads" (Invitrogen). An LSR II Flow Cytometer instrument (Becton Dickinson) was used for the flow cytometric analysis, and the data were analysed using FlowJo software (v8.6.3) as previously described (Diaz Diaz et al.,

2020).

Similarly, the ischaemic stroke study samples were incubated for 5 min with 50 μ L of anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (Clone 93, 1:100; eBioscience). The cell suspensions were then stained for anti-mouse CD45 (PerCP-CY5.5) (30-F11, 1:100), CD3(PE-Cy7) (145-2C11, 1:100), CD4 (FITC) (RM4-5, 1:800), CD8(Pacific Blue) (5H10, 1:100), and CD25 (APC) (PC61.5, 1:100) (eBioscience). A live/dead stain (1:10,000 solution) was also added to each sample (Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 780, eBioscience). The samples were incubated in the dark for 30 min at 2–8°C, washed, fixed, and re-suspended in PBS. The Flow cytometric analysis was performed with an LSRII flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson). The compensation control was set using BD CompBead Anti-Rat/Anti-Hamster Particles. Data were analysed using FlowJo (v10). Gates were set according to unstained samples and fluorescent minus one (FMO) controls. Absolute cell counts for all tissues were calculated based on the instructions provided with the CountBright Absolute Counting Beads (Molecular Probes) (Malone et al., 2021; Diaz et al., 2021, 2022).

2.2.3.2. Serum Analysis

The mice in the atherosclerosis comorbidity study (ApoE-/-) naturally present with higher levels of cholesterol (412 mg/dL) and higher glycemia (127 mg/dL) than C57BL/6 mice fed regular chow (Yin et al., 2012). Thus, serum samples were used to evaluate glucose and lipid levels in the atherosclerotic study.

Blood samples were allowed to clot at room temperature for 30 min. The serum was prepared by centrifugation at 2000 x g for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant (serum) was collected, transferred into a fresh tube, and stored at -80° C. The serum was collected twice, two days before stroke and at the experimental endpoint.

2.2.3.2.1. Total Cholesterol

Cholesterol levels were determined with a Cholesterol Fluorometric Assay kit (No. 10007640, Cayman Chemical) following the manufacturer's instructions. Cholesterol levels in the experimental serum samples were expected to fall between 10-90 mM (500-

3500 mg/dL), beyond the standard curve for the assay (0- 20μ M); thus, the samples were diluted to fall within the range of the assay with a dilution buffer provided in the kit. The assay was run in duplicates. The plate was covered to protect the reaction from light and incubated at 37° C for 30 min. Lastly, the fluorescence was read using 530nm excitation and 590nm emission wavelength using a SpectraMax M3 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, USA).

2.2.5. Atherosclerotic Lesions

Quantification

Aorta isolation

The whole aorta was dissected from transcardially perfused mice, starting from its bifurcation into the iliac arteries. The abdominal organs were pulled aside to expose the aorta and its branches that were cut off. The diaphragm was cut away to access the base of the thoracic aorta; once in the thorax, the lungs were removed to access the aortic arch. Once the aorta was removed from the body, further dissection was completed through the length of the aorta to remove excess connective tissue. The aortas were fixed in 5 mL of 10% neutral paraformaldehyde overnight on a shaker at 4°C.



Figure 2.15: Oil Red O staining of a whole mounted aorta. At the top of the image, the aortic arch has several atherosclerotic plaques (arrows), and the lower section of the aorta also has atherosclerotic plaques. A ruler with the animal number is included at the bottom part of the image

Oil red O staining

The procedure for staining and the solution preparation was carried out as previously described (Maganto-Garcia, Tarrio and Lichtman, 2012). Briefly, for a 0.5% Oil Red O solution, 3 grams of Oil red O (ORO) were saturated in 10 mL of isopropanol for three

days, the solution was centrifuged for 15 min at 900 x G, and the supernatant was diluted in a 6:4 ratio with dH_20 and filtered through 0.45 mm filter.

The aortas were washed overnight in PBS at 4°C and dehydrated for 2 min in propylene glycol. The aortas were incubated for 2 h at room temperature in 5 mL of 0.5% ORO solution on a tube roller. The excess staining was removed in four washes with 85% propylene glycol for 1 minute each, thus differentiating the lesions from the aortic wall. Aortas were washed in 5 mL PBS overnight in PBS on a tube roller at 4°C.

Lastly, the aortas were cut open to expose their inner face, and atherosclerotic plaques were exposed and pinned onto silicon-elastomers plates using stainless steel minutien pins. Pictures were acquired, and the number of plaques on the inside surface of the aorta were counted (Fig. 2.15).

2.3. Experimental Design

Based on the preclinical studies published up to date and the promising results of pilot clinical trials, it is worth further exploring the effect of fingolimod and expanding the quality of the preclinical research because there is still a need for better quality research. The two meta-analyses have demonstrated that the overall quality of the preclinical studies evaluating fingolimod is low, and these studies often lack controls for factors that increase internal or external bias (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012). To address these shortcomings in the literature, many have recommended using power calculations, randomisations and blinding to address the internal biases. Other recommendations address the external biases by adding diversity models, either by comorbidities or evaluating both sexes in one study (Mergenthaler and Meisel, 2012). This first section of the methods will focus on the measures adopted to reduce internal bias in these studies.

2.3.1. Sample Size Calculation

The sample size was calculated a priori based on an estimated effect size from a metaanalysis that evaluated the efficacy of fingolimod in different animal models of stroke from research publications between 2009 and 2011 (Liu et al., 2012). The sample size calculation was performed for an unpaired t-test comparing the stroke lesion size between saline-treated (control) and fingolimod-treated groups. G*Power (Faul et al., 2009) was used to perform the *a priori* power calculation. The data variability was chosen to be equal between the groups, assuming alpha=0.05, power=0.80, and allocation ratio 1:1, resulting in 15 mice/group required for each study.

2.3.2. Exclusion Criteria

Exclusion criteria were predetermined for all mice undergoing experimental procedures; mice that did not meet the criteria were euthanised.

1. Mice that were not in good health prior to initiation of experimentation were excluded (good health: animals without fight wounds, signs of infection, wasting or

malocclusion);

- During surgery, mice that did not have an MCA bifurcation or had fine branches of the MCA (affecting lesion size), were excluded;
- 3. During surgery, mice that had an uncontrollable haemorrhage following the MCA occlusion (by electrocautery or thrombin injection) or had damage to the cortex, were excluded;
- 4. For the thromboembolic stroke, mice that did not have a reduction in cerebral blood flow \leq 90%; and mice that did not have a stable clot for up to 10 minutes following the needle retraction were excluded.

Mice that passed the first set of exclusion criteria could then be excluded from the data analysis under the following circumstances:

- 1. Mice that did not wake up after the surgical procedure, from either ischaemic or haemorrhage surgeries, or that did not survive to the last experimental endpoint;
- 2. Mice that did not have a measurable lesion in histological slides;
- 3. Mice from which histological brain sections were damaged during processing;
- 4. Mice that had incomplete histological or behaviour datasets.

2.3.3. Randomisation and Blinding

Randomisation:

All mice allocations were randomly allocated to treatment groups prior to experimentation. The randomisation was done with a pseudorandom number generator (randomizer.org) that can generate various sequences based on how many numbers are required, the number of sets, and the range of numbers in a set (Fig. 2.16).

Mice were randomised into sets of two or three depending on the number of treatment groups. The number of sets were determined by the number of mice per group (Table 2.2). The allocation was revealed when mice had recovered from surgery, and the first dose was prepared. Mice euthanised prior to surgical recovery were excluded from randomisation assignment to prevent disparity in the total of animals assigned to each group.



Figure 2.16: Screen capture from the Randomizer website with options for generating random number sets.

Table 2.2: Example of randomisation (where 1 and 2 are the treatment groups and the group size is 15).

15 sets of 2 unique numbers per set						
Range: from 1 to 2						
Set 1	Set 2	Set 3	Set 4	Set 5	Set 6	
1	2	1	1	2	1	
2	1	2	2	1	2	••••

Blinding:

Blinding and coding were performed by a researcher not involved with the study. The researcher carrying out the surgeries and dosing remained blinded. Furthermore, the analyses were blinded, as the researcher doing the analyses was unaware of the animal's allocation, and the blinding was decoded after the completion of the analysis.

2.3.4. Data Analysis and Statistical Tests

Our studies collected various data types (i.e., ordinal and continuous). The primary outcomes were lesion size and behavioural scores. Secondary outcome measures were the scoresheet data that included weights, appearance, behaviour and neuro-scores.

The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to evaluate the data distribution, and the ROUT method (Q=1%) was used to screen for outliers. The appropriate statistical test was selected to assess differences between groups based on the normal distribution or lack thereof.

Kaplan-Meier visualised the time to death (survival) after stroke (ischaemic and haemorrhagic), and statistical differences between groups were assessed using a Gehan-Breslow test. One-way and two-way ANOVA were used to compare multiple variables, and repeated measures ANOVA to evaluate variables over time. All p values are reported, and a p<0.05 was accepted as significant. Analyses and graphing were done with Prism 9 (GraphPad Software v9.3.1). Once the data were analysed, researchers were unblinded to the treatment allocation.

2.3.5. Drug Preparation and Dosing

Fingolimod hydrochloride (Novartis) solutions were prepared in saline and titrated to pH 7.0. The concentration was based on the weight of the mice and a maximum target volume of 250 μ L for intraperitoneal injection in mice. The average weight of the mice varied depending on the study; thus, the concentration of the solution varied between studies — in the case of the aged mice, a solution of 1 mg/mL concentration was prepared to account for their higher average weight.

The drug solutions were prepared in advance, and their identity was concealed by a researcher not involved in the project. The tubes were delivered to the investigator performing the surgery and administering the treatment at the appropriate time points. Dosage was calculated for every mouse based on their body weight.

2.4. Experimental Studies

Fingolimod was evaluated for stroke treatment in a series of studies. Briefly, the first study used a model of intracerebral haemorrhage to characterise the effect of 0.5 mg/kg of fingolimod in a long-term recovery study.

The second set of studies were performed using the electrocautery ischaemic stroke model. We conducted a dose-response study to establish the best dosage for ischaemic stroke treatment with this model. The dose-response was followed up with the characterisation of the effect of fingolimod on stroke in two comorbid states, age and hyperlipidaemia. Lastly, a study was performed to evaluate the effects of longer treatment durations on stroke lesion size and recovery. This section describes each study design and the timeline of the studies.

2.4.1. Intracerebral Haemorrhage

Study

This study aimed to evaluate the effect of fingolimod in a model of haemorrhagic stroke. This study used male and female C57Bl/6J mice (7-8 weeks of age) to evaluate the effect of a 3-day treatment with fingolimod on a 14-day recovery study following ICH.

Male and female mice were operated on the same day to reduce the effect of day-today variability. Treatment with saline and 0.5 mg/kg of fingolimod was administered 30 min post-stroke induction, followed by doses at 24 and 48 h. The dose was selected because it was previously reported to be effective in a long-term study (Lu et al., 2014).

Time-Point	Task
-10 d	Minimum acclimatisation period;
-3 d	Baseline behaviour (cylinder, foot fault, wire-hanging);
0 d	Surgical induction of a haemorrhagic stroke;
t = 0-30 min	Mice were allowed to recover for 30 min in an incubator prior
	to being returned to their home cage;
t = 0.5 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
24 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
48 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
6 d	Behaviour: cylinder test;
7 d	Behaviour: foot fault and wire-hanging tests;
13 d	Behaviour: cylinder test;
14 d	Behaviour: foot fault and wire-hanging tests;
	Euthanasia and tissue collection.

Table 2.3: ICH experimental timeline

2.4.2. Dose-Response Study in

Ischaemic Stroke

The overall aim of this study was to determine the optimal dose of fingolimod for the treatment of ischaemic stroke in mice. Mice received one of 3 treatments; vehicle (saline), 0.5mg/kg fingolimod or 1mg/kg fingolimod administered intraperitoneally. These fingolimod concentrations were selected based on studies showing an effect in ischaemic stroke models (Liu et al., 2012). Treatment was administered 2, 24, and 48 h post-MCAo.

The dose-response study was performed twice. The first was performed using 100% oxygen, and the second instance was performed using 30% oxygen mixed with 70% nitrogen. The second dose-response study excluded the hanging wire test from the primary outcomes and included blood collection for FACS analyses as an additional secondary outcome.

Time-Point	Task
-10	Minimum acclimatisation period;
-3 d	Baseline behaviour (cylinder, foot fault, wire-hanging);
0 d	pMCAO surgery (electrocoagulation);
t = 30 min	Mice were allowed to recover in an incubator for 30 minutes and returned to their home cage;
t = 2 h	Drug treatment: Intraperitoneal injection;
24 h	Drug treatment: Intraperitoneal injection;
48 h	Drug treatment: Intraperitoneal injection;
3 d	Behaviour (cylinder, foot fault, wire-hanging);
7 d	Behaviour (cylinder, foot fault, wire-hanging); Euthanasia and tissue collection.

 Table 2.4: Dose-response experimental timeline

2.4.3. Effect of Anaesthetic Carrier Gas

This small study aimed to evaluate the effect of oxygen concentrations on ischaemic stroke injury in mice. This study was performed as a follow-up to the first dose-response study results because there might have been a floor effect caused by the protective effects of 100% O_2 that masked the effect of the fingolimod treatment.

This study involved mice operated under isoflurane anaesthetic evaporated with either 100% O_2 or a mixture with 30% O_2 and 70% N_2 . Male C57Bl/6 mice from Envigo were used at 14 weeks of age; n=6/per group.

Time-Point	Task
- 10 d	Minimum acclimatisation period;
- 3 d	Baseline behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
0 d	pMCAO surgery (Electrocautery);
30 min	Mice were allowed to recover in an incubator for 30 minutes
	and returned to their home cage;
3 d	Behaviour (cylinder, grid walking);
5 d	Behaviour (cylinder, grid walking);
	Euthanasia and tissue collection.

Table 2.5: Carrier gas experimental timeline

2.4.4. Treatment Duration Study

This study aimed to evaluate the effect of extended treatment duration with fingolimod (0.5mg/kg) in a mouse model of ischaemic stroke. This study had three experimental groups that received a daily intraperitoneal injection for ten days. The mice were randomised to one of three treatment regimens; a) 10 d of saline, b) 5 d of fingolimod followed by 5 d of saline or c) 10 d of fingolimod. The behaviour evaluation was performed with the foot fault test, as it had the most sensitivity in our hands for observing deficits and improvements.

Time-Point	Task		
-10 d	Minimum acclimatisation period;		
- 3 d	Baseline behaviour (foot fault);		
0 d	pMCAO surgery (electrocoagulation);		
30 min	Mice were allowed to recover in an incubator for 30		
	minutes and returned to their home cage;		
2 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
24 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
48 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
3 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
	Behaviour (foot fault);		
4 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
5 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
	Behaviour (foot fault);		
6 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
7 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
8 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
9 d	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;		
10 d	Behaviour (foot fault);		
	Euthanasia and tissue collection.		

Table 2.6: Treatment duration experimental timeline

2.4.5. Effect of Comorbidities

2.4.5.1. Age Study

This study aimed to evaluate the long-term effect of fingolimod treatment on ischaemic stroke in aged C57Bl6/J mice. Mice were kept in the animal facility for 13 weeks to reach the target age of 71-73 weeks at the time of surgery. Vehicle (saline) or fingolimod (0.5 mg/kg) were delivered intraperitoneal 2, 24 and 48 h after stroke induction. Behavioural assessment was completed at baseline, 3 and 7 d post-op (cylinder and foot fault).

Time-Point	Task
-10 d	Minimum acclimatisation period;
- 3 d	Baseline behaviour (cylinder, grid walking);
0 d	pMCAO surgery (electrocoagulation model);
30 min	Mice were allowed to recover in an incubator for 30 minutes
	and returned to their home cage;
t = 2 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
24 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
48 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
3 d	Behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
7 d	Behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
	Euthanasia and tissue collection.

 Table 2.7: Aged study experimental timeline

2.4.5.2. Hyperlipidaemia Study

This study aimed to evaluate the effect of the optimal dose of fingolimod in a model of ischaemic stroke induced in ApoE-/- mice fed a high-fat diet for 12 weeks to induce hyperlipidaemia. Mice received one of 2 treatments, intraperitoneal vehicle (saline) or fingolimod (0.5 mg/kg), at 2, 24, and 48 h post ischaemic stroke.

Time-Point	Task
-14 to 13 weeks	Minimum acclimatisation period;
-12 weeks	Initiation of the high-fat diet;
- 3 d	Baseline behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
0 d	pMCAO surgery (electrocoagulation model);
30 min	Mice were allowed to recover in an incubator for 30 minutes
	and returned to their home cage;
2 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
24 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
48 h	Drug treatment: intraperitoneal injection;
3 d	Behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
	Behaviour (cylinder and grid walking);
7 d	Euthanasia and tissue collection.

Table 2.8: Hyperlipidaemia experimental timeline

Chapter 3

Results

This chapter presents the results of the preclinical studies performed to evaluate fingolimod to inform translation into large clinical trials. The overall chapter is divided into eight sections. The results are presented in the order in which the studies were performed.

First, we established a model of intracerebral haemorrhage and evaluated whether three administrations of fingolimod (0.5 mg/kg, at 30 min, 24, and 48 h) affected recovery 14 d after stroke. Then we proceeded to establish an ischaemic stroke model. We had planned to establish a thromboembolic model with in situ thrombin injection to block blood flow in the MCA region. However, the technical challenges discussed herein had us shift to another stroke model. We established an electrocautery stroke model, wherein the MCA is cauterised, and blood flow is permanently blocked.

The electrocautery stroke model was used to determine the best fingolimod dosage in a dose-response study. The optimal dose was evaluated in a treatment duration study to determine if an extended treatment duration of 5 or 10 d was better for stroke recovery. Lastly, the effect of an optimal fingolimod dose was evaluated in two studies on stroke models with comorbidities; one on aged mice and another on hyperlipidaemic mice.

3.1. The Effect of Fingolimod on

Intracerebral Haemorrhage

The results in this section have been copied from the published manuscript, with minor adaptations, to include unpublished data collected from scoresheets.

Diaz Diaz, A. C., Shearer, J. A., Malone, K., and Waeber, C. (2021). Acute Treatment With Fingolimod Does Not Confer Long-Term Benefit in a Mouse Model of Intracerebral Haemorrhage. Front Pharmacol 11, 613103. DOI:10.3389/fphar.2020.613103

Survival and recovery

The intracerebral study used 91 mice distributed across four groups, male and female, with a treatment (0.5 mg/kg fingolimod) and vehicle control. Mice that were found in distress (e.g., due to weight loss >20%, significant mobility problems and poor neuroscore) were humanely euthanised (Fig. 3.1.1). Most deaths occurred within three d of surgery (Fig. 3.1.2a), with none occurring after five days. There was a significant difference in survival between all the groups ($X^2(3)=10.88$, p=0.012). Male mice showed no treatment-related difference ($X^2(1)=0.81$, p=0.37), yet there was an increase in the survival odds of fingolimod-treated compared to saline-treated female mice ($X^2(1)=4.6$, p=0.032). When comparing saline-treated groups, male mice had higher survival odds than females ($X^2(1)=7.23$, p=0.007). Fingolimod-treated mice showed no difference in survival ($X^2(1)=0.001$, p= 0.97).


Figure 3.1.1: Mouse allocation in the intracerebral haemorrhage study: Ninety-one mice were used in the ICH study; 24 mice died before the 14-day experimental endpoint, and three were excluded from survival analysis because they did not have a lesion. Four additional mice were excluded from histology and behavioural analysis (three brains were damaged during the processing and one lesion size was an extreme outlier).

As expected, the weight of the mice varied over time (Fig. 3.1.2b), but there was no treatment effect and no interaction between time and treatment variables. Male and female mice from both treatment groups experienced a significant weight loss one day after surgery (Male Saline mean-diff=2.96g, 1.51 to 4.33, p=0.0002; M-Fingolimod mean-diff= 2.66, 1.19 to 4.12, p=0.0003; Female S mean-diff=2.48g, 1.68 to 3.47, p<0.0001; FF mean-diff= 2.21, 1.56 to 3.08, p<0.0001). Both groups of male mice regained the weight lost by day 3 (MS mean-diff=1.64g, -1.12 to 4.42, p>0.99; MF mean-diff=1.68, -0.67 to 3.96, p=0.36), but female mice took a day longer to regain the weight lost after stroke (FS mean diff=1.48, -0.03 to 3.01, p=0.055; FF mean diff=1.39, -0.63 to 3.16, p=0.25).

Fingolimod did not affect lesion volume.

Stained brain sections were scanned and quantified; mice that did not have a quantifiable lesion were excluded from the analysis (Fig. 3.1.1). Some lesion size datasets were not normally distributed; hence all lesion sizes were evaluated with a Mann-Whitney test (Fig. 3.1.3). Lesion size comparisons were carried out independently between treatment groups of the same sex because the study was not powered to detect sex-related differences. Fingolimod treatment had no significant effect on lesion sizes measured either with H&E (male diff= 0.14, -0.58 to 0.81, p=0.56, female diff=0.09, -0.31 to 0.63, p=0.88) or with NeuN staining (male diff=0.74, -0.53 to 1.57, p=0.41, female diff= 0.97, -0.79 to 1.42, p>0.99) (Fig. 3.1.2c-f). Additionally, we measured the size of the ipsilateral

to contralateral ventricle and calculated the ratio to estimate tissue loss (Barratt, Lanman and Carmichael, 2014). This ratio (measured on H&E stained sections) did not show any differences between treatment groups (male diff=-0.12, -0.42 to 0.87, p=0.51, female diff=0.14, -0.67 to 0.33, p=0.64) (Fig. 3.1.3b).



Figure 3.1.2: (a): Kaplan-Meir survival graph; female mice treated with fingolimod had a higher survival proportion than vehicle-treated mice, and vehicle-treated male mice had a higher chance of survival than their female counterparts. (b): Weights over time are shown as mean \pm SD (for clarity, the fingolimod error bars are drawn above in grey, and vehicle error bars are drawn below in black). Significant differences: * male saline compared to baseline; & male fingolimod compared to baseline; # female saline compared to baseline; \$ female fingolimod compared to baseline. Photomicrographs of NeuN stained section representative ICH-induced damage at 14 d in saline-(c) and fingolimod-treated male mice (d), in saline-(e) and fingolimod-treated female mice (f). All images were taken at the level of the anterior commissure. Lesions in all four tissue sections are outlined in black. Scale bar: 1 mm.



Figure 3.1.3: Histological damage quantification after intracerebral haemorrhage. Lesion size was measured on (a) NeuN-stained sections and (b) Haematoxylin/Eosin-stained sections. The ipsi- to contralateral ventricle size ratio (c) was measured on Haematoxylin/Eosin-stained sections. Values are shown as median \pm 95% CI. Fingolimod treatment had no significant effect on any of these measurements.

Behavioural response to treatment

The cylinder test evaluates forelimb usage when exploring the sides of the cylinder; a score closer to 0 represents symmetrical limb usage, while a positive value suggests a predominant usage of the right limb (i.e., ipsilateral and hence not directly affected by the brain lesion). There was no effect of time (p=0.92) or treatment (p=0.51) on the cylinder

test scores of male mice, and there was no significant interaction between these independent variables (p=0.08). A similar lack of effect was seen in female mice (treatment: p=0.872; time: p=0.062; interaction: p=0.073) (Fig. 3.1.4a). There was a significant improvement in the score of saline-treated females between week 1 and week 2 (mean-diff=0.13, 0.01 to 0.26, p=0.024), but not in the fingolimod group (mean-diff=0.002, -0.11 to 0.12, p>0.99).

The foot fault test score represents the agility of the mice while crossing a grid; lower ratios represent a better score (Fig. 3.1.4b). Neither time (male: p=0.31; female: p=0.57), nor treatment (male: p=0.93; female: p=0.54) affected foot fault test scores, and there was no significant interaction between these variables (male: p=0.23; female: p=0.58).

Lastly, the wire hanging test evaluates dexterity and the ability of the mice to use their forepaws to balance and walk off the wire (Fig. 3.1.4c), with higher scores indicating better recovery. There was no treatment-related difference in male mice at week one or week two (diff=-1, -2 to 1, p=0.43; diff=0, -2 to 0, p=0.63), or in female mice at either time points (diff=1, 0 to 2, p=0.22; diff=0, -1 to 0, p=0.31).



Figure 3.1.4: Behavioural test scores at two time points after intracerebral haemorrhage: (\circ) saline-treated males, (\bullet) fingolimod-treated males, (\diamond) saline-treated females. (\diamond) fingolimod-treated females. Mice were assessed using the cylinder test (a): left panel males, right panel females tested 6 and 13 d after collagenase injection. They were assessed using the foot fault test (b) left panel males, right panel females tested 7 and 14 d after collagenase injection. Finally, their performance in the wire hanging test (c) left panel males, right panel females assessed on the same d as the foot fault test. Scores in (a) and (b) are shown as means \pm SD, while wire hanging scores (c) are shown as medians \pm 95% confidence intervals. There was no difference between the scores of saline- and fingolimod-treated mice.

Lymphocyte counts

To confirm drug delivery and the expected effect of fingolimod on circulating lymphocytes, we measured CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ cells in blood samples. An unpaired t-test was performed to evaluate the mean difference in the lymphocyte populations between fingolimod and saline-treated mice (Fig. 3.1.5). There was a significant difference in CD3+ cell counts between fingolimod and saline-treated animals (mean-diff=321,601 cells, CI= 25,499 to 617,703, p=0.039). The CD4+ and CD8+

subpopulations were also significantly different between fingolimod and saline-treated mice with a 76% and 94% reduction respectively (CD4+ mean-diff=73,252 cells, 15,843 to 330,661, p=0.038; CD8+ mean-diff= 116,886 cells, 390.6 to 233,381, p=0.049).



Figure 3.1.6: Scoresheet results for intracerebral haemorrhage study: (\circ) saline-treated males, (\bullet) fingolimod-treated males, (\diamond) saline-treated females, (\bullet) fingolimod-treated females. (a) Appearance scores over time, female mice were slower to recover and regain the ability to groom themselves. (b) Behaviour scores: Male and female saline-treated mice were slower to recover to a normal behaviour score. (c) Neurological score: all mice show a neurological deficit 14 d after ICH. The median score is plotted without error bars for clarity.

Scoresheet data

In addition to the published data, we collected daily scores after surgery to monitor recovery. The appearance, behaviour, and neuro-scores were collected and analysed by repeated-measures ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser correction for non-parametric data. No effect was associated with treatment in any of the scores (Fig. 3.1.6). Bonferroni-corrected multiple comparisons revealed no effect between treatment groups. Both male and female mice recovered at a similar rate in appearance and behaviour scores, and no differences were observed in the neuro-scores.

3.2. Effects of Fingolimod on Ischaemic Stroke in a Dose-Response Study

Survival and recovery

In a permanent focal ischaemic stroke model, fifty-three mice were used to study a dose-response with fingolimod. Five mice were humanely euthanised during surgery either due to complications with the electrocautery procedure or variations in the MCA anatomy that would lead to smaller lesions. The surviving 48 mice were randomised into the three treatment groups with a final n = 16 per group. All mice recovered well, and none required euthanasia in the 1-week observation period after surgery.

Effect of fingolimod on lesion size and hemispheric volume

Brain sections were stained with Cresyl violet. The stained sections were used to measure lesion size and hemispheric volumes (Fig. 3.2.1). There was no difference in lesion size between the treatment groups (Fig. 3.2.2a). There was no difference between treatment groups when comparing hemispheric volume changes (Fig. 3.2.2b).



Figure 3.2.1: Representative imaged of Cresyl violet stained brain sections from (a) saline, (b) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod, and (c) 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod treated mice. Scale bar 1 mm.



Figure 3.2.2: (a) Lesion size measured in mm³ from Cresyl violet stained brain sections showed no difference between treatment groups. (b) Difference between the ipsi- and contralateral hemispheric volume showed neither oedema nor atrophy in any of the groups; n=16 for all groups (mean \pm SD); ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.001.

Effect of fingolimod on behaviour

Cylinder scores were analysed by two-way ANOVA and showed no associatedtreatment effect (p=0.334). Mice treated with a lower and higher dose of fingolimod both scored significantly worse than baseline on day 3 (p=0.017, p<0.0001), and they had a significant recovery by day 7 compared to day-3 scores (p=0.011, p<0.0001). There was no difference over time in the saline-treated mice, and no significant improvement was observed when comparing treatment groups (Fig. 3.2.3a).

The results for the foot fault test revealed that all mice scored significantly worse than baseline on days 3 and 7 (Fig. 3.2.3b). The wire hanging test did not show any differences between the treatment groups over time or within treatment groups (Fig. 3.2.3c) and was not used in subsequent studies.



Figure 3.2.3: Dose-response study behaviour test results comparing saline, 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod and 1 mg/kg fingolimod treatment at baseline (i.e., before stroke), 3 and 5 d after stroke with arrows representing the direction for better performance (a) Cylinder test results: saline-treated mice show almost no deficit, and both fingolimod-treated groups developed a behavioural deficit after stroke that resolved by day 7. (b) Grid walking scores: mice in all groups developed a measurable behavioural deficit at three days after stroke. (c) Hanging wire test: there was no difference in the test results between groups over time. Mean \pm SD, n=16 for all groups; ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ***p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Supplementary data collected

Although the studies were not powered to use these measurements as indicators of the effect of fingolimod, the data collected from the post-procedure scoresheets were used to monitor recovery. Mice, as expected, had a significant drop in body weight after the stroke compared to baseline (saline p=0.003; 0.5 mg/kg p=0.0003; 1.0 mg/kg p<0.0001) (Fig. 3.2.4a). All mice recovered from their post stroke weight loss at different rates. Bonferroni multiple comparisons showed that the low dose group (0.5 mg/kg) regained significant weight by day two (p=0.040), the higher dose (1.0 mg/kg) recovered by day four (p<0.0001) and saline by day six (p<0.0001) after stroke.



Figure 3.2.4: (a) Body weight over time, measured starting on the day of surgery. Fingolimod-treated mice regained weight faster than saline-treated mice, irrespective of concentration (mean \pm SD). One directional error bar for clarity: saline upper, 0.5 mg/kg light grey lower and 1.0 mg/kg black down. (b) Appearance score indicating low dose mice recovered faster than both higher dose and saline groups; (c) Behaviour score showing mice in both fingolimod treatment groups recovered faster than control groups; (d) Neuro-score there was no difference between groups. Median without error bars for clarity in figures b, c and d.

The other secondary data collected were appearance, behaviour, and neurological scores. The data were analysed by two-way ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser correction for non-parametric data. Appearance scores (Fig. 3.2.4b) showed that mice treated with 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod recovered a day faster (day 1 vs day 4 p=0.004) than saline (day 1

vs day 5 p=0.0004) and 1.0mg/kg fingolimod treated mice (day 1 vs day 5 p< 0.0001). Behaviour scores revealed that both fingolimod treated groups recovered faster (day 1 vs day 3: 0.5 mg/kg p=0.0002; 1.0 mg/kg p=0.0004) than saline-treated mice which recovered by day 4 (p=0.0004) (Fig. 3.2.4c). Lastly, the neuro-score did not reveal any differences between the treatment groups or any changes in the recovery over time (Fig. 3.2.4d).

3.3. Effects of Anaesthetic Delivery Gas on Stroke Lesion Size

Sixteen C57BL/6 mice were used for this study. Four mice were euthanised before surgical recovery due to complications or unsuitable MCA anatomy, and twelve mice were operated under isoflurane anaesthesia using 100% oxygen or 70% nitrogen: 30% oxygen mixture as carrier gas (n=6 per group).

There was no difference in the lesion sizes between the two study groups (p=0.69) (Fig. 3.3.2). There was no difference in the cylinder or the grid walking test scores between groups. However, the grid test from both groups showed a functional deficit after stroke (Fig. 3.3.3).



Figure 3.3.1: Representative image of H&E stained brain sections from mice operated under (a) 100% oxygen and (b) 70% nitrogen: 30% oxygen mixture. Scale bar 1 mm.



Figure 3.3.2: Lesion size measurements. There was no difference in the lesion sizes in the anaesthetic delivery gas study comparing 100% oxygen or 70% nitrogen: 30% oxygen mixture. O₂: Oxygen; N₂: Nitrogen. Mean \pm SD, n=6, ns p> 0.05.



Figure 3.3.3: Behaviour results for the anaesthetic delivery gas baseline, 3 and 5 d after stroke with arrows representing the direction for better performance (a) Cylinder scores: show no significant deficit or recovery in both groups. (b) Grid walking score: mice in both groups performed significantly worse than baseline at 3 and 5 d after stroke. O₂: Oxygen; N₂: Nitrogen. Mean \pm SD, n=6, ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; *****p \leq 0.0001.

The scoresheet data monitoring recovery after stroke showed that mice in the 100% O_2 group did not have a significant weight drop following the surgery; however, mice in the gas mixture had a significantly lower weight than baseline on day 2 (p=0.0315) (Fig. 3.3.4a). The appearance of mice in the 100% O_2 group was generally better than those in the mixture group, and the repeated measures two-way ANOVA with Greenhouse-Geisser correction for non-parametric data revealed that the delivery gas (p=0.009) and time (p<0.0001) had significant effects on appearance (Fig. 3.3.4b). Similarly, behaviour scores were affected by time (p<0.0001), the interaction of time and delivery gas (p=0.01), but not delivery gas individually. Bonferroni corrected multiple comparisons revealed that the mice in the mixed gas performed significantly worse than the 100% O_2 on day two (p=0.05) (Fig. 3.3.4c). Lastly, the neuro-score analysis showed no difference between groups (Fig. 3.3.4d).



Figure 3.3.4: Scoresheet results n=6 per group (a) Mouse body weight over time (mean \pm SD) error bars in one direction for clarity above 100% O₂ group and below for the mixed gas; (b) Appearance scores; (c) Behaviour scores showing mice in the mixture group performing significantly worse than 100% oxygen; (d) Neuro-score: the data for both treatment groups overlaps. O₂: Oxygen; N₂: Nitrogen. Median score without error bars for clarity in figures b, c and d; ns p> 0.05; *p≤ 0.05; **p≤ 0.01; ****p≤ 0.001.

Effects on secondary outcomes measures showing that oxygen is protective suggest that oxygen might have interfered with the fingolimod treatment effect in the dose-response study. Thus, all the subsequent experiments were carried out using a mixture of 70% nitrogen and 30% oxygen for the anaesthetic delivery.

3.4. Effects of Fingolimod on Ischaemic Stroke in a Dose-Response Study Under 30% Oxygen

The data in this section are part of a published manuscript in Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Diaz Diaz, A.C., Malone, K., Shearer, J., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke with Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. Frontiers in Pharmacology. [online] Available at: <https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/>.

The re-evaluation of the dose-response study under 70% oxygen involved the use of 49 mice. During the surgical procedure, three mice were euthanised, another two mice were excluded from analysis as they had no ischaemic lesion, and one mouse was excluded due to damaged histological samples. There were 15 mice in the saline and 14 mice in the 0.5 mg/kg and 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod groups.

The lesion size was measured using H&E and NeuN immunohistochemistry stained sections (Fig. 3.4.1). The data were analysed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni corrected multiple comparisons. The lesion size measurements showed that saline-treated mice had significantly smaller lesion sizes compared to 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod-treated mice (H&E p=0.039; NeuN p=0.025). There was no difference between 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod compared to saline and or 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod for both histological stains (H&E saline vs. 1.0 mg/kg p=0.119, 0.5 mg/kg vs. 1.0 mg/kg p>0.9999; NeuN saline vs. 1.0 mg/kg vs. 1.0 mg/kg p=0.0999) (Fig. 3.4.2a).

The change in hemispheric volume analysis identified that saline-treated mice had a significantly greater degree of atrophy compared to 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod-treated mice (H&E p=0.042; NeuN p=0.040) (Fig. 3.4.2b), There was no difference between 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod and the saline or 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod groups. (H&E: saline vs. 1.0 mg/kg p>0.999; 0.5 mg/kg vs. 1.0 mg/kg p=0.267; NeuN: saline vs. 1.0 mg/kg p=0.463; 0.5 mg/kg vs. 1.0 mg/kg p=0.40.)



Figure 3.4.1: Representative images of brain section stained by immunohistochemistry with NeuN. (a) saline, (b) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (c) 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod treated mice. Scale bar 1 mm.



Figure 3.4.2: (a) Lesion size (mm³): 0.5 mg/kg treated mice had a significantly larger lesion size compared to saline; the 1 mg/kg treated mice showed no difference between the saline or 0.5 mg kg treated mice. (b) Change in hemispheric volumes: saline-treated mice had significantly more atrophy than 0.5 mg/kg treated mice, which was no different than 1 mg/kg treated mice. Data is organised by staining method, H&E to the left and NeuN to the right. Mean \pm SD \diamond Saline (n=15), \blacklozenge 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14), and \diamond 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14). ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Behavioural data were analysed using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni corrected multiple comparisons. The cylinder test multiple comparisons showed that mice treated with saline and 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod showed significantly worse performance on days 3 and 7 when compared to baseline (saline p=0.002, p=0.014; 0.5mg/kg p=0.034, p=0.005); and 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod group only scored significantly worse on day 3 (p=0.0004) when compared to baseline (day 7 p=0.16) (Fig. 3.4.3a). The grid walking test multiple comparisons showed a significantly worse performance when comparing baseline to days

3 and 7 for all treatment groups (Fig. 3.4.3b).



Figure 3.4.3: Behaviour score data from dose-response study under lower oxygen levels. Data shows baseline, 3 and 7 d after stroke with arrows representing the direction of improved (better) performance. (a) Cylinder test scores for saline and 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod treated mice performed worse than baseline three and seven days after stroke, and 1 mg/kg treated mice performed significantly worse three days after stroke but not seven days after stroke. (b) Grid walking scores: mice from all groups performed significantly worse at 3 and 7 days compared to baseline. Mean \pm SD. (\diamond) Saline (n=15); (\diamond) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14); (\diamond)1.0 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14). ns p> 0.05, *p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.001, ****p \leq 0.0001.

Supplementary to the primary data, we collected weight, behaviour, appearance and neurological scores as part of the daily monitoring of mice after stroke. Mice from all treatment groups lost significant weight after stroke compared to baseline (Fig. 3.4.4a). There was no difference between treatment groups in the amount of weight loss or recovery. Ultimately, all mice significantly improved their weight on day 7 after stroke compared to their baseline scores (saline p=0.018, 0.5 mg/kg p=0.003, 1.0 mg/kg p=0.033). The appearance scores in figure 3.4.4b revealed no difference between treatment groups and that all mice, irrespective of treatment group, improved their grooming behaviour by day three compared to their day one scores (saline p=0.021, 0.5 mg/kg p=0.019, 1.0 mg/kg p=0.019).

The daily behaviour scores suggested different recovery rates between treatment

groups, yet there was no statistical significance (Fig. 3.4.4c). Fingolimod treated groups significantly improved by day four compared to their day one scores (0.5 mg/kg p=0.019, 1.0 mg/kg p=0.019), and saline-treated mice took longer to significantly improve (p=0.037). Lastly, the neuro-score remained unchanged irrespective of treatment (Fig. 3.4.4d).



Figure 3.4.4: Scoresheet data median scores; (a) Body weight: all treatment groups experienced a significant weight loss after stroke that did not improve until day 7 (mean \pm SD). (b) Appearance improved by day three without influence from treatments. (c) Behaviour scores: there was no difference in recovery between treatment groups. (d) Neuro-scores: remained unchanged from day one through day 7 for all groups. (\diamond) Saline (n=15), (\blacklozenge) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14), (\diamond) 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14). Median score without error bars for clarity. ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Additionally, the number of lymphocytes were measured at the end of the study to confirm that the fingolimod treatment had been effective. Three-day treatment with fingolimod caused a significant drop in lymphocytes in both 0.5 mg/kg and 1.0 mg/kg treatment groups compared to saline-treated mice (Fig. 3.4.5). There was no difference in the lymphocyte counts between the two different fingolimod doses.



Figure 3.4.5: Fingolimod-treated mice from either dose had significantly lower CD3-, CD4-, and CD8-positive lymphocyte counts compared to saline-treated mice. (\diamond) Saline (n=15), (\diamond) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (n=15), (\diamond) 1.0 mg/kg fingolimod (n=14). Mean \pm SD ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.001.

3.5. Effect of a Longer Fingolimod Treatment Duration on Ischaemic Stroke

The data in this section are part of a published manuscript in Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Diaz Diaz, A.C., Malone, K., Shearer, J., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke with Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. Frontiers in Pharmacology. [online] Available at: <https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/>.

The evaluation of the effect of different fingolimod treatment durations involved 51 mice. Three mice were euthanised during surgery, and the surviving 48 mice were randomly allocated to either saline, 5-day, or 10-day fingolimod for an n=16 per group.

Lesion size was measured from NeuN stained sections (Fig. 3.5.1). There were no differences between treatment groups in lesion sizes or atrophy (Fig. 3.5.2a & b). The grid test scores (Fig. 3.5.2c) were analysed by two-way ANOVA and showed no treatment effect. Bonferroni corrected within-group comparisons showed that saline-treated mice scored significantly worse on days 2, 5 and 10 after stroke (p=0.002, p=0.001, p=0.0006). On the other hand, 5-day fingolimod-treated mice only scored worse on day two compared to their baseline score (p=0.0004, p=0.056, p=0.439), and 10-day fingolimod-treated mice showed no difference at any time post-stroke compared to baseline (p=0.18, p=0.058, p=0.14).



Figure 3.5.1: Representative images of brain sections stained with immunohistochemistry to detect NeuN: (a) saline; (b) 5 d fingolimod and 5 d saline; and (c) 10 d fingolimod. Scale bar 1 mm.

The supplemental scoresheet data for body weight, appearance, behaviour, and neuro-

score (Fig. 3.5.3) were analysed by two-way ANOVA. Bonferroni corrected comparison showed no differences in body weight between the treatment groups. Within-group comparisons revealed that all mice had a significantly lower weight 24 h after surgery compared to their starting weight (saline: p=0.001, 5-days fingolimod: p=0.005, 10-days fingolimod: p=0.008) (Fig. 3.5.3a). By day two, the mice in the 10-day treatment group were no longer significantly lighter, as opposed to the saline and the 5-day fingolimod groups that remained significantly lighter than baseline (saline: p=0.0004, 5-days fingolimod: p=0.011, 10-days fingolimod: p=0.080).

The appearance scores revealed no differences between groups (Fig. 3.5.3b). Withingroup comparisons showed that mice in the 5-day fingolimod-treated group had a significant improvement by day five compared to day one scores (p=0.001), the 10-day fingolimod-treated group improved by day six (p=0.012) and saline by day seven (p=0.001). The behaviour scores showed that all but the 10-day fingolimod-treated group scored better than day one at the end of the study without differences between the groups (saline: p=0.024, 5 days fingolimod: p=0.004, 10 days fingolimod: p=0.256). Lastly, the neuro-scores did not change over time within treatment groups.



Figure 3.5.2: (a) Lesion size: there was no difference in the lesion size between the treatment groups. (b) Change in hemispheric volumes: all mice had significant atrophy without differences between groups. (c) Grid scores: saline-treated mice performed worse than baseline on days 3, 5 and 10; mice treated with fingolimod for five days perfumed worse than baseline two days after strokes, and mice treated with fingolimod for 10 days did not perform worse than baseline after stroke. (\diamond)Saline (n=16); (\blacklozenge)5-days fingolimod (n=16); (\diamondsuit)10-days fingolimod (n=16). Mean \pm SD, ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.



Figure 3.5.3: Scoresheet graphical report. (a) Body weight comparison between treatment groups revealed no difference. Mean with SD draw in one direction for clarity, above: saline grey, and 5-day black; below 10-day grey. (b) Appearance: there was a significant improvement in the score of the 5-day fingolimod group by day five, by day six for the 10-day treatment and by day 7 for the saline group. (c) Behaviour: all mice in the 10-day fingolimod treatment group improved their behaviour scores by day ten after stroke. (d) Neuro-score: there was no difference between treatment groups. (\diamond)Saline (n=16); (\diamond) 5-days fingolimod (n=16). Median scores without error bars for clarity in figures b, c and d.

Additionally, the number of circulating CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocyte counts was measured at the end of the study. Fingolimod treated mice from both treatment durations had significantly lower CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ cells in blood compared to the saline-treated mice (Fig. 3.5.4). Mice receiving 10 days of fingolimod had significantly lower CD3+ cells compared to mice treated for 5 days, and there was no difference in the CD4+ and CD8+ cell counts.



Figure 3.5.4: Fingolimod-treated mice that received 5 days or 10 days of daily doses with 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod had significantly lower CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocyte counts compared to saline-treated mice. The 10-day treated mice had a significantly lower count of CD3+ cells compared to the 5-day treated mice, yet there was no difference in the CD4+ and CD8+ cell counts. (\diamond) Saline (n=13); (\blacklozenge) 5-days fingolimod (n=14); (\bullet) 10-days fingolimod (n=14). Mean \pm SD ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; *****p \leq 0.0001.

3.6. Effect of Stroke Comorbidities

The data in this section are part of a published manuscript in Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Diaz Diaz, A.C., Malone, K., Shearer, J., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke with Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. Frontiers in Pharmacology. [online] Available at: <https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/>.

3.6.1. Effect of Fingolimod Treatment on

Ischaemia in Aged Mice

Survival and recovery

The evaluation of fingolimod for the treatment of stroke in aged mice involved 33 male C57BL/6NCrl mice at 59 weeks of age. Mice were allowed to acclimatise prior to any procedure, and during the first week in the new facility, one mouse was euthanised. The remaining 32 mice were 72-73 weeks (18 months) of age at the time of the experimental procedures. During surgery, two mice were euthanised due to surgical complications. The recovering mice were randomised into saline or 0.5 mg/kg treatment groups.

Three mice were euthanised at 2, 4 and 5 days during the 7-day observation period because they reached the cut-off score for a humane endpoint; they all belonged to the saline group. A Log-rank test of the survival curve revealed a trend for improved survival odds for mice treated with fingolimod (p=0.072) (Fig. 3.6.1.1). Two other mice were excluded during the data analysis from each treatment group due to evidence of excessive bleeding in the brain sections (M=22/03 #07 and #33), leaving 11 mice in the saline group and 14 in the fingolimod group.



Figure 3.6.1.1: Kaplan Meier survival curve of aged mice undergoing unilateral permanent distal MCA occlusion. Mice were treated for three days with saline or 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod. p=0.0730. \diamondsuit Saline (n=11), \blacklozenge fingolimod (n=14)

Effects on lesion size

Brains collected from saline and fingolimod treated mice sectioned and stained with H&E or NeuN (Fig. 3.6.1.3) showed no difference in the lesion size between treatment groups (Fig. 3.6.1.2a). The hemispheric volume change showed a significant difference between treatment groups, with fingolimod-treated mice having a larger reduction of the ipsilateral hemisphere volume, suggesting increased hemispheric atrophy in this group (Fig. 3.6.1.2b).



Figure 3.6.1.3: Representative images of aged mice treated with (a) saline and (b) fingolimod stained by immunohistochemistry for NeuN. Scale bar 1 mm.



Figure 3.6.1.2: (a) Lesion size showed no difference between aged mice treated with saline or fingolimod. (b) Change in hemisphere volumes: fingolimod treated aged mice experienced significant atrophy compared to saline-treated aged mice (H&E p=0.004, NeuN p=0.003). (\diamond)Saline (n=11), (\blacklozenge)fingolimod (n=14). Mean \pm SD, ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; *****p \leq 0.001.

Behaviour effects

The cylinder test did not expose any differences in the recovery between treatment groups (Fig. 3.6.1.4a). The two-way ANOVA post-hoc multiple comparisons showed no difference in performance between baseline and day 3; saline and fingolimod treatment groups performed significantly worse than their baseline measurement on day 7.

The foot fault analysis with two-way ANOVA with post-hoc multiple comparisons showed that saline-treated mice performed significantly worse on day 3 (p=0.013) and day 7 when compared to baseline (p<0.0001). Fingolimod treated mice also performed significantly worse on days 3 and 7 when compared to baseline (p<0.0001; p=0.003); however, mice in the saline group performed significantly worse than fingolimod treated mice on day 7 (p=0.016) (Fig. 3.6.1.4b).



Figure 3.6.1.4: Aged behaviour tests: (a) Cylinder test showed no difference between the treatment groups. Saline-treated aged mice performed worse than baseline on day seven, and fingolimod-treated aged mice performed worse than baseline on days three and seven. (b) Grid test: fingolimod treated aged mice performed better than saline-treated mice on day seven. Saline-treated aged mice performed worse than baseline on day three and significantly worse than day seven. Fingolimod treated aged mice performed worse than baseline on day three and significantly worse than baseline on days three and seven. (\diamond)Saline (n=11), (\blacklozenge)fingolimod (n=14). Mean \pm SD, ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ***p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Supplementary results

The supplementary data collected from the scoresheets involved the weight, appearance, behaviour, and neuro-scores of all mice, including mice that did not survive the 7-day observation period (Fig. 3.6.1.5). The weights of the mice were analysed by mixed-effect analysis due to missing values of the mice that were euthanised, with Bonferroni corrected multiple comparisons. Comparison between groups revealed no differences in any of the parameters.



Figure 3.6.1.5: Scoresheet data (a) Body weight over time: there was no difference in weight loss or recovery between treatment groups. Mean \pm SD with fingolimod error bar above and saline error bar below for clarity. There was no difference in scores between groups in the (b) Appearance, (c) Behaviour or (d) Neuro-scores. Median without error bars for clarity. (\diamond) Saline (n=11) and (\blacklozenge) fingolimod (n=14).

Within-group comparisons revealed that saline-treated mice were significantly lighter than baseline throughout the seven days. The mice showed a continuous decline in their weight following surgery, which is reflected in the significant differences between day one and day six (p=0.037). Fingolimod treated mice had a significant weight loss between baseline and day seven without a protracted weight loss (day one vs day two p=>0.9999) (Fig. 3.6.1.5a). Appearance scores showed a difference in the recovery over time wherein mice in the fingolimod group significantly improved by day 5 (p=0.021), and mice treated with saline had a significant improvement by day six (p=0.013) compared to their day one scores (Fig. 3.6.1.5b). Behaviour and neuro-score analysis revealed no difference in the recovery rates between treatment groups (Fig. 3.6.1.5c & d).

Lastly, we evaluated the number of CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocyte counts in the blood of the aged mice at the end of the study (Fig. 3.6.1.4). Mice in the fingolimod-treated groups had significantly lower lymphocyte counts compared to saline-treated mice seven days after stroke.



Figure 3.6.1.4: Fingolimod-treated aged mice had significantly lower CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocyte counts compared to saline-treated aged mice. Mean \pm SD ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ***p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001. (\diamond) Saline (n=6); (\blacklozenge) 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod (n=11).

3.6.2. Effect of Fingolimod Treatment on

Ischaemia in Hyperlipidaemic Mice

Survival and Recovery

The study evaluating the effect of fingolimod on stroke in mice with hyperlipidaemia included forty ApoE⁺ mice. Mice were started on the 12-week high-fat diet at eight weeks, and stroke was induced at 20 weeks. Two mice were euthanised due to malocclusion and fighting wounds throughout the high-fat diet feeding period. Mice had to be separated for fighting, causing some to be singly housed, and some mice developed dermatitis that cleared after topical Calamine solution. Lastly, seven mice were euthanised at the time of surgery due to damage to the middle cerebral artery and uncontrollable bleeding. The remaining 31 mice were randomised into treatment groups, returned to their home cage and switched to standard feed. All mice recovered well during the 7-day observation period, and none required euthanasia (Saline n=16, 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod n=15).



Figure 3.6.2.1: Representative images of ApoE mice after 12 weeks of high-fat diet and seven days after stroke treated with (a) saline or (b) fingolimod. Scale bar 1 mm.

Lesion size effects

The lesion size measurements revealed that fingolimod-treated mice had a significantly smaller lesion size than the saline mice (H&E p=0.019, NeuN p=0.004) (Fig. 3.6.2.2a). There was no difference in the hemispheric volume ratios between treatment groups (Fig. 3.6.2.2b).



Figure 3.6.2.2: (a) Lesion size: fingolimod-treated mice had a significantly smaller lesion size. (b) Change in hemispheric volumes: there was no difference between groups. Mean \pm SD (\diamond) Saline (n=11); (\blacklozenge) fingolimod (n=14); ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ***p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Behaviour effects

The cylinder test scores in the hyperlipidaemic mice revealed no difference over time between treatment groups or time-points. (Fig. 3.6.2.3a.) The foot fault test was analysed by two-way ANOVA Bonferroni-corrected multiple comparisons. The results showed no differences between the treatment groups; within-group comparisons showed a significant difference in saline-treated mice at baseline compared to 3 and 7 days, but not between either 3 days or 7 days (p=0.0004, p=0.0004, p>0.999). There was a significant difference in the fingolimod-treated mice between baseline and day 7 (p=0.048) without differences in any other comparisons (p=0.151, p>0.999) (Fig. 3.6.2.3b).

Supplementary data

Mice were weighed once a week over the 12 weeks of high-fat diet feeding period, and all gained weight at a similar rate. The weight gained over the 12 weeks was compared between groups after the animals were randomised, and there were no differences in the weight gains (Fig. 3.6.2.4a). Following the stroke induction mice in both treatment groups lost significantly more weight than their baseline measurement (Fig. 3.6.2.4b). However, there was no difference in weight loss or rate of weight recovery between treatment groups over the 7-day observation period.

Mice treated with fingolimod improved their daily appearance and grooming scores (Fig. 3.6.2.4c) by day 3 when compared to day 1 (p<0.0001); saline-treated mice scored significantly better by day 4 (p=0.0006). The median daily behavioural and neurological scores did not change over time, and there was no difference between the treatment groups (Fig. 3.6.2.4 d & e).



Figure 3.6.2.3: Behaviour for hyperlipidaemic study; (a) Cylinder scores showed no difference between treatment groups. (b) Grid test scores: there was no difference between treatment groups. Saline-treated mice performed significantly worse than their baseline on days three and seven, and fingolimod-treated mice performed worse than their baseline on day seven. (\diamond)Saline (n=11); (\diamond)fingolimod (n=14). Mean \pm SD, ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.



Figure 3.6.2.4: (a) 12-week weight gain graph of mice separated by treatment group during the high-fat diet feeding period; there was no difference between groups. (b) Weight measured during the post-surgery observation period showed that all mice lost significant weight after stroke without differences between treatment groups. There were no differences between groups in the (c) Appearance Scores, (d) Behaviour Scores and (e) Neuro-Score. \diamond Saline (n=11) \blacklozenge fingolimod (n=14)



Figure 3.6.2.5: (a) Aortic lesion as expected ApoE mice fed a high-fat diet had significantly more atherosclerotic lesion than C57Bl/6 control mice (mean \pm SD) and (b) Cholesterol levels: mice had elevated cholesterol levels that remained up to seven days after being switched from the high-fat diet to a normal diet (median \pm 95% CI) (\diamond) Saline (n=11); (\blacklozenge)fingolimod (n=14), ns p> 0.05, * p \leq 0.05, ** p \leq 0.01, **** p \leq 0.001.

The atherosclerotic lesions were quantified for all mice that completed the study, plus four age-matched naive controls (C57Bl/6 mice fed a regular diet). Both treatment groups had a significantly higher number of plaques than the naive controls, and there was no difference between fingolimod and saline-treated mice (Fig. 3.6.2.5a).

The cholesterol measurements showed no differences between treatment groups or pre-surgical levels (Fig. 3.6.2.5b). Though not significant, the trend to lower cholesterols at seven days level could be associated with mice being switched back to a standard diet following surgery.

The lymphocyte counts were evaluated seven days after stroke in the fingolimod and saline-treated hyperlipidaemic mice. Fingolimod-treated mice had significantly lower counts of CD3+ cells, and there was no difference between the groups in the CD4+ and CD8+ counts.


Figure 3.6.2.6: Fingolimod-treated hyperlipidaemic mice had significantly lower CD3+; there was no difference in the CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocyte counts compared to saline-treated aged mice. Mean \pm SD ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ****p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.001; (\diamond) Saline (n=10); (\diamond) fingolimod (n=11).

3.7. Pooled Data Analysis of Ischaemic

Studies

The data in this chapter are part of a published manuscript in Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Diaz Diaz, A.C., Malone, K., Shearer, J., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke with Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. Frontiers in Pharmacology. [online] Available at: <https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/>.

Focusing on the primary outcomes, we decided to pool the data from all studies and evaluate whether fingolimod would be effective in a heterogenous population more representative of human stroke patients. These pooled data encompass all the studies evaluating fingolimod in an ischaemic stroke model that used 70% N_2 with 30% O_2 as the anaesthetic delivery gas: a dose-response study; the extended treatment duration study, and studies involving aged and hyperlipidaemic mice.

There was no significant difference between lesion size and the change in hemispheric volume in the pooled data (p=0.43, p=88, respectively) (Fig. 3.8.1a). The cylinder data showed no difference between saline and fingolimod at either 3 or 7 days after stroke (p=0.97, p=0.58). However, the grid test revealed no effect on day three and a significant improvement in fingolimod-treated mice on day seven after stroke (p=0.46, p=0.029) (Fig. 3.8.1c).



Figure 3.8.1: Summary of experimental outcomes of all young, aged, and ApoE-/- mice grouped by saline-treated and fingolimod-treated mice (a) Lesion size and (b) hemispheric volume changes were not significantly different in the summary data (\circ) Saline; (\bullet) fingolimod n=37. (c) Cylinder scores on days three and seven did not differ between treatment groups; (d) Grid scores were significantly different seven days but not three days after stroke; (\circ) saline, (\bullet) fingolimod n=46. ns p> 0.05; *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001.

Chapter 4 Discussion

Fingolimod is an immunomodulating drug that causes internalisation of S1P1 receptors, leading to the sequestration and degradation of immune cells. The reduction in circulating lymphocytes is hypothesised to affect the number of immune cells infiltrating into the stroke lesion, causing a reduction in the infarct size and limiting the behavioural deficits (Liesz et al., 2011; Shichita et al., 2009). The expected reduction in lymphocyte infiltration was confirmed by a reduction in the number of infiltrating CD3+ T cells into the ischaemic core (Malone et al., 2021)

Based on the hypothesis that fingolimod can reduce lesion size and improve behavioural outcomes, we aimed to evaluate the effects of fingolimod in a large preclinical studies involving an intracerebral haemorrhage study and ischaemic stroke. The ischaemic model was used for the dose-response study, treatment duration study, and the evaluation of fingolimod in two comorbid disease models. The studies performed in this large preclinical study discussed herein produced mostly neutral results.

This chapter will discuss the results of the studies performed, followed by an overall discussion of the findings, limitations and future directions.

4.1. Evaluation of Fingolimod in an Intracerebral Haemorrhage Model

The discussion in this section has been copied with minor adaptations from the published manuscript.

Diaz Diaz, A. C., Shearer, J. A., Malone, K., and Waeber, C. (2021). *Acute Treatment With Fingolimod Does Not Confer Long-Term Benefit in a Mouse Model of Intracerebral Haemorrhage*. Front Pharmacol 11, 613103. DOI:10.3389/fphar.2020.613103.

The main finding of these studies is the lack of effect of fingolimod treatment on either histological or behavioural outcome measures after ICH. This contrasts with the significant effect of the same fingolimod administration regimen on circulating lymphocyte counts. To the best of our knowledge, three experimental ICH studies have reported a histological and/or functional improvement after treatment with fingolimod (Rolland et al., 2013, 2011; Lu et al., 2014), with an additional study showing improvement following treatment with the more selective S1P receptor modulator siponimod (Bobinger et al., 2019) (Table 1.7). As mentioned in the introduction, there is a much stronger evidence supporting the beneficial effect of fingolimod in experimental ischaemic stroke, with 17 published articles (including 32 independent experiments) by a dozen different groups (Dang et al., 2020). It should however be noted that a small proportion of these published studies did not corroborate the effect of fingolimod in experimental ischaemic stroke.

The current study was performed with an ICH model (collagenase injection) that was used in previous studies (Rolland et al., 2013, 2011; Lu et al., 2014; Bobinger et al., 2019). The dose and administration regimen were similar to those previously found to be effective (Lu et al., 2014), although the other two studies used a higher dose of 1 mg/kg. It is unlikely that the use of a relatively lower dose accounted for the lack of effect in the present study, since this dose was sufficient to decrease the number of circulating T lymphocytes, but we cannot rule out that fingolimod exerts its effect via other mechanisms, unrelated to the adaptive immune system (Wang, Kawabori and Houkin, 2020).

It is important to mention that the outcome measures used to assess the effects of fingolimod in previous studies differed in part from the ones used here (Table 1.7) and that some of the behavioural measures often only showed a significant treatment effect on the first day after surgery. Previous studies with fingolimod used CD-1 mice. Since the immune response to brain injury varies between different rodent strains, it is possible that strain-related difference may account for the lack of effect of fingolimod in our study (Becker, 2016). Although siponimod was found effective in a collagenase injection model in C57BL/6 mice (Bobinger et al., 2019), while depleting circulating lymphocytes to the same extent, we cannot rule out the effect of fingolimod is more dependent on mouse strain than the effect of siponimod. Furthermore, since C57BL/6 mouse sub-strains show different vulnerability to ischaemic stroke (Zhao, Mulligan and Nowak, 2017), it remains possible that they also show different sensitivities to the effect of S1P receptor modulators in ICH.

One of the drawbacks of the collagenase model of ICH is due to the ability of this enzyme to induce a significant inflammatory reaction (Manaenko et al., 2011; Barratt, Lanman and Carmichael, 2014), which might be exacerbated by the possible presence of endotoxin or other contaminants in the collagenase preparation (Jahr et al., 1999; Nomura et al., 2017). It is possible that inhibition of endotoxin mediated activation of microglial cells may have accounted for some of the effects of fingolimod in collagenase-based ICH models (Lu et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2010), but it is worth pointing out that fingolimod was also found to be effective in a mouse ICH model based on autologous blood injection (Rolland et al., 2013). Another drawback of this study and of previous studies of S1P receptor agonists in ICH is that fingolimod or siponimod were administered for at most 3 days after surgery. It is therefore impossible to rule out the possibility that treating animals for the whole duration of the study (i.e., 14 days or more) would have shown a treatment effect.

Furthermore, it is possible that we were unsuccessful at detecting the true effect of fingolimod (Type II error), or that the conclusions drawn from previous studies were due to Type I errors. As mentioned, our a priori power calculation for this ICH study was based on the effect sizes and variability seen in the ischaemic stroke literature on the effects of fingolimod (Liu et al., 2012). In retrospect, we may have underestimated the variability of the outcome measures assessed in this study, and hence the group sizes required to detect an improved outcome after fingolimod treatment. However, considering the lack of even a trend toward improvement in our data, we considered that it would have been unethical to adjust group sizes and add more mice to our study.

Published studies have in common relatively smaller group sizes and the lack of proper power calculation (Table 1.7). This observation, taken together with the notion that low statistical power is more likely to be associated with false positives, would be compatible with the possibility that previous findings of a beneficial effect of fingolimod in experimental ICH may not have reflected a true effect (Button et al., 2013; Ioannidis, 2005).

Two of the previous studies of fingolimod in experimental ICH did not report mortality (Rolland et al., 2013, 2011), while only one mouse died, in the vehicle-treated group, in the third study (Lu et al., 2014). Female mice were not included in any of these studies, nor in the more recent study using siponimod (Bobinger et al., 2019).

Although we did not set out to study possible sex-related differences in the response to fingolimod, and therefore did not power our study to detect an effect of sex on outcome measures, it is difficult to ignore the observation that female mice, studied concurrently with male mice, had a significantly higher mortality than male mice, and regained weight more slowly than male mice. The vast majority of experimental ICH studies are performed in male mice (Kirkman, Allan and Parry-Jones, 2011; Liddle et al., 2020) and we are not aware of previous studies showing a poorer outcome in female rodents. In fact, in an autologous blood injection model, female mice showed significantly less oedema and their behavioural deficits recovered faster compared to male mice (Nakamura et al., 2004). Similar results were reported using the collagenase injection model (Lei et al., 2012; Xie et al., 2018). Another report showed similar brain injury in male and female mice following autologous blood injection, although only a small number of female mice were studied, and no direct comparison was performed (Jing et al., 2019).

Clinically, most epidemiological studies either show no sex difference in ICH incidence, or higher incidence in men (Gokhale, Caplan and James, 2015). Similarly, no significant sex differences in ICH mortality have been observed in most studies, while some studies show a higher age-adjusted mortality in men (Gokhale, Caplan and James, 2015). There is however evidence that female sex may be associated with poorer neurological outcome either early following ICH or later on (Ganti et al., 2013; Umeano et al., 2013). Interestingly, our study shows a significantly improved survival in female mice treated with fingolimod. Despite not observing a drug effect on histological and behavioural outcomes, the results still may suggest that fingolimod could have a beneficial effect after ICH, specifically when it is associated with a potentially worse outcome.

In conclusion, these studies reinforce the need to perform rigorous and well-powered

experimental ICH studies, following the STAIR and RIGOR guidelines (Liddle et al., 2020), and to report them according to the ARRIVE guidelines. Although the absence of effect of fingolimod in the present study seems to contradict the results of previous preclinical studies, it does not invalidate the hypothesis that S1P receptor modulators may be effective in ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke. In fact, small proof of concept clinical trials point to an efficacy of these agents for both conditions (Zhu et al., 2015; Fu et al., 2014a; b; Tian et al., 2018). Further animal studies are therefore required to determine whether fingolimod and/or siponimod are effective in specific populations (males vs females, aged animals or animals with typical stroke comorbidities such as hypertension or hyperlipidaemia) and using different treatment regimens (longer durations and/or higher dose). Similarly, at the clinical levels, larger trials will be needed to confirm the effects seen in ICH patients.

4.2. Thromboembolic Stroke Model

Setup Studies

To reach the aim of the studies and to evaluate fingolimod in a preclinically relevant stroke model, it was necessary to set up an ischaemic model in the lab. The selected mouse stroke model was first described by Orset et al. 2007, in which thrombin is injected into the middle cerebral artery to form a clot and cause a thromboembolic stroke. This stroke model was selected because it responds to tPA treatment and it can be used in combination with novel treatments to test the effects of various interventions in combination with tPA-induced recanalization. Thus, the aim was to establish this model for all of the experiments characterising the effect of fingolimod on stroke.

The establishment of the model involved the use of thirty-one animals that were not recovered from surgery (non-survival); these were mice used for the initial procedural set-up, and mice that had to be euthanised due to surgical complications. Another twenty-eight mice were recovered from surgery (survival) because they had a successful thrombin injection with a stable clot or a clot that spontaneously dissolved. The analysis evaluating for the presence of a lesion in the survival mice showed that 53% of mice with a clot did not have a detectable infarct 24 h after thrombin injection. Lastly, as part of the setup of the model, a small experiment was performed to evaluate whether thrombin concentrations and isoflurane levels had an influence over clot stability and stroke lesion size; thus, two thrombin and two isoflurane concentrations were compared, resulting in a trend suggesting that 1.5% thrombin along 2.5% isoflurane were better than the other combinations.

During the set-up, we observed that there was no clear indication that a stable clot prior to recovery would cause a stroke lesion, and that some mice with reperfusion and clot dissolution had an injury. Considering that we observed a success rate of 39% for establishing a clot and observing a lesion, and that this surgery was highly technical, with many variables affecting success, there was a concern about the number of animals required to achieve the target n=16 for each experimental group. Thus, we reconsidered using the tMCAO stroke model for all studies; not doing so would have required more than 20 animals to reach the intended number of animals per group. There are several possible explanations for our inability to set up the thromboembolic procedure as the stroke model. The animal strain and the specific characteristics of the animals are some possible explanations because the model was initially described in Swiss mice and later adapted to C57Bl/6 mice (Campos et al., 2013; Ansar et al., 2014; Orset et al., 2007). The low success rate experienced herein matches the low rates reported in C57Bl/6 mice where 67% of the animals attempted were excluded due to anatomical variations, bleeding complications, or spontaneous reperfusion (Ansar et al., 2014). The study adapting the model to C57Bl/6 mice also reported having difficulties with clot formation and frequent reperfusion. Its authors observed a 37% rate of reperfusion within the first 20 min of occlusion in animals that had a clot (Ansar et al., 2014); this also reflects the lack of clear reporting by others on the number of mice used to successfully model stroke using this surgical procedure.

The different results between mouse strains, and the lack of consistency in clot formation in this model could also be related to vessel size and variability in brain vascularisation between mouse strains (Qian et al., 2018; Barone et al., 1993). The variability of brain vascularisation has been characterised in several mouse strains showing that differences in the number of branches of the MCA and the completeness of the circle of Willis, all variables that affect lesion size (Zhao, Mulligan and Nowak, 2017; Barone et al., 1993). Collateral blood flow contributes to smaller lesion sizes and the lack of a complete circle of Willis produces larger lesions. The variation in the vessel size could also affect the amount of thrombin necessary to form a stable clot that can block the MCA bifurcation. Nevertheless, this model has been used in C57Bl/6 mice background and even though the Swiss mice could lead to more reproducible lesions, changing the mouse strain from C57Bl/6 was not an option because that would affect proposed experiments that involve aged mice and mice with comorbidities that are commonly available on a C57Bl/6 background limiting, and it would also our ability to make historical comparisons.

The limitations for establishing this model were not well communicated in the original publication, and the first description of the model neglects to report failure rates, focusing only on reporting that stable clots cause a sustained blood flow reduction of 40-50% for up to 60 min (Orset et al., 2007). Furthermore, a meta-analysis that evaluated the use of the tMCAO from the nine centres focused on lesion sizes and alteplase (tPA) efficacy without considering the number of animals necessary to achieve those results (Orset et al., 2016). Conversely, a study characterising the tMCAO method in C57Bl/6 mice reported limitations and the low success rate experienced in line with what was

experienced while attempting to establish this stroke model (Ansar et al., 2014).

The low success rate for lesion development could also be related to the concentration of thrombin and isoflurane used during the surgical procedure. The isoflurane concentration and the length of the surgery have been shown to reduce lesion size (Hoffmann et al., 2016; Gaidhani et al., 2017), and isoflurane is protective in different stroke models. Refinement and optimisation of the surgical procedure have been recommended to reduce the duration of the procedure to limit anaesthetic exposure (Munting et al., 2019; Archer et al., 2017). On the other hand, thrombin concentrations have been characterised in multiple labs, with larger concentrations shown to produce larger lesion sizes (0.75 to 3.0 UI) (Campos et al., 2013; Ansar et al., 2014; Orset et al., 2016); however, in our hands, we observed the opposite of expected results with higher isoflurane combined with lower thrombin (1.5U) concentrations producing a larger lesion size with low overall success.

All of these difficulties cast doubt on the suitability of this model for the planned highthroughput studies, especially concerning the additional mice required to account for the excluded animals, which could lead to an unethical increase in animals needed to achieve the intended group sizes. There were also concerns over the limited time available to complete all the studies planned and the additional cost associated with purchasing and generating mice with comorbidities. Most importantly, the lack of consistency and lack of predictable outcomes made us decide against the thromboembolic stroke model for our studies.

This decision had its trade-offs because there is no other method of focal ischaemia that causes a reversible occlusion without keeping the animal under anaesthesia for the duration of the occlusions, as is the case for models that use a clip to occlude or a hook to lift the MCA to interrupt blood flow. Specifically to the tMCAO model, switching to an alternative procedure would no longer allow the use of tPA to recanalise, thus limiting the translatability of these studies into the clinic. The alternative model was the electrocautery occlusion that causes a similarly sized stroke in a similar location to the thromboembolic model. Some of the benefits to the change in model are that permanent occlusion is less surgically complex, increasing the success rate and limiting the number of additional animals to achieving the intended group sizes. One of the unexpected benefits, is that this model was preferred by the original STAIR guidelines because it is representative a larger proportion of the affected population; this is in contrast to the commonly used filament (suture) model that represents more >80% of preclinical studies and with a in usage to the 2.5–11.3% clinical frequency (Stroke Therapy Academic

Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 1999; Kahle and Bix, 2012; McBride and Zhang, 2017)

4.3. Fingolimod Dose-Response Study in the Distal Electrocautery Occlusion Model

A complete and proper preclinical characterisation is needed to validate fingolimod as a therapeutic for stroke in humans. As part of the STAIR guidelines, one of the recommended aspects to evaluate translational potential is determining the optimal dose with a dose-response study (Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 1999). Thus, the first study performed was a dose-response study evaluating two doses of fingolimod (0.5 mg/kg, 1.0 mg/kg) and a vehicle control in ischaemic stroke. The characterisation comprised lesion size quantification, change in hemispheric volume seven days after stroke, and behaviour tests (cylinder, foot fault and hanging wire) before surgery and three and seven days after stroke. Additionally, daily monitoring scores were collected after surgery (weight, appearance, behaviour, and neuro-score), which could be used as an indirect indication of treatment effect.

The optimal dose was selected after the completion of three studies: the first doseresponse showed neutral results, a follow-up study evaluating the effects of the anaesthetic delivery gas, and lastly, the re-evaluation of the dose-response. The last study also included the evaluation of lymphocyte counts and excluded the hanging wire test.

The first dose-response performed under anaesthesia delivered with 100% O_2 revealed no effect associated with treatment at day 7 post-stroke in the primary outcome measures of lesion size and behaviour. The daily scoring showed that mice had significant weight loss and behavioural deficits attributable to stroke, without a significant difference between treatment groups. These neutral results contradicted the expected benefit previously associated with fingolimod treatment, summarised in two meta-analyses (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012).

In the first study showed that mice in all treatment groups had smaller lesions than previously described in studies that used the same electrocautery model (Liesz et al., 2011; Llovera et al., 2014). Because we did not alter the model, we were concerned that the lack of effect on lesion size could be the product of a ceiling effect that left no salvageable tissue (penumbra) able to respond to treatment. The discrepancy between the observed and expected outcomes made us consider that using pure oxygen as the anaesthetic delivery gas might have led to the small lesion sizes. This is supported by studies evaluating the effect of oxygen on focal ischaemia where they observe marked improvements. Briefly, these studies have modelled stroke with microvascular clips (Shin et al., 2007) or by electrocoagulation (Veltkamp et al., 2006), and they have observed modest reductions in lesion size (10%). Studies evaluating the effect of oxygen on stroke in rats modelled by filament occlusion observe lesion size reductions of 30% or more (Flynn and Auer, 2002; Singhal et al., 2002b; a; Kim, Singhal and Lo, 2005).

As for the behaviour tests, we were concerned that the tests selected might have limited sensitivity to small lesion sizes and that the tests were operating within the lower limits of detection (Balkaya et al., 2012). We could assume that the cylinder and grid walking test had some sensitivity because mice had some changes in their scores, but the hanging wire did not detect any stroke related deficits. Thus, we decided to stop using the hanging wire test for future experiments, which was supported by the fact that previous studies have shown it has low sensitivity for detecting behavioural deficits in C57B1/6 mice (Balkaya et al., 2012; Royl et al., 2009).

Considering the possibility that having used pure oxygen as an anaesthetic delivery gas was acting as a neuroprotectant, we decided to evaluate the differences in lesion sizes between 100% oxygen and a mixture of 70% nitrogen and 30% oxygen as the delivery gas for isoflurane. The small study involved ten mice (five per group), and it evaluated lesion size five days after stroke. The lower oxygen concentration produced a relatively larger lesion size five days after stroke induction but the difference between groups was not significant. There was a trend suggesting that pure oxygen reduces lesion size in stroke (Veltkamp et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2016). The results, of these admittedly underpowered studies, were enough to shift away from using 100% oxygen and to use a mixture with 70% nitrogen and 30% oxygen for all future studies.

The re-evaluation of the fingolimod dose-response study on stroke without the protective effect of oxygen was carried out under a similar conditions to the first dose-response study, including the evaluation of lesion size, hemispheric volume change, the measurement of circulating lymphocytes, cylinder and grid walking test. We found that mice treated with the lower dose of fingolimod (0.5 mg/kg) had a larger lesion size compared to saline-treated mice, and the lower dose of fingolimod was no different

compared to the higher dose. Saline-treated mice developed significant atrophy compared to mice in the 0.5 mg/kg fingolimod group; and the behaviour tests did not show any effect associated with treatment. The results of the second dose-response study do not match expected results, i.e., we observed increased lesion size, reduced atrophy and a lack of effect on behaviour outcomes, yet there was a significant drop in lymphocyte counts the only outcome measure that matched the expected results. Thus, we had to consider the different variables affecting lesion size and behavioural outcomes that could explain the neutral results experienced in the second dose-response in order to select one dose for the subsequent experiments.

Firstly, we considered that the lack of effect could be a product of a lack of sensitivity in the tests used. In the case of the lesion size, there was a concern that the measurement lacked precision because H&E staining can be nonspecific in the border of the lesion and this could be a factor in the lack of significant difference between the fingolimod treatment groups and the high variability observed (Zille et al., 2011; Popp et al., 2009). In an effort to improve the precision of lesion size measurements, we adopted neuronespecific NeuN staining as an additional staining method> The new method reduced variability, but did not affect the lack of significant difference between treatment groups.

The expected lesion size reduction was based on the meta-analyses results that have a preponderance of studies evaluating the effect of fingolimod within the first 72 h after occlusion, and only a few studies that evaluated long-term outcomes. In contrast, we assessed infarct size at seven days, and early lesion size reduction could be unrepresentative of long-term outcomes (Dang et al., 2020). As part of the natural progression of stroke, lesions expand in the first 10 to 72 h due to inflammation and oedema, and after seven days the lesions shrink as oedema and inflammation subside (Iadecola and Anrather, 2011; Popp et al., 2009; Heiss, 2012). Furthermore, one study that used MRI to evaluate lesion size at one and seven days after stroke showed a lesion size reduction in the fingolimod treated group 24 h after stroke but not at seven days (Schuhmann et al., 2016). Thus, it is difficult to know how fingolimod affected the natural progression of the lesion size without using longitudinal imaging (MRI or CT scan) to determine if at an earlier timepoints there were differences in lesion size (Ejaz et al., 2013).

In our study results, the saline-treated mice had the greatest atrophy seven days after stroke, it was significantly larger than the low dose and it was no different than the higher dose. The atrophy observed on day seven in the saline-treated mice was reminiscent of a study evaluating the progression of inflammation and atrophy in rats over multiple timepoints without any treatment; within the first 72 h, there was short-term oedema followed by measurable atrophy at 7-days post-stroke and a continued rate of atrophy until the final endpoint of 24 weeks (Rewell et al., 2017). Furthermore, atrophy reduction has been achieved with Erythropoietin (EPO), wherein rats receiving EPO showed less atrophy than controls without changes in the lesion size after stroke, similarly to the observed results in our dose-response study (Ding et al., 2010). Atrophy has also been observed in humans following stroke, and it is more pronounced within the first 90 days and continues at a lower rate (Brodtmann et al., 2020). Considering that the lower dose suppressed the development of atrophy 7 days after stroke, we selected that dose for further evaluation.

The lack of effect of fingolimod in our study could be associated with the doses selected, yet the dosage was based on previously evaluated doses. Previous studies evaluating fingolimod included doses that ranged from 0.24 to 1.0 mg/kg (Dang et al., 2020). Two studies showed a dose-dependent reduction in lesion size 24 h after stroke (Wacker, Park and Gidday, 2009; Wei, Zhiquiang and Li, 2011); and another study reported that lesion size was indistinguishable between two doses of fingolimod (0.25 mg/kg and 1.0 mg/kg), but more importantly, all of the lesion sizes reported were smaller than controls, contrary to our results wherein fingolimod treated mice had a larger lesion 7 days after stroke (Hasegawa et al., 2010). Yet, as mentioned previously, most studies have evaluated short-term effects (24-72 h endpoints), making it difficult to compare with the lesion size 7 days post-stroke in our study.

The lack of effect on lesion size could be because fingolimod does not reduce lesion size in a 7-day study (Liesz et al., 2011). There are two long-term studies evaluating fingolimod treatment 7 and 31 days after focal ischaemia (Brunkhorst et al., 2013; Liesz et al., 2011). The study using the electrocautery model showed no treatment effect on lesion size or behaviour 7 days after stroke (Liesz et al., 2011), and the study using the photo-thrombotic model showed sustained behaviour improvement, but did not report on lesion sizes 31 days after stroke (Brunkhorst et al., 2013). Both these models cause small stroke lesions that are limited to the brain cortex, thus the effect of fingolimod treatment could be undetectable in long-term studies where atrophy is likely to be a factor.

In agreement with the lack of effect on histological outcome, we did not detect a difference in the behaviour tests, even though the tests selected are commonly used (Schaar, Brenneman and Savitz, 2010). This lack of treatment effect could be associated with the restricted brain region affected and variations in sensitivity of each test depending on stroke type, stroke size, animal strains, animal age and time-points evaluated in the study (Sirén et al., 2006; Manwani et al., 2011; Rosell et al., 2013). The

deficiencies observed are potentially related to the stroke injury that was not significantly influenced by fingolimod treatment. Other studies that evaluated long-term outcomes found that fingolimod effectively reduced behavioural deficits in the cylinder and grid walking test model in thromboembolic and (Campos et al., 2013) and photo-thrombotic strokes (Brunkhorst et al., 2013); however, the study that used the electrocautery MCA occlusion did not detect any differences in the cylinder test (Liesz et al., 2011).

The argument for using a smaller dose is supported by studies that evaluated fingolimod in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and the fact that fingolimod's mechanism of action is similar in both diseases (McCann and Lawrence, 2020). Preclinical studies in EAE evaluated a range of effective treatments (0.1 to 0.9 mg/kg), and 0.4 mg/kg was identified as an optimal dose for an extended treatment in rodents (Foster et al., 2007). The optimal dose for MS patients was subsequently determined to be 0.5 mg/day. The same dose (0.5 mg/kg) has also been effective in proof of concept clinical trials for treating ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke (Fu et al., 2014a; b). This dose has fewer adverse reactions than the other clinically evaluated doses during the MS, as opposed to choosing the higher of these two doses.

Lastly, it is important to consider that many of the previously published studies evaluating fingolimod lack randomisation, blinding and a priori power calculations, leaving open the possibility that a treatment effect is observed when there is none (Ioannidis, 2005). This study aimed to improve on those shortcomings because it was well-powered to detect a difference in lesion size greater than 30%, yet we our results did not show clear difference between the treatment groups. This could mean that our results reflect the true effects of fingolimod and that any effect observed before was the product of some bias that we controlled for with appropriate group sizes, randomisation and blinding of treatment allocation.

4.4. Evaluation of an Extended

Treatment Duration of Fingolimod

Stroke has a rapid onset of symptoms and a narrow treatment window for recanalization to improve survival, and aside from preventing recurrent strokes, no specific treatments have been established for the chronic stages and the long-term recovery after ischaemia (Chamorro et al., 2016; Gomez, 2018; Liang, Yang and Jin, 2016). A long-term treatment for stroke patients with fingolimod could be beneficial if it affects later steps of the pathophysiological cascade, especially considering that the cascade has distinct stages that can be modulated effectively. The anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of fingolimod and its effects on blood-brain barrier integrity are all aspects that have been identified to be critical in the acute stages of recovery from stroke and could be positively modulated in long term treatments (Wang, Kawabori and Houkin, 2020; Li, Xu and Testai, 2016). As well as the canonical effect of reducing of circulating lymphocytes, and reducing their infiltration in to the brain (Liesz et al., 2011; Malone et al., 2021)

We aimed to determine whether an extended treatment duration was superior to a shorter treatment duration, comparing the effects of fingolimod administered for 5 days (short), 10 days (long) and a saline control group. Specially since the observed benefits in MS are due to the long-term treatment with fingolimod, and the improvements are observed after prolonged treatment durations in mice and rats (Webb et al., 2004; Foster et al., 2008). The results show that there was no significant difference in the lesion size, atrophy, and grid test between groups. However, there was an overall trend in the behaviour results suggesting that the longer treatment was better than the shorter treatment.

One of the proposed reasons so many drugs are unsuccessful in stroke clinical trials is that they were not administered long enough to sustain their neuroprotective effects, making the study of long-term treatments for stroke an area of interest (Chamorro et al., 2016). Fingolimod has been proven safe and effective for long-term administration in MS patients and using it in patients with stroke would be considered safe. The approval of this drug was product of the thorough evaluation of its effect on the EAE model in rodents; thus, an extended treatment might improve outcomes in stroke (Brinkmann et al., 2010; Kappos et al., 2006). Some other drugs that have been evaluated for stroke in long term treatments are PNU120596 (a positive allosteric modulator of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors), and 4-Phenyl-1-4-Phenyl-butyl Piperidine (PPBP; a sigmal receptor ligand); all of them showing positive outcomes in the acute and sub-chronic stages of stroke recovery (Gaidhani and Uteshev, 2018; Harukuni et al., 1998). The expansion of the treatment duration was effective in these studies further supporting the idea that evaluating fingolimod might also produce benefits even thought that was not our case.

Out of 17 published studies recently summarised in a meta-analysis, four studies evaluated fingolimod treatment lasting longer than 3 days (Dang et al., 2020). The first study evaluated fingolimod treatment in the subacute stage of stroke by treating mice for 5 days with 1 mg/kg b.i.d. fingolimod (Brunkhorst et al., 2013). The study focused on behavioural outcomes up to 31 days after stroke, showing an improved behavioural outcomes for the duration of the study, which was associated with reduced scar formation (astrogliosis). However, the study did not report lesion sizes, perhaps because after 31 days, quantification of stroke lesion is uninformative due to atrophy (Popp et al., 2009). Similarly, Shang et al., 2019 used the photo-thrombotic stroke model and observed a fingolimod associated improvement in neurone counts and modified neurological severity scores after 7 and 14 days of fingolimod treatment (0.3 mg/kg). This study focused on the molecular aspects of stroke recovery and observed that fingolimod promoted angiogenesis and attenuated damage by its ability to polarise microglia to an M2 anti-inflammatory state and did not report lesion size or behaviour outcomes (Shang et al., 2019).

The two other studies did not last as long, they administered daily treatment for four and seven days with corresponding lesion size measurements four and seven days after stroke, and they were both part of larger studies and might not have been the primary outcomes of the overall study (Liesz et al., 2011; Shichita et al., 2009). Liesz et al., 2011 reported administering 1 mg/kg fingolimod daily, and only reported a lack of difference in lesion size while using the electrocautery model without functional outcome measures. Similarly, Shichita et al., 2009 only reported lesion sizes in a study that modelled stroke with filament occlusion and found that one and four 1 mg/kg fingolimod doses reduced lesion size 4 days after stroke compared to control animals.

The effects of fingolimod in experimental stroke may be related to various mechanisms of action; (i) functional antagonism of the S1P1 receptors on lymphocytes

that causes lymphopaenia; and (ii) other S1P receptor interactions and receptorindependent interactions directly on all the brain cells (Naseh et al., 2021). The receptordependent and independent effects on parenchymal cells are likely to be important in the hours to days after stroke onset; in contrast the effects on lymphocytes are effectively instantaneous because within 6 h of drug administration the lymphocyte counts have dropped significantly when compared to controls (Liesz et al., 2011). Furthermore, receptor-independent effects could happen any time.

Fingolimod leads to lymphopaenia and reduced brain inflammation by limiting the number of infiltrating cells (Rolland et al., 2013; Malone et al., 2021; Czech et al., 2009). In endothelial cells it is involved in maintaining the integrity of the blood-brain barrier, aiding in recovery by limiting brain oedema (Wang et al., 2020), in glia and neurones, fingolimod has been found to modulate microglia polarisation towards an anti-inflammatory (M2) state, and in neurones it aids survivability by preventing autophagy as observed in a model of photothrombotic stroke (Shang et al., 2019; Li et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2020).

The limitations of this study, and the dose-response studies have been the use of healthy young animals, and the limited predictive value the studies have for the translation of this drug into the clinic. Even though the updated meta-analysis validates the efficacy of fingolimod (Dang et al., 2020), there is still the need to evaluate this drug in comorbid models to improve the external validity and translatability of this drug. However, the lack of differences in our studies up to now could mean that fingolimod does not have a clinically relevant effect on lesion size. Nevertheless, whether fingolimod works on healthy young animals might be irrelevant considering that animals with comorbidities would resemble the intended treatment population, thus the need for fingolimod and other novel treatments should be focused on aged individuals that have a variety of comorbidities associated with stroke.

4.5. The Effect of Fingolimod On Stroke In Mice With Comorbidities

The disparity between the relative age of the mice used for stroke research and the fact that older individuals are affected by stroke at a higher rate than younger individuals has been identified as one of the factors affecting the translatability of the research from rodent models to patients (Dirnagl, 2006; Strazzullo et al., 2010; Haley and Lawrence, 2016). Studies performed in healthy young animals have been used to inform clinical trials that were unsuccessful at improving outcomes in humans with stroke. The age range of humans presenting with stroke commonly falls between 50-80 years of age, and aside from age as non-modifiable comorbidity (Przykaza, 2021), patients experience a variety of other comorbidities, i.e., dyslipidaemia, hyperglycaemia and diabetes, that are not frequently studied in stroke research.

The lack of characterisation of drugs in comorbid mice may contribute to the translational gap that stroke research has been experiencing. Thus, the STAIR group updated the first set of established guidelines to improve the quality of research and drug treatments for stroke by including the need to characterise drugs in comorbid models prior to advancing drugs into clinical trials (Fisher et al., 2009). Thus, we chose to focus on age (non-modifiable) and hyperlipidaemia (modifiable) to study the effects of fingolimod. The results of these studies are discussed below.

4.5.1. The Effect of Fingolimod on Aged Mice with Stroke

The study evaluating the effect of fingolimod on stroke modelled in aged mice showed that fingolimod treatment led to a behavioural improvement; however, there was unexpected the lack of effect on lesion size and atrophy because there was increased lesion and atrophy that are generally associated with poor outcomes (Rewell et al., 2017; Sirén et al., 2006). In fact, although mice treated with fingolimod had a significantly greater ipsilateral hemisphere atrophy, they showed a significant behavioural improvement in the grid test at day 7 after stroke, and a trend towards improved survival odds compared to mice treated with saline.

It is difficult to compare these results to previous literature, because no other study uses fingolimod to treat stroke in aged animals. However, there is literature evaluating the effects of systemic inflammation, immunomodulation and ageing in rodent models of stroke, which along with the known effect of fingolimod, can inform the interpretation of the observed lesion, atrophy and behavioural results.

Aged humans and mice have an underlying inflammatory state that predisposes them to worse outcomes after stroke, making inflammatory modulation by immunomodulation a compelling target for translational stroke research (Przykaza, 2021; Petcu et al., 2008; Drake et al., 2011). In young and healthy individuals, the pathophysiological cascade following stroke triggers local and systemic inflammation that stimulates reparative processes; however, excessive or prolonged inflammation can be detrimental to recovery (Kim et al., 2020). The role of a young immune system and its ability to reduce inflammation after stroke was illustrated in a study using bone marrow chimaeras to evaluate the effect of replacing the primed immune system of aged mice with the bone marrow of young mice. The replacement of the aged immune cells, which normally cause excessive inflammatory response, with the bone marrow of young mice, improved behavioural performance without affecting lesion sizes after stroke (Ritzel et al., 2018).

Manipulating the immune response in old mice has been shown to reduce stroke lesion size. These studies have produced contrasting results between young and aged animals under the same treatment conditions (Ergul et al., 2016; Ritzel et al., 2018).

Immunomodulation by splenectomy and neutrophil depletion reduced lesion size in young mice, but CD4+ T cell depletion had no effect. In contrast, aged mice had improved behavioural outcomes with splenectomy, neutrophil, and CD4+ T cell depletion but only splenectomy reduced lesion size (Chauhan et al., 2018; Roy-O'Reilly et al., 2020; Harris et al., 2020). The different effects of immune-targeted interventions in young and older mice highlight the contrasting effects of the immune system in stroke pathophysiology in young, old and comorbid mice (Candelario-Jalil and Paul, 2020).

Although our studies in young and old mice were conducted separately and were not meant to be compared directly, it is interesting to observe that vehicle-treated young mice had a smaller lesion size than vehicle-treated aged mice, while aged mice benefited behaviourally from treatment. The discrepancies in the results highlight the limitations of lesion size measurements and their correlation to behaviour improvements in stroke research, especially since lesion size measurement is an uncommon outcome in clinical trials (Saver et al., 1999), and histological lesion size measurements seem to be uninformative and insufficient to predict benefits from treatments in different ischaemic models (Balkaya and Cho, 2019).

However, atrophy might be a more informative outcome measure for preclinical stroke research since it has been used to measure long-term outcomes and recovery in humans (Brodtmann et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2010). Atrophy measures the extent of tissue loss or shrinkage of the ipsilateral hemisphere compared to the contralateral hemisphere. Furthermore, atrophy serves as a long-term study outcome that has not been used in fingolimod studies, perhaps because most of those studies evaluate short term (24 - 48 h)outcomes, and at those time-points hemispheric comparisons measure oedema. Our results show that aged mice had increased atrophy when treated with fingolimod compared to the reduced atrophy observed in young animals treated with the same dose. The reduced level of atrophy observed in the aged control mice compared to the fingolimod treated group coincides with observations made by Manwani et al. (2011), who observed that aged mice had less atrophy than young mice 30 days after stroke (Manwani et al., 2011). The observed atrophy in aged mice treated with fingolimod might be beneficial because it correlates with improved behaviour in the fingolimod treated mice compared to the saline-treated mice 7 days after stroke product of systemic immunomodulation. Similarly, there is a beneficial correlation between atrophy and recovery following stroke in humans (Lee et al., 2010).

The differences between the aged study results and those from the dose-response study in young mice could indicate that the effect of fingolimod cannot be determined by measuring lesion size but rather by evaluating the number of surviving neurones, the scar formation, the BBB integrity and immune system (Chen, Shao and Ma, 2021; Shang et al., 2019). Fingolimod may affect oedema and atrophy, leading to improved behavioural outcomes as observed in our aged study. This is supported by a recent study that showed that aged mice treated with anti-CD4 (a subset T cells that is also reduced by fingolimod) showed behavioural improvements in male and female animals without effects on lesion size, reinforcing that behavioural improvement, as observed in our results, can be independent of lesion size (Harris et al., 2020, 2016).

One limitation of this study is that we could not perform a pilot study to determine sample size for aged mice. The sample size calculation used for this study was based on fingolimod studies that used young animals, meaning that there is the possibility of a false negative (type II error) in the lesion size measurement and that there was a treatment effect when none was statistically detected. Furthermore, a recent review found that several therapies had no significant effect in animals with comorbidities, and there is the possibility that fingolimod does not affect lesion size in this comorbid model (Schmidt-Pogoda et al., 2020).

Some of the limitations for translating and bridging preclinical results into clinical applications are based on the outcome measures and biomarkers used in preclinical studies: lesion sizes and behaviour, while the focus in the clinic is on functional improvements. This discrepancy is illustrated in a clinical trial evaluating the effect of a 3-day regimen of fingolimod, which found that the lesion size was unaffected 7-days after stroke with functional improvement in the treatment group (Fu et al., 2014b), which aligns with our results in the mice similar in age to the patients in the trial. The clinical results suggest that the treatment with fingolimod in humans leads to improved behavioural outcomes without affecting the lesion size while also observing a reduction in the lesion expansion rate by possibly modulating the inflammatory response associated with stroke (Fu et al., 2014b).

The evaluation of fingolimod in aged mice emphasises the importance of performing more studies and evaluating clinically promising treatments in aged mice, because they might perform differently than young mice, as observed in our study with fingolimod. This study also adds to the limited literature evaluating drugs in aged mice.

4.5.2. The Effect of Fingolimod on Hyperlipidaemic Mice with Stroke

Obesity and hyperlipidaemia are common comorbidities associated with stroke patients that have been identified to affect their odds of having a first stroke and also affect their recovery and survival after stroke (Virani et al., 2020). Therefore, we used a model of stroke in a comorbid model of hyperlipidaemia and atherosclerosis to evaluate fingolimod as potential treatment for stroke. Hyperlipidaemia was induced in an ApoE deficient mice fed a high-fat diet for 12 weeks. The model was validated by the measuring blood cholesterol levels and the number of atherosclerotic lesions along the aorta. Mice had elevated cholesterol and atherosclerotic plaques that matched previous reports using ApoE deficient mice fed a high-fat diet (Getz and Reardon, 2006). Furthermore, the weight gained over the 12 weeks was comparable between groups confirming that the groups were evenly distributed by randomisation.

The hyperlipidaemic study showed that fingolimod treated mice had a significantly smaller lesion size compared to saline control animals without significant differences in atrophy, or behavioural outcomes. Mice were observed and evaluated daily for weight, appearance, behaviour and neurological-score and there was no difference between groups. Even though there was a significant improvement in some outcome measures (lesion size and daily scores), these results contradict the expected all-around improvement that has been previously reported from fingolimod treatment and summarised in two meta-analyses (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012). However, as discussed previously, the expected benefits were based on studies using healthy young animals, and introducing a comorbidity might explain the discrepancies between the expected and observed results without invalidating our study.

Inflammation is a factor that underlies both obesity and apolipoprotein genotype, causing larger strokes and worse outcomes, as observed in a mouse model of inflammation and anaphylaxis with stroke (Drake et al., 2011; Dénes, Ferenczi and Kovács, 2011). The effect of inflammation is independent of comorbidities that themselves are associated with an inflammatory state (age, hypertension, diabetes and obesity), and reducing inflammation has led to improvement in lesion sizes and overall

157

recovery after stroke (Dénes, Ferenczi and Kovács, 2011). Obesity is associated with a specific inflammatory profile (e.g., elevated IL-6, TNF, and other factors, known as adipokines) that is also observed in hyperlipidaemia and atherosclerosis. This inflammatory profile leads to larger lesion sizes, emphasising immunomodulation as a potential treatment modality (Maysami et al., 2015a; Aguilar-Valles et al., 2015). This means that the observed lesion size reduction is consistent with the known immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects associated with fingolimod treatment (Iadecola, Buckwalter and Anrather, 2020). Nevertheless, the effects of fingolimod was not beneficial in stroke model with diabetes, in which inflammation was exacerbated by fingolimod treatment (1 mg/kg) (Li et al., 2020).

Hyperlipidaemia can be a product of a genetic mutations, diet-induced or combination of both, and all the methods lead to larger lesion sizes when compared to controls. Mice homozygous for a spontaneous null mutation of the leptin gene (ob/ob) have an increased lesion size 24 h after experimental stroke compared to heterozygous ob/- mice (Haley et al., 2017). ApoE -/- mice fed a high-fat diet — as a model of atherosclerosis and obesity — have an altered immunological system that causes larger lesion sizes than three different control animals (ApoE mice on regular diet and WT mice on regular and high-fat diet) (Herz et al., 2014). Another study has identified a delayed lesion size enlargement between 10 and 72 h after stroke in obese C57Bl6 mice (Peterson et al., 2021).

The larger lesion sizes likely the results from the underlying pathological state of obesity and associated inflammation, as well as the subsequent inflammatory response associated with stroke. The lesion size reduction that we observe in the treated ApoE-/-mice fed a high-fat diet could be a product of administering treatment during the delayed lesion expansion period that occurs between 10 and 72 h after stroke, and the immunomodulation from fingolimod by reducing circulating T cells and limiting their infiltration into the ischaemic brain (Liesz et al., 2011; Malone et al., 2021; Peterson et al., 2021). In the absence of imaging methods such as MRI, our capacity to assess the lesion size histologically at 7 days limited our ability to characterise the evolution of the ischaemic injury and how obesity affects infarct size evolution (Peterson et al., 2021).

Behavioural tests are a secondary method of evaluating recovery after stroke are that assess the impact of treatments over time. Since there was no improvement in the behavioural outcomes of the hyperlipidaemic mice over time, there is a mismatch with the observed lesion size improvement. As discussed previously in the dose-response study, one explanation for observed results could be the inherent limitations of the behaviour tests selected, including the limited ability to detect small deficits and their change over time (Manwani and McCullough, 2011). Additionally, some animal strains, including C57Bl/6 (the genetic background of ApoE mice), are less likely to develop pronounced motor deficits that can be consistently measured; thus, limiting our ability to observe behavioural changes associated with small lesion sizes that are characteristic of the electrocautery stroke model (Manwani and McCullough, 2011; Schaar, Brenneman and Savitz, 2010). Nevertheless, C57Bl/6 mice were selected for all of the studies because of their versatility in research, and C57Bl/6 mice are readily available as aged mice and serve as a background strain for many mice with spontaneous and genetically modified genes.

It is also possible that the dose selected, based on the dose-response study, is inadequate to counteract the underlying inflammation from hyperlipidaemia and the inflammation associated with the stroke. A higher dose of fingolimod might be able to improve both lesion and behavioural outcomes. Therefore, there might be a benefit from performing dose-response studies specifically in comorbid animals to understand the interaction of the comorbidities with the drug. This applies to both age and other comorbidities, and additional research with comorbid mice could narrow the target population for clinical trials that can benefit from a treatment. For instance, excluding patients with uncontrolled diabetes could be considered based on the results of the recent preclinical study wherein fingolimod exacerbated inflammation in diabetic mice (Li et al., 2020).

Overall, these results are inconsistent with the lesion size reduction and improved behaviour after fingolimod treatment in over 17 studies performed in young mice without comorbidities. Previously published studies and meta-analyses may not predict the effect of fingolimod in an atherosclerosis model, making it possible that the expected outcomes are inaccurate and that our results reflect the true impact of fingolimod treatment.

Underlying inflammation in diabetes may lead to larger ischaemic injury (Rewell et al., 2010; Kim, Tolhurst and Cho, 2014). However, the reduction of lymphocytes with fingolimod (1.0 mg/kg) caused worse neurological outcomes after stroke in diabetic mice when compared to saline controls and led to greater inflammation (Li et al., 2020). The results observed in the aged and hyperlipidaemic models highlight the different results that can be observed under comorbid disease conditions. More research focused on comorbid animals may therefore be needed to expand the knowledge of the pathophysiology of stroke in diseased states. Furthermore, the characterisation of different treatment regimens, i.e., dosage, treatment window, and treatment duration in comorbid models, might produce robust translatable results for fingolimod and other

drugs and should be considered a necessary step prior to clinical evaluation of promising drugs.

4.6. Pooled Data

As discussed previously, two meta-analyses support the use of fingolimod for the treatment of stroke in rodent models (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012). However, those data do not include the characterisation of fingolimod in rodents with comorbidities commonly present in humans with stroke. Thus, in an attempt to replicate the characteristics of a diverse population of stroke patients we decided to pool the data obtained from our studies and evaluate the effect of fingolimod in a heterogeneous population. Doing so we would be observing the effect of fingolimod treatment in mice that could translate to a similarly heterogeneous human population.

The lesion size, atrophy, cylinder, and grid tests data were pooled from all the studies that used 70% N_2 and 30% O_2 to generate a mixed population of individuals treated under similar conditions. The mixed population involved healthy young, young hyperlipidaemic and aged mice. Statistical comparisons between treatment groups revealed a difference in the grid test, wherein fingolimod treated mice scored better than control mice 7 days after stroke. However, there was no difference in any of the other outcome measures. The results from these pooled data increase the external validity of our results both for other preclinical studies because of the large number of animals used, and for clinical studies that involve a preponderance of individuals with comorbidities.

The reproducibility crisis has led to the proposal of many guidelines and recommendations aimed at increasing the quality of the results and their external validity (Voelkl and Würbel, 2016; Goodman, Fanelli and Ioannidis, 2016; Vollert et al., 2020). A recent meta-analysis of all the guidelines found that their focus has been on improving internal validity without addressing external validity, perhaps because factors influencing internal validity are easier to control for (Vollert et al., 2020). Internal validity covers factors that affect reproducibility, i.e., groups size calculations, blinding and randomisation, all accepted ways to improve research quality and rigour. The focus on controlling these parameters might be leading researchers to over standardise studies, thus causing poor reproducibility. The use of standardisation between labs in an effort to compare their findings has shown that the results between labs carried out under seemingly similar conditions produce different results based on different phenotypic responses to different physical environments (Kafkafi et al., 2018). Thus, it is unclear whether the efforts made by researchers to follow the proposed guidelines have produced

robustly translatable results (Vollert et al., 2020).

The pooling of the data could be considered a way of heterogenising the study and increasing the external validity of our results. The concept of heterogenised studies was proposed as a way to overcome the reproducibility crisis that preclinical research is experiencing (Richter et al., 2011; Begley and Ioannidis, 2015; Richter, 2017). It was a response to the "standardisation fallacy", a consequence of attempting to control for as many variables in one study and consequently limiting reproducibility and translatability (Voelkl and Würbel, 2016; Würbel, 2000; Voelkl et al., 2021).

Systematic heterogenisation is difficult to implement because it requires the identification of variables that can affect outcome measures and systematically vary them in the study. Time of day, feed and gut microbiota, as well as strain, sex and age of the animals have all been identified as factors affecting stroke outcomes, i.e., lesion size and behaviour (Richter et al., 2011; Richter, 2017; Bodden et al., 2019; Usui et al., 2021). For our purposes, it was not feasible to systematically vary all these variables.

Our individual "standardised" studies do not show robust results supporting the use of fingolimod in stroke yet analysing them together in a pooled heterogeneous dataset might be translatable because it can be considered batch heterogenization making the overall finding that behaviour was improved seven days after stroke more robust than each observation. However, the significant difference observed in the grid test could be a false positive, type I error. Further studies in a large heterogeneous mouse cohort could be designed and powered to determine if this is a spurious finding.

FACS and immunohistochemistry experiments were performed on samples collected from all the studies as part a study evaluating the involvement of a subset of T cells in stroke recovery and fingolimod treatment (Malone et al., 2021). The regulatory T cells (Tregs) were elevated in the ischaemic core of all mice evaluated (young, aged and hyperlipidaemic), as well as in blood and spleen. Interestingly, other studies have also observed that an increase in Tregs is associated with improvement in stroke outcomes because they are associated with an anti-inflammatory phenotype (Liesz et al., 2009), and their function is not impaired by fingolimod treatment (Haas et al., 2014; Muls et al., 2014)

Lastly, interesting as they are the observed behavioural improvement in mice treated with fingolimod supports a focus on behaviour for future studies because behaviour outcomes may be representative outcomes measure in clinical trials. Yet, these data do not include female mice, whom represent a significant proportion of the stroke patients that are also in need of effective treatment. The lack of female mice limits the external validity of these findings as there might be unknown effect from fingolimod in ischaemic mice, as were observed in the ICH studies previously discussed.

Chapter 5 Conclusion

The goal of this thesis was to inform whether fingolimod is a good candidate for stroke treatment in large randomised clinical trials. The preclinical evidence supporting fingolimod up to now has been summarised in two meta-analyses (Dang et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012), and the clinical data was recently summarised in a meta-analysis evaluating all the small, mostly proof of concept, clinical studies testing the effect of fingolimod on stroke patients (Bai et al., 2022). While the overall evidence is positive, preclinical research evaluating fingolimod has not met many of the STAIR guidelines. This, and the fact that drugs with incomplete characterisation have gone to fail in clinical trials makes it important to evaluate fingolimod more rigorously before any large trial is initiated.

This thesis therefore aimed to fill some of the gaps in the characterisation of fingolimod by re-evaluating fingolimod in a model of intracerebral haemorrhage using both male and female mice (Diaz Diaz et al., 2020). It also filled the gaps by evaluating the effect of fingolimod on ischaemic stroke in a series of studies: first determining an optimal dose from a dose response study, then using the optimal dose to evaluate the effect of fingolimod in aged and hyperlipidaemic mice, two common comorbidities in stroke patients, and lastly to evaluate the effect of a longer treatment duration on stroke (Diaz et al., 2022). In an effort to improve the predictive value of our results, the studies were performed with a priori sample size calculation and definition of an exclusion criteria. Randomisation and blinding were implemented, with the aim of reducing internal bias. These measures helped with the internal validity aspects, and the use of aged and hyperlipidaemic mice addressed aspects of the external validity (Ferreira et al., 2020).

As part of the goal to meet the stair guidelines we set out to use a thromboembolic model of stroke. By doing so, we could use the tissue plasminogen activator (tPa), the current approved treatment for stroke, in conjunction with fingolimod; however, our

inability to establish this model of stroke affected the translatability of the results obtained in the ischaemic studies and meeting the stair guidelines of using a clinically relevant model. Yet, the more recent STAIR guidelines shift their focus to permanent occlusion with long-term outcomes that we did achieve herein. Furthermore, there were no other methods to model stroke in mice that have consistent cortical lesion, high survivability, and highly reproducible, thus limiting our options to clips, sutures, or the method we selected, electrocautery.

Fingolimod, though observed by others to be neuroprotective, was unsuccessful in the large robust studies performed for this thesis. The intracerebral haemorrhage study involved male and female mice receiving three 0.5 mg/kg doses of fingolimod and observed for up to 14 days, and the study did not identify any lesion size or behavioural benefit associated with fingolimod treatment after 14 days (Diaz et al., 2022). The fingolimod dose-response studies in ischaemic stroke showed no clear benefit associated with treatment in the primary outcomes, other than reduced atrophy in the 7 day outcome in young mice. The treatment duration study, also in young mice, was suggestive that a longer treatment was better; however, it was not significant perhaps because young mice show a limited range of improvement. The aged mice had greater atrophy with an improved behaviour outcome 7 days after stroke, and the hyperlipidaemic mice had a smaller lesion size without a significant effect on behavioural outcomes. Lastly, the pooled data analysis of the ischaemic stroke studies showed that fingolimod improved the 7 day behavioural deficit after stroke compared to saline.

Our neutral findings are not unique, and there have been several publication showing that fingolimod is not beneficial, including one study performed under similar condition than those of this thesis (stroke in young mice modelled with electrocautery) (Liesz et al., 2011) and one in diabetic mice (Li et al., 2020). Furthermore, one recent study showed that fingolimod had no effect on lesion size irrespective of the circadian phase in which the stroke was induced (Mandeville et al., 2022). Our results also highlight the discrepancies in results between young healthy animals, and the fact that we should not extrapolate the effects of drug in young mice to comorbid mice. In our case beneficial outcomes were associated with changes in atrophy that differed from young and aged or comorbid mice and only in aged mice did the atrophy negatively correlate with improved behavioural outcomes. Lastly, our results put in perspective the difference between a well-designed and well-powered study that has a high number of included individuals, and underpowered studies as summarised by Dang et al., 2020.

Even though there were no benefits associated with fingolimod treatment, this study

provides an example of how a thorough evaluation of promising drugs can be achieved and the importance of the work. Even though our studies were successfully performed in a single laboratory, multi-centre preclinical studies are complementary approaches for evaluating promising drugs. However, a multi-centre study evaluating fingolimod for the treatment of stroke might not be warranted as the evidence against its suitability for clinical usage is growing.

This study design can be used to evaluate other drugs, and it could prevent clinical studies that are bound to fail. This study also demonstrates the importance of attempting to replicate previously published results under rigorous conditions and added complexities. This is because our studies focused on confirmatory experiments that can validate or reject potential therapeutics and are necessary to parse the false positives from the true results (Dirnagl, 2019; Tukey, 1980; Kleikers et al., 2015). The use of inclusion and exclusion criteria, sample size estimation, the use of female and comorbid mice are tools for corroborating that a drug is in fact worth investigating in large randomised clinical trials. An example of a drug that was not characterised thoroughly prior to evaluation in a large clinical trial was natalizumab (anti-CD49d) (Elkins et al., 2017; Elkind et al., 2020), and when larger confirmatory preclinical studies were performed they showed no benefits associated with natalizumab treatment, had these studies been performed earlier, and their results acknowledged the clinical trials could have been prevented (Llovera et al., 2015; Drieu et al., 2019).

This thesis had several limitations, one of them, as mentioned above, was that the original plan was to evaluate fingolimod in a thromboembolic model of stroke and evaluate the co-administration of fingolimod with tPA; however, technical difficulties led us to model stroke in a permanent model of ischaemia that could not be used in conjunction with tPA. This limitation prevented us from evaluating the effect of this combined therapy in comorbid mice thus affecting the translational value of our results. Additionally, this limited our ability to evaluate potential drug-drug interactions that could affect patients receiving tPa and fingolimod after experiencing a stroke, another aspect that would have added to the characterisation of fingolimod in order to address all of the stair guidelines (Kahle and Bix, 2012). Additionally, female mice were not included in the ischaemic studies, another aspect necessary for meeting the STAIR guidelines.

Another limitation was the high degree of variability observed in our data, which could mean that we are not observing the true effect of fingolimod, not because there is not an effect, but because the effect is hidden behind that variability (Kong et al., 2020). This, compounded by the fact that the studies lack of positive controls, further affects the

166

quality of the results. We did not plan for a positive control in the lesion size because we assumed that fingolimod would be effective at reducing lesion size. Recently another study from our group showed that treatment with recombinant pregnancy-specific glycoprotein-1-Fc after stroke significantly improved behavioural outcomes one and five days after stroke without any effect on lesion size in mice (Malone et al., 2022). Considering that Liesz et al., 2011 also failed to show changes in lesion size at seven days, it might not be feasible to have such a positive control for long term studies.

We were also limited to the use of histology for the evaluation of lesion size, the evaluation of the effect of fingolimod treatment with an MRI could have informed the dynamics behind the fact that some mice treated with fingolimod have no atrophy (young dose-response study), and others have greater atrophy (aged study) compared to saline control. Lastly, due to time and financial constraints, we were unable to evaluate the effect of fingolimod in diabetic mice with stroke. However, as mentioned previously, a recent study found that fingolimod was ineffective at reducing lesion size in diabetic mice, and that in fact it was detrimental (Li et al., 2020). Based in the inflammatory profile of diabetic mice we might have also been unsuccessful at observing benefits in a different diabetes model.

The progression of the inflammatory process and oedema resolution is an important aspect to research further, especially in the case where treatment of stroke is focused on modulating inflammation and immune cell infiltration into the stroke area. In the case of fingolimod, treatment could be on one hand shifting or delaying the infiltration of immune cells into the brain by the S1P1 receptor internalisation (Liesz et al., 2011; Malone et al., 2021), on the other hand fingolimod can be affecting the amount of apoptotic and necrotic tissue, hence decreasing the amount of tissue loss in the case of stroke by interfering with these pathways (Qin et al., 2017, 2019). Furthermore, S1P is involved in axonal growth, which could suggest that the effect of fingolimod in behaviour is associated with neurone sprouting (Anastasiadou and Knöll, 2016). All together fingolimod can shift lesion size measurements to secondary outcomes in preclinical studies rather than primary outcomes; and increase the focus on behaviour tests.

The evaluation of a dose-response in comorbid mice, as well as a long term study evaluating the effect of two or more fingolimod doses, and other studies focusing on the interactions of fingolimod with other drugs that patients with comorbidities are taking prior to stroke (i.e., bisoprolol, warfarin, aspirin, and atorvastatin) would be a worth evaluating. However, resources would be better spent characterising other promising drugs, as the result for fingolimod have been underwhelming in this and other well powered studies. Furthermore, in an effort to refine clinical trials, many have proposed the use of a narrow population of participants that can benefit from a treatment (Cramer, 2010). In such a case, based on the results herein, seemingly healthy older women experiencing an intracerebral haemorrhage, and individuals without other comorbidities might be good candidates for fingolimod treatment after stroke, To widen the population, more research would be necessary in hyperlipidaemic, diabetic and hypertensive animals models, as well as female mice under these comorbid conditions. Another important factor for future preclinical studies would be the implementation of systematic heterogenisation, and multicentre studies as they could produce robust results more likely to predict clinical efficacy.

Overall, these results cast a doubt on the effectiveness of fingolimod for the treatment of stroke. However, it can still be used as a pharmacological agent as an S1P1 receptor functional antagonist to further elucidate the pathways involved in ischaemic stroke, in particular the effects of lymphocyte modulation on stroke outcome (Malone et al., 2021). It would also be important to identify whether there are factors that led to fingolimod being effective in some but not other studies, or whether study rigour was the only critical determinant.
Bibliography

Adachi, K., Kohara, T., Nakao, N., Arita, M., Chiba, K., Mishina, T., Sasaki, S. and Fujita, T., 1995. Design, synthesis, and structure-activity relationships of 2-substituted-2-amino-1,3-propanediols: Discovery of a novel immunosuppressant, FTY720. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 5(8), pp.853–856.

Aguilar-Valles, A., Inoue, W., Rummel, C. and Luheshi, G.N., 2015. Obesity, adipokines and neuroinflammation. *Neuropharmacology*, 96(Pt A), pp.124–134.

Anastasiadou, S. and Knöll, B., 2016. The multiple sclerosis drug fingolimod (FTY720) stimulates neuronal gene expression, axonal growth and regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 279(Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 2005), pp.243–260.

Anrather, J. and Iadecola, C., 2016. Inflammation and Stroke: An Overview. *Neurotherapeutics*, 13(4), pp.661–670.

Ansar, S., Chatzikonstantinou, E., Wistuba-Schier, A., Mirau-Weber, S., Fatar, M., Hennerici, M.G. and Meairs, S., 2014. Characterization of a New Model of Thromboembolic Stroke in C57 black/6J mice. *Translational Stroke Research*, 5(4), pp.526–533.

Archer, D.P., Walker, A.M., McCann, S.K., Moser, J.J. and Appireddy, R.M.,

2017. Anesthetic Neuroprotection in Experimental Stroke in Rodents. *Anesthesiology*, 126(4), pp.653–665.

Arnon, T.I., Xu, Y., Lo, C., Pham, T., An, J., Coughlin, S., Dorn, G.W. and Cyster, J.G., 2011. GRK2-Dependent S1PR1 Desensitization Is Required for Lymphocytes to Overcome Their Attraction to Blood. *Science*, 333(6051), pp.1898–1903.

Asch, C.J. van, Luitse, M.J., Rinkel, G.J., Tweel, I. van der, Algra, A. and Klijn, C.J., 2010. Incidence, case fatality, and functional outcome of intracerebral haemorrhage over time, according to age, sex, and ethnic origin: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet. Neurology*, 9(2), pp.167–76.

Astrup, J., Siesjö, B.K. and Symon, L., 1981. Thresholds in cerebral ischemia - the ischemic penumbra. *Stroke*, 12(6), pp.723–725.

Bacigaluppi, M., Comi, G. and Hermann, D.M., 2010. Animal Models of Ischemic Stroke. Part Two: Modeling Cerebral Ischemia. *The Open Neurology Journal*, 4.

Badan, I., Buchhold, B., Hamm, A., Gratz, M., Walker, L.C., Platt, D., Kessler, Ch. and Popa-Wagner, A., 2003. Accelerated Glial Reactivity to Stroke in Aged Rats Correlates With Reduced Functional Recovery. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 23(7), pp.845–854.

Badhiwala, J.H., Nassiri, F., Alhazzani, W., Selim, M.H., Farrokhyar, F., Spears, J., Kulkarni, A.V., Singh, S., Alqahtani, A., Rochwerg, B., Alshahrani, M., Murty, N.K., Alhazzani, A., Yarascavitch, B., Reddy, K., Zaidat, O.O. and Almenawer, S.A., 2015. Endovascular Thrombectomy for Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 314(17), pp.1832–1843.

Bai, P., Zhu, R., Wang, P., Jiang, F., Zhen, J., Yao, Y., Zhao, C., Liang, Z., Wang, M., Liu, B., Li, M., Li, N. and Yuan, J., 2022. The efficacy and safety of fingolimod plus standardized treatment versus standardized treatment alone for acute ischemic stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*, 10(3), p.e00972.

Baker, M., 2016. 1,500 scientists lift the lid on reproducibility. *Nature*, 533(7604), pp.452–454.

Balkaya, M. and Cho, S., 2019. Optimizing functional outcome endpoints for

stroke recovery studies. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 39(12), pp.2323–2342.

Balkaya, M., Kröber, J.M., Rex, A. and Endres, M., 2012. Assessing Post-Stroke Behavior in Mouse Models of Focal Ischemia. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 33(3), pp.330–338.

Barone, F.C., Knudsen, D.J., Nelson, A.H., Feuerstein, G.Z. and Willette, R.N., 1993. Mouse Strain Differences in Susceptibility to Cerebral Ischemia are Related to Cerebral Vascular Anatomy. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 13(4), pp.683–692.

Barratt, H.E., Lanman, T.A. and Carmichael, S.T., 2014. Mouse Intracerebral Hemorrhage Models Produce Different Degrees of Initial and Delayed Damage, Axonal Sprouting, and Recovery. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 34(9), pp.1463–1471.

Bath, P.M.W., Macleod, M.R. and Green, A.R., 2009. Emulating multicentre clinical stroke trials: a new paradigm for studying novel interventions in experimental models of stroke. *International Journal of Stroke*, 4(6), pp.471–479.

Becker, K.J., 2016. Strain-Related Differences in the Immune Response: Relevance to Human Stroke. *Translational Stroke Research*, 7(4), pp.303–312.

Begley, C.G. and Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2015. Reproducibility in Science. *Circulation Research*, 116(1), pp.116–126.

Benjamin, E.J., Muntner, P., Alonso, A., Bittencourt, M.S., Callaway, C.W., Carson, A.P., Chamberlain, A.M., Chang, A.R., Cheng, S., Das, S.R., Delling, F.N., Djousse, L., Elkind, M.S.V., Ferguson, J.F., Fornage, M., Jordan, L.C., Khan, S.S., Kissela, B.M., Knutson, K.L., Kwan, T.W., Lackland, D.T., Lewis, T.T., Lichtman, J.H., Longenecker, C.T., Loop, M.S., Lutsey, P.L., Martin, S.S., Matsushita, K., Moran, A.E., Mussolino, M.E., O'Flaherty, M., Pandey, A., Perak, A.M., Rosamond, W.D., Roth, G.A., Sampson, U.K.A., Satou, G.M., Schroeder, E.B., Shah, S.H., Spartano, N.L., Stokes, A., Tirschwell, D.L., Tsao, C.W., Turakhia, M.P., VanWagner, L.B., Wilkins, J.T., Wong, S.S., Virani, S.S., and American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee, 2019. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 139(10), pp.e56–e66.

Benusa, S.D., George, N.M. and Dupree, J.L., 2020. Microglial heterogeneity: distinct cell types or differential functional adaptation? *Neuroimmunology and Neuroinflammation*, 2020.

Blondeau, N., Lai, Y., Tyndall, S., Popolo, M., Topalkara, K., Pru, J.K., Zhang, L., Kim, H., Liao, J.K., Ding, K. and Waeber, C., 2007. Distribution of sphingosine kinase activity and mRNA in rodent brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 103(2), pp.509–517.

Bobinger, T., Bäuerle, T., Seyler, L., Horsten, S. v, Schwab, S., Huttner, H.B. and Manaenko, A., 2020. A Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Receptor Modulator Attenuated Secondary Brain Injury and Improved Neurological Functions of Mice after ICH. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity*, 2020, pp.1–8.

Bobinger, T., Manaenko, A., Burkardt, P., Beuscher, V., Sprügel, M.I., Roeder, S.S., Bäuerle, T., Seyler, L., Nagel, A.M., Linker, R.A., Engelhorn, T., Dörfler, A., Horsten, S. v, Schwab, S. and Huttner, H.B., 2019. Siponimod (BAF-312) Attenuates Perihemorrhagic Edema And Improves Survival in Experimental Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 50(11), pp.3246–3254.

Bodden, C., Kortzfleisch, V.T. von, Karwinkel, F., Kaiser, S., Sachser, N. and Richter, S.H., 2019. Heterogenising study samples across testing time improves reproducibility of behavioural data. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1).

Boltze, J., Wagner, D.-C., Henninger, N., Plesnila, N. and Ayata, C., 2016. Phase III Preclinical Trials in Translational Stroke Research: Community Response on Framework and Guidelines. *Translational Stroke Research*, 7(4), pp.241–247.

Braeuninger, S. and Kleinschnitz, C., 2009. Rodent models of focal cerebral ischemia: procedural pitfalls and translational problems. *Experimental & Translational Stroke Medicine*, 1(1), p.8.

Bravo, G.Á., Cedeño, R.R., Casadevall, M.P. and Ramió-Torrentà, L., 2022. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) and S1P Signaling Pathway Modulators, from Current Insights to Future Perspectives. *Cells*, 11(13), p.2058.

Brinkmann, V., 2007. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors in health and

disease: Mechanistic insights from gene deletion studies and reverse pharmacology. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 115(1), pp.84–105.

Brinkmann, V., Billich, A., Baumruker, T., Heining, P., Schmouder, R., Francis, G., Aradhye, S. and Burtin, P., 2010. Fingolimod (FTY720): discovery and development of an oral drug to treat multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 9(11), p.883.

Brodtmann, A., Khlif, M.S., Egorova, N., Veldsman, M., Bird, L.J. and Werden, E., 2020. Dynamic Regional Brain Atrophy Rates in the First Year After Ischemic Stroke. *Stroke*, 51(9), pp.e183–e192.

Brott, T.G., Jr, E.C.H., Levy, D.E., Barsan, W., Broderick, J., Sheppard, G.L., Spilker, J., Kongable, G.L., Massey, S. and Reed, R., 1992. Urgent therapy for stroke. Part I. Pilot study of tissue plasminogen activator administered within 90 minutes. *Stroke*, 23(5), pp.632–640.

Brunkhorst, R., Kanaan, N., Koch, A., Ferreirós, N., Mirceska, A., Zeiner, P., Mittelbronn, M., Derouiche, A., Steinmetz, H., Foerch, C., Pfeilschifter, J. and Pfeilschifter, W., 2013. FTY720 Treatment in the Convalescence Period Improves Functional Recovery and Reduces Reactive Astrogliosis in Photothrombotic Stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), p.e70124.

Buga, A.-M., Napoli, M.D. and Popa-Wagner, A., 2013. Preclinical models of stroke in aged animals with or without comorbidities: role of neuroinflammation. *Biogerontology*, 14(6), pp.651–662.

Button, K.S., Ioannidis, J.P.A., Mokrysz, C., Nosek, B.A., Flint, J., Robinson, E.S.J. and Munafò, M.R., 2013. Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 14(5), pp.365–376.

Cai, A., Schlunk, F., Bohmann, F., Kashefiolasl, S., Brunkhorst, R., Foerch, C. and Pfeilschifter, W., 2013. Coadministration of FTY720 and rt-PA in an experimental model of large hemispheric stroke-no influence on functional outcome and blood-brain barrier disruption. *Experimental & translational stroke medicine*, 5(1), p.11.

Campos, F., Qin, T., Castillo, J., Seo, J.H., Arai, K., Lo, E.H. and Waeber, C., 2013. Fingolimod reduces hemorrhagic transformation associated with delayed

tissue plasminogen activator treatment in a mouse thromboembolic model. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*, 44(2), pp.505–11.

Candelario-Jalil, E. and Paul, S., 2020. Impact of aging and comorbidities on ischemic stroke outcomes in preclinical animal models: A translational perspective. *Experimental Neurology*, 335, p.113494.

Chamorro, Á., Dirnagl, U., Urra, X. and Planas, A.M., 2016. Neuroprotection in acute stroke: targeting excitotoxicity, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and inflammation. *The Lancet Neurology*, 15(8), pp.869–881.

Chauhan, A., Mamun, A.A., Spiegel, G., Harris, N., Zhu, L. and McCullough, L.D., 2018. Splenectomy protects aged mice from injury after experimental stroke. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 61, pp.102–111.

Chen, S., Shao, L. and Ma, L., 2021. Cerebral Edema Formation After Stroke: Emphasis on Blood–Brain Barrier and the Lymphatic Drainage System of the Brain. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 15, p.716825.

Chitnis, T., Arnold, D.L., Banwell, B., Brück, W., Ghezzi, A., Giovannoni, G., Greenberg, B., Krupp, L., Rostásy, K., Tardieu, M., Waubant, E., Wolinsky, J.S., Bar-Or, A., Stites, T., Chen, Y., Putzki, N., Merschhemke, M., Gärtner, J. and Group, P.S., 2018. Trial of Fingolimod versus Interferon Beta-1a in Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 379(11), pp.1017–1027.

Cho, S. and Yang, J., 2018. What Do Experimental Models Teach Us About Comorbidities in Stroke? *Stroke*, 49(2), pp.501–507.

Chun, J. and Hartung, H.-P., 2010. Mechanism of Action of Oral Fingolimod (FTY720) in Multiple Sclerosis. *Clinical Neuropharmacology*, 33(2), pp.91–101.

Clarkson, J.M., Dwyer, D.M., Flecknell, P.A., Leach, M.C. and Rowe, C., 2018. Handling method alters the hedonic value of reward in laboratory mice. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), p.2448.

Cohan, S.L., Benedict, R.H.B., Cree, B.A.C., DeLuca, J., Hua, L.H. and Chun, J., 2022. The Two Sides of Siponimod: Evidence for Brain and Immune Mechanisms in Multiple Sclerosis. *CNS Drugs*, 36(7), pp.703–719.

Cohen, J.A., Barkhof, F., Comi, G., Hartung, H.-P., Khatri, B.O., Montalban, X., Pelletier, J., Capra, R., Gallo, P., Izquierdo, G., Tiel-Wilck, K., Vera, A. de, Jin, J., Stites, T., Wu, S., Aradhye, S., Kappos, L. and Group, T.S., 2010. Oral

Fingolimod or Intramuscular Interferon for Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 362(5), pp.402–415.

Cornell, B., 2016. *Strokes*. [online] Available at: <https://ib.bioninja.com.au/> [Accessed 12 Apr. 2022].

Correa-Paz, C., 2019. *Optimization of thrombolytic therapy in brain pathology*.

Costa, F., Windecker, S. and Valgimigli, M., 2017. Dual Antiplatelet Therapy Duration: Reconciling the Inconsistencies. *Drugs*, 77(16), pp.1733–1754.

Cramer, S.C., 2010. Stratifying Patients With Stroke in Trials That Target Brain Repair. *Stroke*, 41(10, Supplement 1), pp.S114–S116.

Czech, B., Pfeilschifter, W., Mazaheri-Omrani, N., Strobel, M.A., Kahles, T., Neumann-Haefelin, T., Rami, A., Huwiler, A. and Pfeilschifter, J., 2009. The immunomodulatory sphingosine 1-phosphate analog FTY720 reduces lesion size and improves neurological outcome in a mouse model of cerebral ischemia. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 389(2), pp.251–6.

Dang, C., Lu, Y., Li, Q., Wang, C. and Ma, X., 2020. Efficacy of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonist fingolimod in animal models of stroke: an updated meta-analysis. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 131(1), pp.85–94.

Dash, R.P., Rais, R. and Srinivas, N.R., 2018. Ponesimod, a selective sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P1) receptor modulator for autoimmune diseases: review of clinical pharmacokinetics and drug disposition. *Xenobiotica*, 48(5), pp.442–451.

David, O.J., Kovarik, J.M. and Schmouder, R.L., 2012. Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Fingolimod. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 51(1), pp.15–28.

Dénes, Á., Ferenczi, S. and Kovács, K.J., 2011. Systemic inflammatory challenges compromise survival after experimental stroke via augmenting brain inflammation, blood- brain barrier damage and brain oedema independently of infarct size. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 8(1), p.164.

Diaz, A.C.D., Malone, K., Shearer, J.A., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2021. Histological, behavioural and flow cytometric datasets relating to acute ischaemic stroke in young, aged and ApoE-/- mice in the presence and absence of immunomodulation with fingolimod. Data in Brief, 36, p.107146.

Diaz, A.C.D., Malone, K., Shearer, J.A., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke With Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, [online] 13, p.920449. Available at:

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/>.

Diaz Diaz, A.C., Shearer, J.A., Malone, K. and Waeber, C., 2020. Acute Treatment With Fingolimod Does Not Confer Long-Term Benefit in a Mouse Model of Intracerebral Haemorrhage. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 11, p.613103.

Ding, G., Jiang, Q., Li, L., Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z.G., Lu, M., Panda, S., Li, Q., Ewing, J.R. and Chopp, M., 2010. Cerebral tissue repair and atrophy after embolic stroke in rat: A magnetic resonance imaging study of erythropoietin therapy. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 88(14), pp.3206–3214.

Dirnagl, U., 2006. Bench to Bedside: The Quest for Quality in Experimental Stroke Research. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 26(12), pp.1465–1478.

Dirnagl, U., 2019. Resolving the Tension Between Exploration and Confirmation in Preclinical Biomedical Research. In: Handbook of experimental pharmacology. pp.71–79.

Dirnagl, U. and Endres, M., 2014. Found in Translation: Preclinical Stroke Research Predicts Human Pathophysiology, Clinical Phenotypes, and Therapeutic Outcomes. *Stroke*, 45(5), pp.1510–1518.

Dirnagl, U. and Fisher, M., 2012. International, Multicenter Randomized Preclinical Trials in Translational Stroke Research: It's Time to Act. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 32(6), pp.933–935.

Dirnagl, U., Hakim, A., Macleod, M., Fisher, M., Howells, D., Alan, S.M., Steinberg, G., Planas, A., Boltze, J., Savitz, S., Iadecola, C. and Meairs, S., 2018. A Concerted Appeal for International Cooperation in Preclinical Stroke Research. *Stroke*, 44(6), pp.1754–1760.

Dirnagl, U., Iadecola, C., Moskowitz, M.A., Dirnagl, U., Iadecola, C. and Moskowitz, M.A., 1999. Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 22(9), pp.391–397. Donkor, E.S., 2018. Stroke in the 21st Century: A Snapshot of the Burden, Epidemiology, and Quality of Life. *Stroke Research and Treatment*, 2018, pp.1– 10.

Drake, C., Boutin, H., Jones, M.S., Denes, A., McColl, B.W., Selvarajah, J.R., Hulme, S., Georgiou, R.F., Hinz, R., Gerhard, A., Vail, A., Prenant, C., Julyan, P., Maroy, R., Brown, G., Smigova, A., Herholz, K., Kassiou, M., Crossman, D., Francis, S., Proctor, S.D., Russell, J.C., Hopkins, S.J., Tyrrell, P.J., Rothwell, N.J. and Allan, S.M., 2011. Brain inflammation is induced by co-morbidities and risk factors for stroke. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 25(6), pp.1113–1122.

Drieu, A., Buendia, I., Levard, D., Hélie, P., Brodin, C., Vivien, D. and Rubio, M., 2019. Immune Responses and Anti-inflammatory Strategies in a Clinically Relevant Model of Thromboembolic Ischemic Stroke with Reperfusion. *Translational Stroke Research*, pp.1–15.

Dutta, S. and Sengupta, P., 2016. Men and mice: Relating their ages. *Life Sciences*, 152, pp.244–248.

Eggel, M. and Würbel, H., 2020. Internal consistency and compatibility of the 3Rs and 3Vs principles for project evaluation of animal research. *Laboratory Animals*, p.002367722096858.

Ejaz, S., Williamson, D.J., Ahmed, T., Sitnikov, S., Hong, Y.T., Sawiak, S.J., Fryer, T.D., Aigbirhio, F.I. and Baron, J.-C., 2013. Characterizing infarction and selective neuronal loss following temporary focal cerebral ischemia in the rat: A multi-modality imaging study. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 51, pp.120–132.

Elkind, M.S.V., Veltkamp, R., Montaner, J., Johnston, S.C., Singhal, A.B., Becker, K., Lansberg, M.G., Tang, W., Kasliwal, R. and Elkins, J., 2020. Natalizumab in acute ischemic stroke (ACTION II): a randomized, placebocontrolled trial. *Neurology*, 95(8), p.10.1212/WNL.000000000010038.

Elkins, J., Veltkamp, R., Montaner, J., Johnston, S.C., Singhal, A.B., Becker, K., Lansberg, M.G., Tang, W., Chang, I., Muralidharan, K., Gheuens, S., Mehta, L. and Elkind, M.S.V., 2017. Safety and efficacy of natalizumab in patients with acute ischaemic stroke (ACTION): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase 2 trial. *The Lancet Neurology*, 16(3), pp.217–226.

Ergul, A., Hafez, S., Fouda, A. and Fagan, S.C., 2016. Impact of

Comorbidities on Acute Injury and Recovery in Preclinical Stroke Research: Focus on Hypertension and Diabetes. *Translational Stroke Research*, 7(4), pp.248–260.

Esposito, E., Ahn, B.J., Shi, J., Nakamura, Y., Park, J.H., Mandeville, E.T., Yu, Z., Chan, S.J., Desai, R., Hayakawa, A., Ji, X., Lo, E.H. and Hayakawa, K., 2019. Brain-to-cervical lymph node signaling after stroke. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), p.5306.

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A. and Lang, A.-G., 2009. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), pp.1149–1160.

FDA, n.d. *GILENYA (fingolimod) oral capsules*. [online] Gilenya (fingolimod) oral capsules. Available at:

<https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2019/022527s031lbl.pdf >.

Ferreira, G.S., Veening-Griffioen, D.H., Boon, W.P.C., Moors, E.H.M. and Meer, P.J.K. van, 2020. Levelling the Translational Gap for Animal to Human Efficacy Data. *Animals*, 10(7), p.1199.

Fischer, U., Kaesmacher, J., Pereira, V.M., Chapot, R., Siddiqui, A.H., Froehler, M.T., Cognard, C., Furlan, A.J., Saver, J.L. and Gralla, J., 2017. Direct Mechanical Thrombectomy Versus Combined Intravenous and Mechanical Thrombectomy in Large-Artery Anterior Circulation Stroke. *Stroke*, 48(10), pp.2912–2918.

Fisher, M., 2003. The Ischemic Penumbra: Identification, Evolution and Treatment Concepts. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 17(Suppl 1), pp.1–6.

Fisher, M., Feuerstein, G., Howells, D.W., Hurn, P.D., Kent, T.A., Savitz, S.I. and Lo, E.H., 2009. Update of the Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable Preclinical Recommendations. *Stroke*, 40(6), pp.2244–2250.

Flurkey, K., Currer, J.M. and Harrison, D.E., 2007. The Mouse in Biomedical Research (Second Edition). (Froc NatlAcad Sci USA901993), pp.637–672.

Flynn, E.P. and Auer, R.N., 2002. Eubaric hyperoxemia and experimental cerebral infarction. *Annals of Neurology*, 52(5), pp.566–572.

Foster, C.A., Howard, L.M., Schweitzer, A., Persohn, E., Hiestand, P.C.,

Balatoni, B., Reuschel, R., Beerli, C., Schwartz, M. and Billich, A., 2007. Brain Penetration of the Oral Immunomodulatory Drug FTY720 and Its Phosphorylation in the Central Nervous System during Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis: Consequences for Mode of Action in Multiple Sclerosis. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 323(2), pp.469–475.

Foster, C.A., Mechtcheriakova, D., Storch, M.K., Balatoni, B., Howard, L.M., Bornancin, F., Wlachos, A., Sobanov, J., Kinnunen, A. and Baumruker, T., 2008. FTY720 rescue therapy in the dark agouti rat model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: expression of central nervous system genes and reversal of blood-brain-barrier damage. *Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland)*, 19(2), pp.254–66.

Fu, Y., Hao, J., Zhang, N., Ren, L., Sun, N., Li, Y.-J., Yan, Y., Huang, D., Yu, C. and Shi, F.-D., 2014a. Fingolimod for the Treatment of Intracerebral Hemorrhage: A 2-Arm Proof-of-Concept Study. *JAMA Neurology*, 71(9), pp.1092–1101.

Fu, Y., Liu, Q., Anrather, J. and Shi, F.-D., 2015. Immune interventions in stroke. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 11(9), pp.524–535.

Fu, Y., Zhang, N., Ren, L., Yan, Y., Sun, N., Li, Y.-J., Han, W., Xue, R., Liu, Q., Hao, J., Yu, C. and Shi, F.-D., 2014b. Impact of an immune modulator fingolimod on acute ischemic stroke. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(51), pp.18315–20.

Fukumoto, K., Mizoguchi, H., Takeuchi, H., Horiuchi, H., Kawanokuchi, J., Jin, S., Mizuno, T. and Suzumura, A., 2014. Fingolimod increases brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and ameliorates amyloid β-induced memory impairment. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 268, pp.88–93.

Gaidhani, N., Sun, F., Schreihofer, D. and Uteshev, V.V., 2017. Duration of isoflurane-based surgical anesthesia determines severity of brain injury and neurological deficits after a transient focal ischemia in young adult rats. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 134, pp.168–176.

Gaidhani, N. and Uteshev, V.V., 2018. Treatment duration affects cytoprotective efficacy of positive allosteric modulation of α7 nAChRs after

focal ischemia in rats. *Pharmacological Research*, 136, pp.121–132.

Ganti, L., Jain, A., Yerragondu, N., Jain, M., Bellolio, M.F., Gilmore, R.M. and Rabinstein, A., 2013. Female Gender Remains an Independent Risk Factor for Poor Outcome after Acute Nontraumatic Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Neurology Research International*, 2013, p.219097.

GBD 2016 Stroke Collaborators, Johnson, C.O., Nguyen, M., Roth, G.A., Nichols, E., Alam, T., Abate, D., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Abraha, H.N., Abu-Rmeileh, N.M., Adebayo, O.M., Adeoye, A.M., Agarwal, G., Agrawal, S., Aichour, A.N., Aichour, I., Aichour, M.T.E., Alahdab, F., Ali, R., Alvis-Guzman, N., Anber, N.H., Anjomshoa, M., Arabloo, J., Arauz, A., Arnlöv, J., Arora, A., Awasthi, A., Banach, M., Barboza, M.A., Barker-Collo, S.L., Bärnighausen, T.W., Basu, S., Belachew, A.B., Belavneh, Y.M., Bennett, D.A., Bensenor, I.M., Bhattacharyya, K., Biadgo, B., Bijani, A., Bikboy, B., Saveed, M.S.B., Butt, Z.A., Cahuana-Hurtado, L., Carrero, J.J., Carvalho, F., Castañeda-Orjuela, C.A., Castro, F., Catalá-López, F., Chaiah, Y., Chiang, P.P.-C., Choi, J.-Y.J., Christensen, H., Chu, D.-T., Cortinovis, M., Damasceno, A.A.M., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Daryani, A., Davletov, K., Courten, B. de, Cruz-Góngora, V.D. la, Degefa, M.G., Dharmaratne, S.D., Diaz, D., Dubey, M., Duken, E.E., Edessa, D., Endres, M., FARAON, E.J.A., Farzadfar, F., Fernandes, E., Fischer, F., Flor, L.S., Ganji, M., Gebre, A.K., Gebremichael, T.G., Geta, B., Gezae, K.E., Gill, P.S., Gnedovskaya, E.V., Gómez-Dantés, H., Goulart, A.C., Grosso, G., Guo, Y., Gupta, R., Haj-Mirzaian, A., Haj-Mirzaian, A., Hamidi, S., Hankey, G.J., Hassen, H.Y., Hay, S.I., Hegazy, M.I., Heidari, B., Herial, N.A., Hosseini, M.A., Hostiuc, S., Irvani, S.S.N., Islam, S.M.S., Jahanmehr, N., Javanbakht, M., Jha, R.P., Jonas, J.B., Jozwiak, J.J., Jürisson, M., Kahsay, A., Kalani, R., Kalkonde, Y., Kamil, T.A., Kanchan, T., Karch, A., Karimi, N., Karimi-Sari, H., Kasaeian, A., Kassa, T.D., Kazemeini, H., Kefale, A.T., Khader, Y.S., Khalil, I.A., Khan, E.A., Khang, Y.-H., Khubchandani, J., Kim, D., Kim, Y.J., Kisa, A., Kivimäki, M., Koyanagi, A., Krishnamurthi, R.K., Kumar, G.A., Lafranconi, A., Lewington, S., Li, S., Lo, W.D., Lopez, A.D., Lorkowski, S., Lotufo, P.A., Mackay, M.T., Majdan, M., Majdzadeh, R., Majeed, A., Malekzadeh, R., Manafi, N., Mansournia, M.A., Mehndiratta, M.M., Mehta, V., Mengistu, G., Meretoja,

A., Meretoja, T.J., Miazgowski, B., Miazgowski, T., Miller, T.R., Mirrakhimov, E.M., Mohajer, B., Mohammad, Y., Mohammadoo-khorasani, M., Mohammed, S., Mohebi, F., Mokdad, A.H., Mokhayeri, Y., Moradi, G., Morawska, L., Velásquez, I.M., Mousavi, S.M., Muhammed, O.S.S., Muruet, W., Naderi, M., Naghavi, M., Naik, G., Nascimento, B.R., Negoi, R.I., Nguyen, C.T., Nguyen, L.H., Nirayo, Y.L., Norrving, B., Noubiap, J.J., Ofori-Asenso, R., Ogbo, F.A., Olagunju, A.T., Olagunju, T.O., Owolabi, M.O., Pandian, J.D., Patel, S., Perico, N., Piradov, M.A., Polinder, S., Postma, M.J., Poustchi, H., Prakash, V., Qorbani, M., Rafiei, A., Rahim, F., Rahimi, K., Rahimi-Movaghar, V., Rahman, M., Rahman, M.A., Reis, C., Remuzzi, G., Renzaho, A.M.N., Ricci, S., Roberts, N.L.S., Robinson, S.R., Roever, L., Roshandel, G., Sabbagh, P., Safari, H., Safari, S., Safiri, S., Sahebkar, A., Zahabi, S.S., Samy, A.M., Santalucia, P., Santos, I.S., Santos, J.V., Milicevic, M.M.S., Sartorius, B., Sawant, A.R., Schutte, A.E., Sepanlou, S.G., Shafieesabet, A., Shaikh, M.A., Shams-Beyranvand, M., Sheikh, A., Sheth, K.N., Shibuya, K., Shigematsu, M., Shin, M.-J., Shiue, I., Siabani, S., Sobaih, B.H., Sposato, L.A., Sutradhar, I., Sylaja, P., Szoeke, C.E.I., Ao, B.J.T., Temsah, M.-H., Temsah, O., Thrift, A.G., Tonelli, M., Topor-Madry, R., Tran, B.X., Tran, K.B., Truelsen, T.C., Tsadik, A.G., Ullah, I., Uthman, O.A., Vaduganathan, M., Valdez, P.R., Vasankari, T.J., Vasanthan, R., Venketasubramanian, N., Vosoughi, K., Vu, G.T., Waheed, Y., Weiderpass, E., Weldegwergs, K.G., Westerman, R., Wolfe, C.D.A., Wondafrash, D.Z., Xu, G., Yadollahpour, A., Yamada, T., Yatsuya, H., Yimer, E.M., Yonemoto, N., Yousefifard, M., Yu, C., Zaidi, Z., Zamani, M., Zarghi, A., Zhang, Y., Zodpey, S., Feigin, V.L., Vos, T. and Murray, C.J.L., 2019. Global, regional, and national burden of stroke, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18(5), pp.439–458.

Getz, G.S. and Reardon, C.A., 2006. Diet and Murine Atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 26(2), pp.242–249.

Gokhale, S., Caplan, L.R. and James, M.L., 2015. Sex Differences in Incidence, Pathophysiology, and Outcome of Primary Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 46(3), pp.886–892.

Golde, W.T., Gollobin, P. and Rodriguez, L.L., 2005. A rapid, simple, and

humane method for submandibular bleeding of mice using a lancet. *Lab Animal*, 34(9), pp.39–43.

Gomez, C.R., 2018. Time Is Brain: The Stroke Theory of Relativity. *Journal* of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 27(8), pp.2214–2227.

Gonzales, N.R. and Grotta, J.C., 2016. Stroke (Sixth Edition). *Section VI: Therapy: Part AMedical Therapy: Part A: Medical Therapy*, (Glia502005), pp.916-936.e5.

Goodman, S.N., Fanelli, D. and Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2016. What does research reproducibility mean? *Science Translational Medicine*, 8(341), pp.341ps12-341ps12.

Gouveia, K. and Hurst, J.L., 2017. Optimising reliability of mouse performance in behavioural testing: the major role of non-aversive handling. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), p.44999.

Graham, G.D., 2008. Secondary Stroke Prevention: From Guidelines to Clinical Practice. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 100(10), pp.1125–1137.

Grisotto, C., Taïlé, J., Planesse, C., Diotel, N., Gonthier, M.-P., Meilhac, O. and Couret, D., 2021. High-Fat Diet Aggravates Cerebral Infarct, Hemorrhagic Transformation and Neuroinflammation in a Mouse Stroke Model. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(9), p.4571.

Groves, A., Kihara, Y. and Chun, J., 2013. Fingolimod: Direct CNS effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptor modulation and implications in multiple sclerosis therapy. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 328(1–2), pp.9–18.

Gutiérrez, M., Merino, J.J., Leciñana, M.A. de and Díez-Tejedor, E., 2009. Cerebral Protection, Brain Repair, Plasticity and Cell Therapy in Ischemic Stroke. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, 27(Suppl 1), pp.177–186.

Haas, J., Schwarz, A., Korporal-Kunke, M., Jarius, S., Wiendl, H., Kieseier, B.C. and Wildemann, B., 2014. Fingolimod does not impair T-cell release from the thymus and beneficially affects Treg function in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 21(12), pp.1521–1532.

Hacke, W., 1995. Intravenous thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator for acute hemispheric stroke. The European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study (ECASS). *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 274(13), pp.1017–1025.

Hacke, W., Kaste, M., Bluhmki, E., Brozman, M., Dávalos, A., Guidetti, D., Larrue, V., Lees, K.R., Medeghri, Z., Machnig, T., Schneider, D., Kummer, R. von, Wahlgren, N., Toni, D. and Investigators, E., 2008. Thrombolysis with Alteplase 3 to 4.5 Hours after Acute Ischemic Stroke. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359(13), pp.1317–1329.

Hacke, W., Kaste, M., Fieschi, C., Kummer, R. von, Davalos, A., Meier, D., Larrue, V., Bluhmki, E., Davis, S., Donnan, G., Schneider, D., Diez-Tejedor, E., Trouillas, P. and Investigators, for the S.E.-A.A.S.S., 1998. Randomised doubleblind placebo-controlled trial of thrombolytic therapy with intravenous alteplase in acute ischaemic stroke (ECASS II). *The Lancet*, 352(9136), pp.1245–1251.

Haley, E.C., Levy, D.E., Brott, T.G., Sheppard, G.L., Wong, M.C., Kongable, G.L., Torner, J.C. and Marler, J.R., 1992. Urgent therapy for stroke. Part II. Pilot study of tissue plasminogen activator administered 91-180 minutes from onset. *Stroke*, 23(5), pp.641–645.

Haley, M.J. and Lawrence, C.B., 2016. Obesity and stroke: Can we translate from rodents to patients? *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 36(12), pp.2007–2021.

Haley, M.J., Mullard, G., Hollywood, K.A., Cooper, G.J., Dunn, W.B. and Lawrence, C.B., 2017. Adipose tissue and metabolic and inflammatory responses to stroke are altered in obese mice. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 10(10), pp.1229–1243.

Hankey, G.J., 2017. Stroke. The Lancet, 389(10069), pp.641–654.

Hanley, D.F., Thompson, R.E., Rosenblum, M., Yenokyan, G., Lane, K.,
McBee, N., Mayo, S.W., Bistran-Hall, A.J., Gandhi, D., Mould, W.A., Ullman,
N., Ali, H., Carhuapoma, J.R., Kase, C.S., Lees, K.R., Dawson, J., Wilson, A.,
Betz, J.F., Sugar, E.A., Hao, Y., Avadhani, R., Caron, J.-L., Harrigan, M.R.,
Carlson, A.P., Bulters, D., LeDoux, D., Huang, J., Cobb, C., Gupta, G.,
Kitagawa, R., Chicoine, M.R., Patel, H., Dodd, R., Camarata, P.J., Wolfe, S.,
Stadnik, A., Money, P.L., Mitchell, P., Sarabia, R., Harnof, S., Barzo, P.,
Unterberg, A., Teitelbaum, J.S., Wang, W., Anderson, C.S., Mendelow, A.D.,

183

Gregson, B., Janis, S., Vespa, P., Ziai, W., Zuccarello, M., Awad, I.A., Investigators, M.I., Abdul-Rahim, A., Abou-Hamden, A., Abraham, M., Ahmed, A., Alba, C.A., Aldrich, E.F., Altschul, D., Amin-Hanjani, S., Anderson, D., Ansari, S., Antezana, D., Ardelt, A., Arikan, F., Baguena, M., Baker, A., Barrer, S.J., Becker, K.J., Bergman, T., Boström, A., Braun, J., Brindley, P., Broaddus, W.C., Brown, R., Buki, A., Cao, B., Cao, Y., Carrion-Penagos, J., Chalela, J., Chang, T., Chorro, I.M., Chowdhry, S., Corral, L., Csiba, L., Davies, J., Díaz, A.T., Dierdeyn, C.P., Diringer, M., Dlugash, R., Ecker, R., Economas, T., Enriquez, P., Ezer, E., Fan, Y., Feng, H., Franz, D., Freeman, W.D., Fusco, M., Galicich, W., Gelea, M.L., Goldstein, J., Gonzalez, A.C., Grabarits, C., Greenberg, S., Gress, D., Gu, E., Hall, C., Hernandez, F.M., Hoesch, R., Hoh, B.L., Houser, J., Hu, R., Huang, Y., Hussain, M.A., Insinga, S., Jadhav, A., Jaffe, J., Jahromi, B.S., Jallo, J., James, M., James, R.F., Jankowitz, B., Jeon, E., Jichici, D., Jonczak, K., Jonker, B., Karlen, N., Keric, N., Kerz, T., Knopman, J., Koenig, C., Krishnamurthy, S., Kumar, A., Kureshi, I., Laidlaw, J., Lakhanpal, A., Latorre, J.G., Leifer, D., Leiphart, J., Lenington, S., Li, Y., Lopez, G., Lovick, D., Lumenta, C., Luo, J., Maas, M.B., MacDonald, J., MacKenzie, L., Madan, V., Majkowski, R., Major, O., Malhorta, R., Malkoff, M., Mangat, H., Maswadeh, A., Matouk, C., McArthur, K., McCaul, S., Medow, J., Mezey, G., Mighty, J., Miller, D., Mohan, K.K., Muir, K., Muñoz, L., Nakaji, P., Nee, A., Nekoovaght-Tak, S., Nyquist, P., O'Kane, R., Okasha, M., O'Kelly, C., Ostapkovich, N., Pandey, A., Parry-Jones, A., Perla, K.R., Pollack, A., Polster, S., Pouratian, N., Quinn, T., Rajajee, V., Reddy, K., Rehman, M., Reimer, R., Rincon, F., Rybinnik, I., Sanchez, B., Sansing, L., Schneck, M., Schuerer, L., Schul, D., Schweitzer, J., Seder, D.B., Seyfried, D., Sheth, K., Spiotta, A., Stechison, M., Szabo, K., Tamayo, G., Tanczos, K., Taussky, P., Terry, J., Testai, F., Thomas, K., Thompson, C.B., Thompson, G., Torner, J.C., Tran, H., Tucker, K., Ungar, L., Varelas, P., Vargas, N.M., Vatter, H., Venkatasubramanian, C., Vermillion, K., Vollmer, D., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Wen, J., Whitworth, L.T., Willis, B., Wrencher, M., Wright, S.E., Xu, Y., Yanase, L., Yi, X., Yu, Z. and Zomorodi, A., 2019. Efficacy and safety of minimally invasive surgery with thrombolysis in intracerebral haemorrhage evacuation (MISTIE III): a

randomised, controlled, open-label, blinded endpoint phase 3 trial. *The Lancet*, 393(10175), pp.1021–1032.

Harris, N.M., Ritzel, R., Mancini, N., Jiang, Y., Yi, X., Manickam, D.S., Banks, W.A., Kabanov, A.V., McCullough, L.D. and Verma, R., 2016. Nanoparticle delivery of brain derived neurotrophic factor after focal cerebral ischemia reduces tissue injury and enhances behavioral recovery. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 150, pp.48–56.

Harris, N.M., Roy-O'Reilly, M., Ritzel, R.M., Holmes, A., Sansing, L.H., O'Keefe, L.M., McCullough, L.D. and Chauhan, A., 2020. Depletion of CD4 T cells provides therapeutic benefits in aged mice after ischemic stroke. *Experimental Neurology*, 326, p.113202.

Harris, T.C., Rooij, R. de and Kuhl, E., 2019. The Shrinking Brain: Cerebral Atrophy Following Traumatic Brain Injury. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 47(9), pp.1941–1959.

Harukuni, I., Bhardwaj, A., Traystman, R.J., Crain, B., London, E.D. and Kirsch, J.R., 1998. Neuroprotection from Focal Ischemia by 4-Phenyl-1-(4-Phenylbutyl) Piperidine (PPBP) Is Dependent on Treatment Duration in Rats. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 87(6), pp.1299–1305.

Hasegawa, Y., Suzuki, H., Altay, O., Rolland, W. and Zhang, J.H., 2013. Role of the Sphingosine Metabolism Pathway on Neurons Against Experimental Cerebral Ischemia in Rats. *Translational Stroke Research*, 4(5), pp.524–532.

Hasegawa, Y., Suzuki, H., Sozen, T., Rolland, W. and Zhang, J.H., 2010. Activation of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor-1 by FTY720 Is Neuroprotective After Ischemic Stroke in Rats. *Stroke*, 41(2), pp.368–374.

Hegde, A., Menon, G. and Kumar, V., 2019. Surgery for Spontaneous Intracerebral Hemorrhage – A comparative study with medical management in moderate to large sized hematomas. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, 184, p.105415.

Heiss, W., 2012. The ischemic penumbra: how does tissue injury evolve? *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1268(1), pp.26–34.

Herz, J., Hagen, S.I., Bergmüller, E., Sabellek, P., Göthert, J.R., Buer, J., Hansen, W., Hermann, D.M. and Doeppner, T.R., 2014. Exacerbation of ischemic brain injury in hypercholesterolemic mice is associated with pronounced changes in peripheral and cerebral immune responses. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 62(J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab 2013), pp.456–468.

Hoffmann, U., Sheng, H., Ayata, C. and Warner, D.S., 2016. Anesthesia in Experimental Stroke Research. *Translational Stroke Research*, 7(5), pp.358–367.

Hossmann, K., 1994. Viability thresholds and the penumbra of focal ischemia. *Annals of Neurology*, 36(4), pp.557–565.

Hossmann, K.-A., 2006. Pathophysiology and Therapy of Experimental Stroke. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 26(7–8), pp.1055–1081.

Hossmann, K.-A., 2011. The Two Pathophysiologies of Focal Brain Ischemia: Implications for Translational Stroke Research. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow* & *Metabolism*, 32(7), pp.1310–1316.

Hostettler, I.C., Seiffge, D.J. and Werring, D.J., 2019. Intracerebral hemorrhage: an update on diagnosis and treatment. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 19(7), pp.679–694.

Howells, D.W., Porritt, M.J., Rewell, S.S., O'Collins, V., Sena, E.S., Worp,
H.B. van der, Traystman, R.J. and Macleod, M.R., 2010. Different Strokes for
Different Folks: The Rich Diversity of Animal Models of Focal Cerebral
Ischemia. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 30(8), pp.1412–1431.

Hu, Z.-W., Zhou, L.-Q., Yang, S., Chen, M., Yu, H.-H., Tao, R., Wu, L.-J., Wang, W., Zhang, Q., Qin, C. and Tian, D.-S., 2020. FTY720 Modulates Microglia Toward Anti-inflammatory Phenotype by Suppressing Autophagy via STAT1 Pathway. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*.

Hughes, J.L., Beech, J.S., Jones, P.S., Wang, D., Menon, D.K. and Baron, J.C., 2009. Mapping selective neuronal loss and microglial activation in the salvaged neocortical penumbra in the rat. *NeuroImage*, 49(1), pp.19–31.

Hum, P.D., Subramanian, S., Parker, S.M., Afentoulis, M.E., Kaler, L.J., Vandenbark, A.A. and Offner, H., 2007. T- and B-Cell-Deficient Mice with Experimental Stroke have Reduced Lesion Size and Inflammation. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 27(11), pp.1798–1805.

Hunter, S.F., Bowen, J.D. and Reder, A.T., 2016. The Direct Effects of Fingolimod in the Central Nervous System: Implications for Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis. CNS Drugs, 30(2), pp.135–147.

Hurst, J.L. and West, R.S., 2010. Taming anxiety in laboratory mice. *Nature Methods*, 7(10), pp.825–826.

Iadecola, C. and Anrather, J., 2011. The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation. *Nature Medicine*, 17(7), p.796.

Iadecola, C., Buckwalter, M.S. and Anrather, J., 2020. Immune responses to stroke: mechanisms, modulation, and therapeutic potential. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 130(6), pp.2777–2788.

Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2005. Why Most Published Research Findings Are False. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(8), p.e124.

Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2014. How to Make More Published Research True. *PLoS Medicine*, 11(10), p.e1001747.

Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2017. Acknowledging and Overcoming Nonreproducibility in Basic and Preclinical Research. *JAMA*, 317(10), p.1019.

Ioannidis, J.P.A., Greenland, S., Hlatky, M.A., Khoury, M.J., Macleod, M.R., Moher, D., Schulz, K.F. and Tibshirani, R., 2014. Increasing value and reducing waste in research design, conduct, and analysis. *The Lancet*, 383(9912), pp.166– 175.

Jahr, H., Pfeiffer, G., Hering, B.J., Federlin, K. and Bretzel, R.G., 1999. Endotoxin-mediated activation of cytokine production in human PBMCs by collagenase and Ficoll. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 77(1), pp.118–120.

Jing, C., Bian, L., Wang, M., Keep, R.F., Xi, G. and Hua, Y., 2019. Enhancement of Hematoma Clearance With CD47 Blocking Antibody in Experimental Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 50(6), pp.1539–1547.

Kafkafi, N., Agassi, J., Chesler, E.J., Crabbe, J.C., Crusio, W.E., Eilam, D., Gerlai, R., Golani, I., Gomez-Marin, A., Heller, R., Iraqi, F., Jaljuli, I., Karp, N.A., Morgan, H., Nicholson, G., Pfaff, D.W., Richter, S.H., Stark, P.B., Stiedl, O., Stodden, V., Tarantino, L.M., Tucci, V., Valdar, W., Williams, R.W., Würbel, H. and Benjamini, Y., 2018. Reproducibility and replicability of rodent phenotyping in preclinical studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 87(PloS one 6 9 2011), pp.218–232.

Kahle, M.P. and Bix, G.J., 2012. Successfully Climbing the "STAIRs":

Surmounting Failed Translation of Experimental Ischemic Stroke Treatments. *Stroke Research and Treatment*, 2012, p.374098.

Kappos, L., Antel, J., Comi, G., Montalban, X., O'Connor, P., Polman, C.H., Haas, T., Korn, A.A., Karlsson, G. and Radue, E.W., 2006. Oral Fingolimod (FTY720) for Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(11), pp.1124–1140.

Kappos, L., Arnold, D.L., Bar-Or, A., Camm, J., Derfuss, T., Kieseier, B.C., Sprenger, T., Greenough, K., Ni, P. and Harada, T., 2016. Safety and efficacy of amiselimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis (MOMENTUM): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *The Lancet Neurology*, 15(11), pp.1148–1159.

Kappos, L., Radue, E.-W., O'Connor, P., Polman, C., Hohlfeld, R., Calabresi,
P., Selmaj, K., Agoropoulou, C., Leyk, M., Zhang-Auberson, L., Burtin, P. and
Group, F.S., 2010. A Placebo-Controlled Trial of Oral Fingolimod in Relapsing
Multiple Sclerosis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 362(5), pp.387–401.

Katan, M. and Luft, A., 2018. Global Burden of Stroke. *Seminars in Neurology*, 38(02), pp.208–211.

Katchanov, J., Waeber, C., Gertz, K., Gietz, A., Winter, B., Brück, W., Dirnagl, U., Veh, R.W. and Endres, M., 2006. Selective Neuronal Vulnerability Following Mild Focal Brain Ischemia in the Mouse. *Brain Pathology*, 13(4), pp.452–464.

Keep, R.F., Hua, Y. and Xi, G., 2012. Intracerebral haemorrhage: mechanisms of injury and therapeutic targets. *The Lancet. Neurology*, 11(8), pp.720–31.

Khoshnam, S.E., Winlow, W., Farzaneh, M., Farbood, Y. and Moghaddam, H.F., 2017. Pathogenic mechanisms following ischemic stroke. *Neurological Sciences*, 38(7), pp.1167–1186.

Kilkenny, C., Browne, W.J., Cuthill, I.C., Emerson, M. and Altman, D.G., 2010. Improving Bioscience Research Reporting: The ARRIVE Guidelines for Reporting Animal Research. *PLoS Biology*, 8(6), p.e1000412.

Kim, E., Tolhurst, A.T. and Cho, S., 2014. Deregulation of inflammatory response in the diabetic condition is associated with increased ischemic brain

injury. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 11(1), p.83.

Kim, G.S., Yang, L., Zhang, G., Zhao, H., Selim, M., McCullough, L.D., Kluk, M.J. and Sanchez, T., 2015. Critical role of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 in the disruption of cerebrovascular integrity in experimental stroke. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), p.7893.

Kim, H., Seo, J.S., Lee, S.-Y., Ha, K.-T., Choi, B.T., Shin, Y.-I., Yun, Y.J. and Shin, H.K., 2020. AIM2 inflammasome contributes to brain injury and chronic post-stroke cognitive impairment in mice. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 87, pp.765–776.

Kim, H.Y., Singhal, A.B. and Lo, E.H., 2005. Normobaric hyperoxia extends the reperfusion window in focal cerebral ischemia. *Annals of Neurology*, 57(4), pp.571–575.

Kipp, M., 2020. Does Siponimod Exert Direct Effects in the Central Nervous System? *Cells*, 9(8), p.1771.

Kirkman, M.A., Allan, S.M. and Parry-Jones, A.R., 2011. Experimental Intracerebral Hemorrhage: Avoiding Pitfalls in Translational Research. *Journal* of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 31(11), pp.2135–2151.

Kleikers, P.W., Hooijmans, C., Göb, E., Langhauser, F., Rewell, S.S., Radermacher, K., Ritskes-Hoitinga, M., Howells, D.W., Kleinschnitz, C. and Schmidt, H.H., 2015. A combined pre-clinical meta-analysis and randomized confirmatory trial approach to improve data validity for therapeutic target validation. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), p.13428.

Kleinig, T.J. and Vink, R., 2009. Suppression of inflammation in ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke: therapeutic options. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 22(3), pp.294–301.

Kleinschnitz, C., Fluri, F. and Schuhmann, M., 2015. Animal models of ischemic stroke and their application in clinical research. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, Volume 9, pp.3445–3454.

Kong, X., Group, E.L.W., Francks, C., Kong, X., Mathias, S.R., Guadalupe, T., Abé, C., Agartz, I., Akudjedu, T.N., Aleman, A., Alhusaini, S., Allen, N.B., Ames, D., Andreassen, O.A., Vasquez, A.A., Armstrong, N.J., Asherson, P., Bergo, F., Bastin, M.E., Batalla, A., Bauer, J., Baune, B.T., Baur-Streubel, R., Biederman, J., Blaine, S.K., Boedhoe, P., Bøen, E., Bose, A., Bralten, J., Brandeis, D., Brem, S., Brodaty, H., Yüksel, D., Brooks, S.J., Buitelaar, J., Bürger, C., Bülow, R., Calhoun, V., Calvo, A., Canales-Rodríguez, E.J., Cannon, D.M., Caparelli, E.C., Castellanos, F.X., Cendes, F., Chaim-Avancini, T.M., Chantiluke, K., Chen, Q., Chen, X., Cheng, Y., Christakou, A., Clark, V.P., Coghill, D., Connolly, C.G., Conzelmann, A., Córdova-Palomera, A., Cousijn, J., Crow, T., Cubillo, A., Dannlowski, U., Bruttopilo, S.A., Zeeuw, P., Deary, I.J., Demeter, D.V., Martino, A.D., Dickie, E.W., Dietsche, B., Doan, N.T., Doherty, C.P., Doyle, A., Durston, S., Earl, E., Ehrlich, S., Ekman, C.J., Elvsåshagen, T., Epstein, J.N., Fair, D.A., Faraone, S.V., Fernández, G., Flint, C., Filho, G.B., Förster, K., Fouche, J., Foxe, J.J., Frodl, T., Fuentes-Claramonte, P., Fullerton, J.M., Garavan, H., Garcia, D.S., Gotlib, I.H., Goudriaan, A.E., Grabe, H.J., Groenewold, N.A., Grotegerd, D., Gruber, O., Gurholt, T., Haavik, J., Hahn, T., Hansell, N.K., Harris, M.A., Hartman, C.A., Hernández, M.C.V., Heslenfeld, D., Hester, R., Hibar, D.P., Ho, B., Ho, T.C., Hoekstra, P.J., Holst, R.J., Hoogman, M., Høvik, M.F., Howells, F.M., Hugdahl, K., Huyser, C., Ingvar, M., Ishikawa, A., James, A., Jahanshad, N., Jernigan, T.L., Jönsson, E.G., Kaleda, V., Kelly, C., Kerich, M., Keshavan, M.S., Khadka, S., Kircher, T., Kohls, G., Konrad, K., Korucuoglu, O., Krämer, B., Krug, A., Kuntsi, J., Kwon, J.S., Lambregts-Rommelse, N., Landén, M., Lázaro, L., Lebedeva, I., Lenroot, R., Lesch, K., Li, Q., Lim, K.O., Liu, J., Lochner, C., London, E.D., Lorenzetti, V., Luciano, M., Luijten, M., Lundervold, A.J., Mackey, S., MacMaster, F.P., Maingault, S., Malpas, C.B., Malt, U.F., Mataix-Cols, D., Martin-Santos, R., Mayer, A.R., McCarthy, H., Medland, S., Metha, M., Mitchell, P.B., Mueller, B.A., Maniega, S.M., Mazoyer, B., McDonald, C., McLellan, Q., McMahon, K.L., McPhilemy, G., Momenan, R., Morales, A.M., Narayanaswamy, J.C., Moreira, J.C.V., Nerland, S., Nestor, L., Newman, E., Nigg, J.T., Nordvik, J.E., Novotny, S., Weiss, E.O., O'Gorman, R.L., Oosterlaan, J., Oranje, B., Orr, C., Overs, B., Paloyelis, Y., Pauli, P., Paulus, M., Plessen, K.J., Polier, G.G., Pomarol-Clotet, E., Portella, M.J., Qiu, J., Radua, J., Ramos-Quiroga, J.A., Reddy, Y.C.J., Reif, A., Roberts, G., Rosa, P., Rubia, K., Sacchet, M.D., Sachdev, P.S., Salvador, R., Schmaal, L., Schulte-Rüther, M., Schweren, L., Seitz, J., Serpa, M.H., Shaw, P.,

Shumskaya, E., Silk, T.J., Simmons, A.N., Simulionyte, E., Sinha, R., Sjoerds, Z., Smelror, R.E., Soliva, J.C., Solowij, N., Souza-Duran, F.L., Sponheim, S.R., Stein, D.J., Stein, E.A., Stevens, M., Strike, L.T., Sudre, G., Sui, J., Tamm, L., Temmingh, H.S., Thoma, R.J., Tomyshev, A., Tronchin, G., Turner, J., Uhlmann, A., Erp, T.G.M., Heuvel, O.A., Meer, D., Eijk, L., Vance, A., Veer, I.M., Veltman, D.J., Venkatasubramanian, G., Vilarroya, O., Vives-Gilabert, Y., Voineskos, A.N., Völzke, H., Vuletic, D., Walitza, S., Walter, H., Walton, E., Wardlaw, J.M., Wen, W., Westlye, L.T., Whelan, C.D., White, T., Wiers, R.W., Wright, M.J., Wittfeld, K., Yang, T.T., Yasuda, C.L., Yoncheva, Y., Yücel, M., Yun, J., Zanetti, M.V., Zhen, Z., Zhu, X., Ziegler, G.C., Zubicaray, G.I., Zwiers, M., Project, K.S., Glahn, D.C., Crivello, F., Fisher, S.E., Thompson, P.M., Francks, C., Farde, L., Flyckt, L., Engberg, G., Erhardt, S., Fatouros-Bergman, H., Cervenka, S., Schwieler, L., Piehl, F., Collste, K., Victorsson, P., Malmqvist, A., Hedberg, M., Orhan, F. and Sellgren, C., 2020. Reproducibility in the absence of selective reporting: An illustration from large-scale brain asymmetry research. Human Brain Mapping.

Korninger, C. and Collen, D., 1981. Studies on the Specific Fibrinolytic Effect of Human Extrinsic (Tissue-Type) Plasminogen Activator in Human Blood and in Various Animal Species in Vitro. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 46(02), pp.561–565.

Kothari, R., Sauerbeck, L., Jauch, E., Broderick, J., Brott, T., Khoury, J. and Liu, T., 1997. Patients' Awareness of Stroke Signs, Symptoms, and Risk Factors. *Stroke*, 28(10), pp.1871–1875.

Kovarik, J.M., Hartmann, S., Bartlett, M., Riviere, G., Neddermann, D., Wang, Y., Port, A. and Schmouder, R.L., 2007. Oral-intravenous crossover study of fingolimod pharmacokinetics, lymphocyte responses and cardiac effects. *Biopharmaceutics & Drug Disposition*, 28(2), pp.97–104.

Kronenberg, G., Uhlemann, R., Richter, N., Klempin, F., Wegner, S., Staerck, L., Wolf, S., Uckert, W., Kettenmann, H., Endres, M. and Gertz, K., 2018. Distinguishing features of microglia- and monocyte-derived macrophages after stroke. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 135(4), pp.551–568.

Kudo, M., Aoyama, A., Ichimori, S. and Fukunaga, N., 1982. An animal

model of cerebral infarction. Homologous blood clot emboli in rats. *Stroke*, 13(4), pp.505–508.

Kuramatsu, J.B., Sembill, J.A. and Huttner, H.B., 2019. Reversal of oral anticoagulation in patients with acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *Critical Care*, 23(1), p.206.

Lambertsen, K.L., Finsen, B. and Clausen, B.H., 2019. Post-stroke inflammation—target or tool for therapy? *Acta Neuropathologica*, 137(5), pp.693–714.

Lee, S.H., Oh, C.W., Han, J.H., Kim, C.-Y., Kwon, O.-K., Son, Y.-J., Bae, H.-J., Han, M.-K. and Chung, Y.S., 2010. The effect of brain atrophy on outcome after a large cerebral infarction. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 81(12), p.1316.

Lees, K.R., Zivin, J.A., Ashwood, T., Davalos, A., Davis, S.M., Diener, H.-C., Grotta, J., Lyden, P., Shuaib, A., Hårdemark, H.-G., Wasiewski, W.W. and Investigators, S.-A.I.N.T. (SAINT I.T., 2006. NXY-059 for Acute Ischemic Stroke. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 354(6), pp.588–600.

Lei, B., Mace, B., Bellows, S.T., Sullivan, P.M., Vitek, M.P., Laskowitz, D.T. and James, M.L., 2012. Interaction Between Sex and Apolipoprotein E Genetic Background in a Murine Model of Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Translational Stroke Research*, 3(Suppl 1), pp.94–101.

Leung, V., Rousseau-Blass, F., Beauchamp, G. and Pang, D.S.J., 2018. ARRIVE has not ARRIVEd: Support for the ARRIVE (Animal Research: Reporting of in vivo Experiments) guidelines does not improve the reporting quality of papers in animal welfare, analgesia or anesthesia. *PLOS ONE*, 13(5), p.e0197882.

Levard, D., Buendia, I., Lanquetin, A., Glavan, M., Vivien, D. and Rubio, M., 2020. Filling the gaps on stroke research: focus on inflammation and immunity. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*.

Li, W., He, T., Jiang, L., Shi, R., Song, Y., Mamtilahun, M., Ma, Y., Zhang, Z., Tang, Y., Yang, G.-Y. and Wang, Y., 2020. Fingolimod Inhibits Inflammation but Exacerbates Brain Edema in the Acute Phases of Cerebral Ischemia in Diabetic Mice. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 14, p.842. Li, W., Xu, H. and Testai, F.D., 2016. Mechanism of Action and Clinical Potential of Fingolimod for the Treatment of Stroke. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, p.139.

Li, X., Wang, M.-H., Qin, C., Fan, W.-H., Tian, D.-S. and Liu, J.-L., 2017. Fingolimod suppresses neuronal autophagy through the mTOR/p70S6K pathway and alleviates ischemic brain damage in mice. *PloS one*, 12(11), p.e0188748.

Liang, L., Yang, J. and Jin, X., 2016. Cocktail treatment, a promising strategy to treat acute cerebral ischemic stroke? *Medical Gas Research*, 6(1), pp.33–38.

Liantao, Z., Jing, Z., Lingling, L. and Hua, L., 2019. Efficacy of fingolimod combined with alteplase in acute ischemic stroke and rehabilitation nursing. *Pakistan journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, 32(1(Special)), pp.413–419.

Liddle, L.J., Ralhan, S., Ward, D.L. and Colbourne, F., 2020. Translational Intracerebral Hemorrhage Research: Has Current Neuroprotection Research ARRIVEd at a Standard for Experimental Design and Reporting? *Translational Stroke Research*, pp.1–11.

Liesz, A., Sun, L., Zhou, W., Schwarting, S., Mracsko, E., Zorn, M., Bauer, H., Sommer, C. and Veltkamp, R., 2011. FTY720 Reduces Post-Ischemic Brain Lymphocyte Influx but Does Not Improve Outcome in Permanent Murine Cerebral Ischemia. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), p.e21312.

Liesz, A., Suri-Payer, E., Veltkamp, C., Doerr, H., Sommer, C., Rivest, S., Giese, T. and Veltkamp, R., 2009. Regulatory T cells are key cerebroprotective immunomodulators in acute experimental stroke. *Nature Medicine*, 15(2), pp.192–199.

Lipton, P., 1999. Ischemic Cell Death in Brain Neurons. *Physiological Reviews*, 79(4), pp.1431–1568.

Liszczak, T.M., Hedley-Whyte, E.T., Adams, J.F., Han, D.H., Kolluri, V.S., Vacanti, F.X., Heros, R.C. and Zervas, N.T., 1984. Limitations of tetrazolium salts in delineating infarcted brain. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 65(2), pp.150–157.

Liu, J., Zhang, C., Tao, W. and Liu, M., 2012. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Efficacy of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P) Receptor Agonist FTY720 (Fingolimod) in Animal Models of Stroke. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 123(3), pp.163–169. Llovera, G., Hofmann, K., Roth, S., Salas-Pérdomo, A., Ferrer-Ferrer, M., Perego, C., Zanier, E.R., Mamrak, U., Rex, A., Party, H., Agin, V., Fauchon, C., Orset, C., Haelewyn, B., Simoni, M.-G.D., Dirnagl, U., Grittner, U., Planas, A.M., Plesnila, N., Vivien, D. and Liesz, A., 2015. Results of a preclinical randomized controlled multicenter trial (pRCT): Anti-CD49d treatment for acute brain ischemia. *Science Translational Medicine*, 7(299), pp.299ra121-299ra121.

Llovera, G., Roth, S., Plesnila, N., Veltkamp, R. and Liesz, A., 2014. Modeling Stroke in Mice: Permanent Coagulation of the Distal Middle Cerebral Artery. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (89), p.51729.

Longa, E.Z., Weinstein, P.R., Carlson, S. and Cummins, R., 1989. Reversible middle cerebral artery occlusion without craniectomy in rats. *Stroke*, 20(1), pp.84–91.

Lu, L., Barfejani, A.H., Qin, T., Dong, Q., Ayata, C. and Waeber, C., 2014. Fingolimod exerts neuroprotective effects in a mouse model of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Brain Research*, 1555, pp.89–96.

Luengo-Fernandez, R., Violato, M., Candio, P. and Leal, J., 2019. Economic burden of stroke across Europe: A population-based cost analysis. *European Stroke Journal*, 5(1), pp.17–25.

Luzzi, S., Elia, A., Maestro, M.D., Morotti, A., Elbabaa, S.K., Cavallini, A. and Galzio, R., 2019. Indication, Timing and Surgical Treatment of Spontaneous Intracerebral Hemorrhage: Systematic Review and Proposal of a Management Algorithm. *World Neurosurgery*, 124, pp.e769–e778.

Lyden, P., Pryor, K.E., Coffey, C.S., Cudkowicz, M., Conwit, R., Jadhav, A., Sawyer, R.N., Claassen, J., Adeoye, O., Song, S., Hannon, P., Rost, N.S., Hinduja, A., Torbey, M., Lee, J., Benesch, C., Rippee, M., Rymer, M., Froehler, M.T., Haley, E.C., Johnson, M., Yankey, J., Magee, K., Qidwai, J., Levy, H., Haacke, E.M., Fawaz, M., Davis, T.P., Toga, A.W., Griffin, J.H., Zlokovic, B.V. and Investigators, the N.C.T.N.N., 2019. Final Results of the RHAPSODY Trial: A Multi-Center, Phase 2 Trial Using a Continual Reassessment Method to Determine the Safety and Tolerability of 3K3A-APC, A Recombinant Variant of Human Activated Protein C, in Combination with Tissue Plasminogen Activator, Mechanical Thrombectomy or both in Moderate to Severe Acute Ischemic Stroke. Annals of Neurology, 85(1), pp.125–136.

Ma, Q., Khatibi, N.H., Chen, H., Tang, J. and Zhang, J.H., 2011. History of preclinical models of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Acta neurochirurgica*. *Supplement*, 111, pp.3–8.

MacLellan, C.L., Silasi, G., Auriat, A.M. and Colbourne, F., 2010. Rodent Models of Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 41(10), pp.S95–S98.

Macleod, M. and Mohan, S., 2019. Reproducibility and Rigor in Animal-Based Research. *ILAR Journal*.

Macleod, M.R., Worp, H.B. van der, Sena, E.S., Howells, D.W., Dirnagl, U. and Donnan, G.A., 2008. Evidence for the Efficacy of NXY-059 in Experimental Focal Cerebral Ischaemia Is Confounded by Study Quality. *Stroke*, 39(10), pp.2824–2829.

Macrae, I., 2011. Preclinical stroke research – advantages and disadvantages of the most common rodent models of focal ischaemia. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 164(4), pp.1062–1078.

Maganto-Garcia, E., Tarrio, M. and Lichtman, A.H., 2012. Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis. *Current protocols in immunology / edited by John E. Coligan ... [et al.]*, Chapter 15, p.15.24.1-15.24.23.

Malone, K., Amu, S., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2018. The immune system and stroke: from current targets to future therapy. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 97(1), pp.5–16.

Malone, K., Amu, S., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2019. Immunomodulatory Therapeutic Strategies in Stroke. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 10, p.630.

Malone, K., Diaz Diaz, A.C., Shearer, J.A., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2021. The effect of fingolimod on regulatory T cells in a mouse model of brain ischaemia. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, 18(1), p.37.

Malone, K., Shearer, J.A., Williams, J.M., Moore, A.C., Moore, T. and Waeber, C., 2022. Recombinant pregnancy-specific glycoprotein-1-Fc reduces functional deficit in a mouse model of permanent brain ischaemia. *Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health*, 25, p.100497.

Manaenko, A., Chen, H., Zhang, J.H. and Tang, J., 2011. Comparison of Different Preclinical Models of Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Intracerebral*

Hemorrhage Research, pp.9–14.

Mandeville, E.T., Li, W., Quinto-Alemany, D., Zhang, F., Esposito, E., Nakano, T., Mandeville, J.B., Lee, J., Park, J.H., Arai, K., Waeber, C., Lizasoain, I., Moro, M.Á. and Lo, E.H., 2022. Fingolimod Does Not Reduce Infarction After Focal Cerebral Ischemia in Mice During Active or Inactive Circadian Phases. *Stroke*.

Manwani, B., Liu, F., Xu, Y., Persky, R., Li, J. and McCullough, L.D., 2011. Functional recovery in aging mice after experimental stroke. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 25(8), pp.1689–700.

Manwani, B. and McCullough, L.D., 2011. Sexual dimorphism in ischemic stroke: lessons from the laboratory. *Women's Health*, 7(3), pp.319–339.

Matloubian, M., Lo, C.G., Cinamon, G., Lesneski, M.J., Xu, Y., Brinkmann, V., Allende, M.L., Proia, R.L. and Cyster, J.G., 2004. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature*, 427(6972), pp.355–360.

Maysami, S., Haley, M.J., Gorenkova, N., Krishnan, S., McColl, B.W. and Lawrence, C.B., 2015a. Prolonged diet-induced obesity in mice modifies the inflammatory response and leads to worse outcome after stroke. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 12(1), p.140.

Maysami, S., Wong, R., Pradillo, J.M., Denes, A., Dhungana, H., Malm, T., Koistinaho, J., Orset, C., Rahman, M., Rubio, M., Schwaninger, M., Vivien, D., Bath, P.M., Rothwell, N.J. and Allan, S.M., 2015b. A cross-laboratory preclinical study on the effectiveness of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in stroke. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 36(3), pp.596–605.

McBride, D.W. and Zhang, J.H., 2017. Precision Stroke Animal Models: the Permanent MCAO Model Should Be the Primary Model, Not Transient MCAO. *Translational Stroke Research*, 8(5), pp.397–404.

McCann, S.K. and Lawrence, C.B., 2020. Comorbidity and age in the modelling of stroke: are we still failing to consider the characteristics of stroke patients? *BMJ Open Science*, 4(1), p.e100013.

Menna, L.D., Molinaro, G., Nuzzo, L.D., Riozzi, B., Zappulla, C., Pozzilli, C., Turrini, R., Caraci, F., Copani, A., Battaglia, G., Nicoletti, F. and Bruno, V.,

2013. Fingolimod protects cultured cortical neurons against excitotoxic death. *Pharmacological Research*, 67(1), pp.1–9.

Meno-Tetang, G.M.L., Li, H., Mis, S., Pyszczynski, N., Heining, P., Lowe, P. and Jusko, W.J., 2006. Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling of FTY720 (2-Amino-2[2-(-4-octylphenyl)ethyl]propane-1,3-diol hydrochloride) in Rats After Oral and Intravenous Doses. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 34(9), pp.1480–1487.

Mergenthaler, P. and Meisel, A., 2012. Do stroke models model stroke? *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 5(6), pp.718–725.

Meschia, J.F., Bushnell, C., Boden-Albala, B., Braun, L.T., Bravata, D.M., Chaturvedi, S., Creager, M.A., Eckel, R.H., Elkind, M.S.V., Fornage, M., Goldstein, L.B., Greenberg, S.M., Horvath, S.E., Iadecola, C., Jauch, E.C., Moore, W.S., Wilson, J.A., American Heart Association Stroke Council, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Functional Genomics and Translational Biology, and Council on Hypertension, 2014. Guidelines for the Primary Prevention of Stroke. *Stroke*, 45(12), pp.3754–3832.

Meyers, P.M., Schumacher, H.C., Jr, E.S.C., Heyer, E.J., Gray, W.A. and Higashida, R.T., 2011. Current Status of Endovascular Stroke Treatment. *Circulation*, 123(22), pp.2591–2601.

Muls, N., Dang, H.A., Sindic, C.J.M. and Pesch, V. van, 2014. Fingolimod Increases CD39-Expressing Regulatory T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis Patients. *PLoS ONE*, 9(11), p.e113025.

Munting, L.P., Derieppe, M.P.P., Suidgeest, E., Senneville, B.D. de, Wells, J.A. and Weerd, L., 2019. Influence of different isoflurane anesthesia protocols on murine cerebral hemodynamics measured with pseudo-continuous arterial spin labeling. *NMR in Biomedicine*, 32(8), p.e4105.

Nakamura, T., Xi, G., Hua, Y., Schallert, T., Hoff, J.T. and Keep, R.F., 2004. Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Mice: Model Characterization and Application for Genetically Modified Mice. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 24(5), pp.487–494.

Nakashima, Y., Plump, A.S., Raines, E.W., Breslow, J.L. and Ross, R., 1993.

ApoE-deficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. *Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis: A Journal of Vascular Biology*, 14(1), pp.133–140.

Naseh, M., Vatanparast, J., Rafati, A., Bayat, M. and Haghani, M., 2021. The emerging role of FTY720 as a sphingosine 1-phosphate analog for the treatment of ischemic stroke: The cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Brain and Behavior*, 11(6), p.e02179.

National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group, 1995. Tissue Plasminogen Activator for Acute Ischemic Stroke. *N Engl J Med*, [online] 333(24), pp.1581–1588. Available at:

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199512143332401>.

National Research Council, 2011. *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*. Eighth ed. [online] Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Available at: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/12910/guide-for-the-care-and-use-of-laboratory-animals-eighth.

National Stroke Programme, 2019. *National Stroke Register Report 2018*. [online] Available at:

<https://www.hse.ie/eng/services/news/media/pressrel/publication-of-thenational-stroke-register-2018-annual-report.html>.

NCT04088630, 2021. *Fingolimod as a Treatment of Cerebral Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage FITCH*. [online] Available at: <https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04088630> [Accessed 5 Apr. 2021].

Nomura, Y., Fukui, C., Morishita, Y. and Haishima, Y., 2017. A biological study establishing the endotoxin limit for in vitro proliferation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Regenerative Therapy*, 7, pp.45–51.

Nosek, B.A., Ebersole, C.R., DeHaven, A.C. and Mellor, D.T., 2018. The preregistration revolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(11).

Obinata, H. and Hla, T., 2011. Sphingosine 1-phosphate in coagulation and inflammation. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, 34(1), pp.73–91.

O'Collins, V.E., Macleod, M.R., Donnan, G.A., Horky, L.L., Worp, B.H. van

der and Howells, D.W., 2006. 1,026 Experimental treatments in acute stroke. *Annals of Neurology*, 59(3), pp.467–477.

O'Donnell, M.J., Chin, S.L., Rangarajan, S., Xavier, D., Liu, L., Zhang, H., Rao-Melacini, P., Zhang, X., Pais, P., Agapay, S., Lopez-Jaramillo, P., Damasceno, A., Langhorne, P., McQueen, M.J., Rosengren, A., Dehghan, M., Hankey, G.J., Dans, A.L., Elsayed, A., Avezum, A., Mondo, C., Diener, H.-C., Ryglewicz, D., Czlonkowska, A., Pogosova, N., Weimar, C., Iqbal, R., Diaz, R., Yusoff, K., Yusufali, A., Oguz, A., Wang, X., Penaherrera, E., Lanas, F., Ogah, O.S., Ogunniyi, A., Iversen, H.K., Malaga, G., Rumboldt, Z., Oveisgharan, S., Hussain, F.A., Magazi, D., Nilanont, Y., Ferguson, J., Pare, G., Yusuf, S. and investigators, I., 2016. Global and regional effects of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with acute stroke in 32 countries (INTERSTROKE): a casecontrol study. *The Lancet*, 388(10046), pp.761–775.

Orset, C., Haelewyn, B., Allan, S.M., Ansar, S., Campos, F., Cho, T.H., Durand, A., Amki, M.E., Fatar, M., Garcia-Yébenes, I., Gauberti, M., Grudzenski, S., Lizasoain, I., Lo, E., Macrez, R., Margaill, I., Maysami, S., Meairs, S., Nighoghossian, N., Orbe, J., Paramo, J.A., Parienti, J.-J., Rothwell, N.J., Rubio, M., Waeber, C., Young, A.R., Touzé, E. and Vivien, D., 2016. Efficacy of Alteplase in a Mouse Model of Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Stroke*, 47(5), pp.1312–1318.

Orset, C., Macrez, R., Young, A.R., Panthou, D., Angles-Cano, E., Maubert, E., Agin, V. and Vivien, D., 2007. Mouse Model of In Situ Thromboembolic Stroke and Reperfusion. *Stroke*, 38(10), pp.2771–2778.

Ortega, S.B., Noorbhai, I., Poinsatte, K., Kong, X., Anderson, A., Monson, N.L. and Stowe, A.M., 2015. Stroke induces a rapid adaptive autoimmune response to novel neuronal antigens. *Discovery medicine*, 19(106), pp.381–92.

Ortega, S.B., Torres, V.O., Latchney, S.E., Whoolery, C.W., Noorbhai, I.Z., Poinsatte, K., Selvaraj, U.M., Benson, M.A., Meeuwissen, A.J.M., Plautz, E.J., Kong, X., Ramirez, D.M., Ajay, A.D., Meeks, J.P., Goldberg, M.P., Monson, N.L., Eisch, A.J. and Stowe, A.M., 2020. B cells migrate into remote brain areas and support neurogenesis and functional recovery after focal stroke in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of* America, 117(9), pp.4983–4993.

O'Sullivan, C., Schubart, A., Mir, A.K. and Dev, K.K., 2016. The dual S1PR1/S1PR5 drug BAF312 (Siponimod) attenuates demyelination in organotypic slice cultures. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 13(1), p.31.

O'Sullivan, S. and Dev, K.K., 2017. Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor therapies: Advances in clinical trials for CNS-related diseases. *Neuropharmacology*, 113, pp.597–607.

Park, S.-J. and Im, D.-S., 2017. Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor Modulators and Drug Discovery. *Biomolecules & Therapeutics*, 25(1), pp.80–90.

Peng, X., Hassoun, P.M., Sammani, S., McVerry, B.J., Burne, M.J., Rabb, H., Pearse, D., Tuder, R.M. and Garcia, J.G.N., 2004. Protective Effects of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate in Murine Endotoxin-induced Inflammatory Lung Injury. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 169(11), pp.1245–1251.

Perez-de-Puig, I., Miró-Mur, F., Ferrer-Ferrer, M., Gelpi, E., Pedragosa, J., Justicia, C., Urra, X., Chamorro, A. and Planas, A.M., 2015. Neutrophil recruitment to the brain in mouse and human ischemic stroke. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 129(2), pp.239–257.

Petcu, E.B., Sfredel, V., Platt, D., Herndon, J.G., Kessler, C. and Popa-Wagner, A., 2008. Cellular and Molecular Events Underlying the Dysregulated Response of the Aged Brain to Stroke: A Mini-Review. *Gerontology*, 54(1), pp.6–17.

Peterson, T.C., Lechtenberg, K.J., Piening, B.D., Lucas, T.A., Wei, E., Chaib, H., Dowdell, A.K., Snyder, M. and Buckwalter, M.S., 2021. Obesity Drives Delayed Infarct Expansion, Inflammation, and Distinct Gene Networks in a Mouse Stroke Model. *Translational Stroke Research*, 12(2), pp.331–346.

Pfeilschifter, W., Czech-Zechmeister, B., Sujak, M., Foerch, C., Wichelhaus, T.A. and Pfeilschifter, J., 2011a. Treatment with the immunomodulator FTY720 does not promote spontaneous bacterial infections after experimental stroke in mice. *Experimental & Translational Stroke Medicine*, 3(1), p.2.

Pfeilschifter, W., Czech-Zechmeister, B., Sujak, M., Mirceska, A., Koch, A., Rami, A., Steinmetz, H., Foerch, C., Huwiler, A. and Pfeilschifter, J., 2011b.

Activation of sphingosine kinase 2 is an endogenous protective mechanism in cerebral ischemia. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 413(2), pp.212–217.

Phan, K., Dmytriw, A.A., Maingard, J., Asadi, H., Griessenauer, C.J., Ng, W., Kewagamang, K., Mobbs, R.J., Moore, J.M., Ogilvy, C.S. and Thomas, A.J., 2017. Endovascular Thrombectomy Alone versus Combined with Intravenous Thrombolysis. *World Neurosurgery*, 108, pp.850-858.e2.

Pinheiro, M.A.L., Kooij, G., Mizee, M.R., Kamermans, A., Enzmann, G., Lyck, R., Schwaninger, M., Engelhardt, B. and Vries, H.E. de, 2016. Immune cell trafficking across the barriers of the central nervous system in multiple sclerosis and stroke. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1862(3), pp.461–71.

Pinkernell, S., Becker, K. and Lindauer, U., 2016. Severity assessment and scoring for neurosurgical models in rodents. *Laboratory Animals*, 50(6), pp.442–452.

Popa-Wagner, A., Petcu, E., Capitanescu, B., Hermann, D., Radu, E. and Gresita, A., 2020. AGEING AS A RISK FACTOR FOR CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA. UNDERLYING MECHANISMS AND THERAPY IN ANIMAL MODELS AND IN THE CLINIC. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, 190, p.111312.

Popp, A., Jaenisch, N., Witte, O.W. and Frahm, C., 2009. Identification of Ischemic Regions in a Rat Model of Stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 4(3), p.e4764.

Powers, W.J., Rabinstein, A.A., Ackerson, T., Adeoye, O.M., Bambakidis, N.C., Becker, K., Biller, J., Brown, M., Demaerschalk, B.M., Hoh, B., Jauch, E.C., Kidwell, C.S., Leslie-Mazwi, T.M., Ovbiagele, B., Scott, P.A., Sheth, K.N., Southerland, A.M., Summers, D.V., Tirschwell, D.L., and on behalf of the American Heart Association Stroke Council, 2019. Guidelines for the Early Management of Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke: 2019 Update to the 2018 Guidelines for the Early Management of Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*, 50(12), pp.e344–e418.

Przykaza, Ł., 2021. Understanding the Connection Between Common Stroke

Comorbidities, Their Associated Inflammation, and the Course of the Cerebral Ischemia/Reperfusion Cascade. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, p.782569.

Qian, B., Rudy, R.F., Cai, T. and Du, R., 2018. Cerebral Artery Diameter in Inbred Mice Varies as a Function of Strain. *Frontiers in Neuroanatomy*, 12, p.10.

Qin, C., Fan, W.-H., Liu, Q., Shang, K., Murugan, M., Wu, L.-J., Wang, W. and Tian, D.-S., 2017. Fingolimod Protects Against Ischemic White Matter Damage by Modulating Microglia Toward M2 Polarization via STAT3 Pathway. *Stroke*, 48(12), pp.3336–3346.

Qin, C., Zhou, L.-Q., Ma, X.-T., Hu, Z.-W., Yang, S., Chen, M., Bosco, D.B., Wu, L.-J. and Tian, D.-S., 2019. Dual Functions of Microglia in Ischemic Stroke. *Neuroscience Bulletin*, 35(5), pp.921–933.

Rajsic, S., Gothe, H., Borba, H.H., Sroczynski, G., Vujicic, J., Toell, T. and Siebert, U., 2019. Economic burden of stroke: a systematic review on post-stroke care. *The European Journal of Health Economics*, 20(1), pp.107–134.

Ramirez, F.D., Motazedian, P., Jung, R.G., Santo, P.D., MacDonald, Z.D., Moreland, R., Simard, T., Clancy, A.A., Russo, J.J., Welch, V.A., Wells, G.A. and Hibbert, B., 2017. Methodological Rigor in Preclinical Cardiovascular Studies. *Circulation Research*, 120(12), pp.1916–1926.

Ren, H., Han, R., Chen, X., Liu, X., Wan, J., Wang, L., Yang, X. and Wang, J., 2020. Potential therapeutic targets for intracerebral hemorrhage-associated inflammation: An update. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, p.0271678X2092355.

Ren, X., Akiyoshi, K., Dziennis, S., Vandenbark, A.A., Herson, P.S., Hurn, P.D. and Offner, H., 2011. Regulatory B Cells Limit CNS Inflammation and Neurologic Deficits in Murine Experimental Stroke. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(23), pp.8556–8563.

Rewell, S.S., Fernandez, J.A., Cox, S.F., Spratt, N.J., Hogan, L., Aleksoska, E., Raay, L. van, Liberatore, G.T., Batchelor, P.E. and Howells, D.W., 2010. Inducing Stroke in Aged, Hypertensive, Diabetic Rats. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 30(4), pp.729–733.

Rewell, S.S.J., Churilov, L., Sidon, T.K., Aleksoska, E., Cox, S.F., Macleod, M.R. and Howells, D.W., 2017. Evolution of ischemic damage and behavioural

deficit over 6 months after MCAo in the rat: Selecting the optimal outcomes and statistical power for multi-centre preclinical trials. *PLOS ONE*, 12(2), p.e0171688.

Richter, S.H., 2017. Systematic heterogenization for better reproducibility in animal experimentation. *Lab Animal*, 46(9), pp.343–349.

Richter, S.H., Garner, J.P., Zipser, B., Lewejohann, L., Sachser, N., Touma, C., Schindler, B., Chourbaji, S., Brandwein, C., Gass, P., Stipdonk, N. van, Harst, J. van der, Spruijt, B., Võikar, V., Wolfer, D.P. and Würbel, H., 2011. Effect of Population Heterogenization on the Reproducibility of Mouse

Behavior: A Multi-Laboratory Study. PLoS ONE, 6(1), p.e16461.

Ringelstein, E.B., Chamorro, A., Kaste, M., Langhorne, P., Leys, D., Lyrer, P., Thijs, V., Thomassen, L., Toni, D., and ESO Stroke Unit Certification Committee, 2013. European Stroke Organisation Recommendations to Establish a Stroke Unit and Stroke Center. *Stroke*, 44(3), pp.828–840.

Ritzel, R.M., Lai, Y.-J., Crapser, J.D., Patel, A.R., Schrecengost, A., Grenier, J.M., Mancini, N.S., Patrizz, A., Jellison, E.R., Morales-Scheihing, D., Venna, V.R., Kofler, J.K., Liu, F., Verma, R. and McCullough, L.D., 2018. Aging alters the immunological response to ischemic stroke. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 136(1), pp.89–110.

Rolland, W.B., Lekic, T., Krafft, P.R., Hasegawa, Y., Altay, O., Hartman, R., Ostrowski, R., Manaenko, A., Tang, J. and Zhang, J.H., 2013. Fingolimod reduces cerebral lymphocyte infiltration in experimental models of rodent intracerebral hemorrhage. *Experimental Neurology*, 241, pp.45–55.

Rolland, W.B., Manaenko, A., Lekic, T., Hasegawa, Y., Ostrowski, R., Tang, J. and Zhang, J.H., 2011. FTY720 is Neuroprotective and Improves Functional Outcomes After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Mice. *Acta neurochirurgica*. *Supplement*, 111, pp.213–217.

Rosell, A., Agin, V., Rahman, M., Morancho, A., Ali, C., Koistinaho, J., Wang, X., Vivien, D., Schwaninger, M. and Montaner, J., 2013. Distal Occlusion of the Middle Cerebral Artery in Mice: Are We Ready to Assess Long-Term Functional Outcome? *Translational Stroke Research*, 4(3), pp.297–307.

Royl, G., Balkaya, M., Lehmann, S., Lehnardt, S., Stohlmann, K., Lindauer,

U., Endres, M., Dirnagl, U. and Meisel, A., 2009. Effects of the PDE5-inhibitor vardenafil in a mouse stroke model. *Brain Research*, 1265, pp.148–157.

Roy-O'Reilly, M.A., Ahnstedt, H., Spychala, M.S., Munshi, Y., Aronowski, J., Sansing, L.H. and McCullough, L.D., 2020. Aging exacerbates neutrophil pathogenicity in ischemic stroke. *Aging (Albany NY)*, 12(1), pp.436–461.

Ruggieri, S., Quartuccio, M.E. and Prosperini, L., 2022. Ponesimod in the Treatment of Relapsing Forms of Multiple Sclerosis: An Update on the Emerging Clinical Data. *Degenerative Neurological and Neuromuscular Disease*, 12, pp.61–73.

Sacco, R.L., Kasner, S.E., Broderick, J.P., Caplan, L.R., Connors, J.J.B., Culebras, A., Elkind, M.S.V., George, M.G., Hamdan, A.D., Higashida, R.T., Hoh, B.L., Janis, L.S., Kase, C.S., Kleindorfer, D.O., Lee, J.-M., Moseley, M.E., Peterson, E.D., Turan, T.N., Valderrama, A.L., Vinters, H.V., American Heart Association Stroke Council, Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia, Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease, and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, 2013. An Updated Definition of Stroke for the 21st Century. *Stroke*, 44(7), pp.2064–2089.

Salas-Perdomo, A., Miró-Mur, F., Gallizioli, M., Brait, V.H., Justicia, C., Meissner, A., Urra, X., Chamorro, A. and Planas, A.M., 2019. Role of the S1P pathway and inhibition by fingolimod in preventing hemorrhagic transformation after stroke. *Scientific Reports*, (1), p.8309.

Sandborn, W.J., Feagan, B.G., Wolf, D.C., D'Haens, G., Vermeire, S., Hanauer, S.B., Ghosh, S., Smith, H., Cravets, M., Frohna, P.A., Aranda, R., Gujrathi, S., Olson, A. and Group, T.S., 2016. Ozanimod Induction and Maintenance Treatment for Ulcerative Colitis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(18), pp.1754–1762.

Saver, J.L., Johnston, K.C., Homer, D., Wityk, R., Koroshetz, W., Truskowski, L.L. and Haley, E.C., 1999. Infarct Volume as a Surrogate or Auxiliary Outcome Measure in Ischemic Stroke Clinical Trials. *Stroke*, 30(2), pp.293–298.
Savitz, S.I., Baron, J.-C., Fisher, M., Albers, G.W., Arbe-Barnes, S., Boltze, J., Broderick, J., Broschat, K.O., Elkind, M.S.V., En'Wezoh, D., Furlan, A.J., Gorelick, P.B., Grotta, J., Hancock, A.M., Hess, D.C., Holt, W., Houser, G., Hsia, A.W., Kim, W.-K., Korinek, W.S., Moan, N.L., Liberman, M., Lilienfeld, S., Luby, M., Lynch, J.K., Mansi, C., Simpkins, A.N., Nadareishvili, Z., Nogueira, R.G., Pryor, K.E., Sanossian, N., Schwamm, L.H., Selim, M., Sheth, K.N., Spilker, J., Solberg, Y., Steinberg, G.K., Stice, S., Tymianski, M., Wechsler, L.R. and Yoo, A.J., 2019. Stroke Treatment Academic Industry Roundtable X. *Stroke*, 50(4), pp.1026–1031.

Schaar, K.L., Brenneman, M.M. and Savitz, S.I., 2010. Functional assessments in the rodent stroke model. *Experimental & translational stroke medicine*, 2(1), p.13.

Schmidt-Pogoda, A., Bonberg, N., Koecke, M.H.M., Strecker, J., Wellmann, J., Bruckmann, N., Beuker, C., Schäbitz, W., Meuth, S.G., Wiendl, H., Minnerup, H. and Minnerup, J., 2020. Why Most Acute Stroke Studies Are Positive in Animals but Not in Patients: A Systematic Comparison of Preclinical, Early Phase, and 3 Clinical Trials of Neuroprotective Agents. *Annals of Neurology*, 87(1), pp.40–51.

Schuhmann, M., Krstić, M., Kleinschnitz, C. and Fluri, F., 2016. Fingolimod (FTY720) Reduces Cortical Infarction and Neurological Deficits During Ischemic Stroke through potential maintanance of Microvascular Patency. *Current Neurovascular Research*, 13(999), pp.1–1.

Scott, F.L., Clemons, B., Brooks, J., Brahmachary, E., Powell, R., Dedman, H., Desale, H.G., Timony, G.A., Martinborough, E., Rosen, H., Roberts, E., Boehm, M.F. and Peach, R.J., 2016. Ozanimod (RPC1063) is a potent sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-1 (S1P1) and receptor-5 (S1P5) agonist with autoimmune disease-modifying activity. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 173(11), pp.1778–1792.

Sena, E., Worp, H.B. van der, Howells, D. and Macleod, M., 2007. How can we improve the pre-clinical development of drugs for stroke? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 30(9), pp.433–439.

Sena, E.S., Worp, H.B. van der, Bath, P.M.W., Howells, D.W. and Macleod,

M.R., 2010. Publication Bias in Reports of Animal Stroke Studies Leads to Major Overstatement of Efficacy. *PLoS Biology*, 8(3), p.e1000344.

Sensken, S.-C., Bode, C. and Gräler, M.H., 2008. Accumulation of fingolimod (FTY720) in lymphoid tissues contributes to prolonged efficacy. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, 328(3), pp.963–9.

Sert, N.P. du, Alfieri, A., Allan, S.M., Carswell, H.V., Deuchar, G.A., Farr,
T.D., Flecknell, P., Gallagher, L., Gibson, C.L., Haley, M.J., Macleod, M.R.,
McColl, B.W., McCabe, C., Morancho, A., Moon, L.D., O'Neill, M.J., Puig, I.P.
de, Planas, A., Ragan, C.I., Rosell, A., Roy, L.A., Ryder, K.O., Simats, A., Sena,
E.S., Sutherland, B.A., Tricklebank, M.D., Trueman, R.C., Whitfield, L., Wong,
R. and Macrae, I.M., 2017. The IMPROVE Guidelines (Ischaemia Models:
Procedural Refinements Of in Vivo Experiments). *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 37(11), pp.3488–3517.

Sert, N.P. du, Hurst, V., Ahluwalia, A., Alam, S., Avey, M.T., Baker, M., Browne, W.J., Clark, A., Cuthill, I.C., Dirnagl, U., Emerson, M., Garner, P., Holgate, S.T., Howells, D.W., Karp, N.A., Lazic, S.E., Lidster, K., MacCallum, C.J., Macleod, M., Pearl, E.J., Petersen, O.H., Rawle, F., Reynolds, P., Rooney, K., Sena, E.S., Silberberg, S.D., Steckler, T. and Würbel, H., 2020. The ARRIVE guidelines 2.0: Updated guidelines for reporting animal research. *PLOS Biology*, 18(7), p.e3000410.

Shang, K., He, J., Zou, J., Qin, C., Lin, L., Zhou, L.-Q., Yang, L.-L., Wu, L.-J., Wang, W., Zhan, K.-B. and Tian, D.-S., 2019. Fingolimod promotes angiogenesis and attenuates ischemic brain damage via modulating microglial polarization. *Brain Research*, 1726, p.146509.

Shao, A., Zhu, Z., Li, L., Zhang, S. and Zhang, J., 2019. Emerging therapeutic targets associated with the immune system in patients with intracerebral haemorrhage (ICH): From mechanisms to translation. *EBioMedicine*, 45, pp.615–623.

Sharma, S., Mathur, A.G., Pradhan, S., Singh, D.B. and Gupta, S., 2011. Fingolimod (FTY720): First approved oral therapy for multiple sclerosis. *Journal of pharmacology & pharmacotherapeutics*, 2(1), pp.49–51.

Shichita, T., Sugiyama, Y., Ooboshi, H., Sugimori, H., Nakagawa, R.,

Takada, I., Iwaki, T., Okada, Y., Iida, M., Cua, D.J., Iwakura, Y. and Yoshimura, A., 2009. Pivotal role of cerebral interleukin-17–producing γδT cells in the delayed phase of ischemic brain injury. *Nature Medicine*, 15(8), pp.946–950.

Shimano, K., Maeda, Y., Kataoka, H., Murase, M., Mochizuki, S., Utsumi, H., Oshita, K. and Sugahara, K., 2019. Amiselimod (MT-1303), a novel sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor-1 functional antagonist, inhibits progress of chronic colitis induced by transfer of CD4+CD45RBhigh T cells. *PLoS ONE*, 14(12), p.e0226154.

Shin, H.K., Dunn, A.K., Jones, P.B., Boas, D.A., Lo, E.H., Moskowitz, M.A. and Ayata, C., 2007. Normobaric hyperoxia improves cerebral blood flow and oxygenation, and inhibits peri-infarct depolarizations in experimental focal ischaemia. *Brain*, 130(6), pp.1631–1642.

Shuaib, A., Lees, K.R., Lyden, P., Grotta, J., Davalos, A., Davis, S.M., Diener, H.-C., Ashwood, T., Wasiewski, W.W. and Emeribe, U., 2007. NXY-059 for the Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 357(6), pp.562–571.

Singhal, A.B., Dijkhuizen, R.M., Rosen, B.R. and Lo, E.H., 2002a. Normobaric hyperoxia reduces MRI diffusion abnormalities and infarct size in experimental stroke. *Neurology*, 58(6), pp.945–952.

Singhal, A.B., Wang, X., Sumii, T., Mori, T. and Lo, E.H., 2002b. Effects of Normobaric Hyperoxia in a Rat Model of Focal Cerebral Ischemia— Reperfusion. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 22(7), pp.861–868.

Sirén, A.-L., Radyushkin, K., Boretius, S., Kämmer, D., Riechers, C.-C., Natt, O., Sargin, D., Watanabe, T., Sperling, S., Michaelis, T., Price, J., Meyer, B., Frahm, J. and Ehrenreich, H., 2006. Global brain atrophy after unilateral parietal lesion and its prevention by erythropoietin. *Brain*, 129(2), pp.480–489.

Smith, C.J., Hulme, S., Vail, A., Heal, C., Parry-Jones, A.R., Scarth, S.,

Hopkins, K., Hoadley, M., Allan, S.M., Rothwell, N.J., Hopkins, S.J. and Tyrrell,

P.J., 2018. SCIL-STROKE (Subcutaneous Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist in Ischemic Stroke). *Stroke*, 49(5), pp.1210–1216.

Smith, W.S. and Furlan, A.J., 2018. Brief History of Endovascular Acute Ischemic Stroke Treatment. *Stroke*, 47(2), pp.e23–e26. Sommer, C., 2016. Rodent Models of Stroke. In: U. Dirnagl, ed. *Chapter 16: Histology and Infarct Volume Determination in Rodent Models of Stroke*. pp.263–277.

Sommer, C.J., 2017. Ischemic stroke: experimental models and reality. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 133(2), pp.245–261.

Specogna, A.V., Turin, T.C., Patten, S.B. and Hill, M.D., 2014. Factors Associated with Early Deterioration after Spontaneous Intracerebral Hemorrhage: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(5), p.e96743.

Spence, J.D., Azarpazhooh, M.R., Larsson, S.C., Bogiatzi, C. and Hankey, G.J., 2020. Stroke Prevention in Older Adults: Recent Advances. *Stroke*, 51(12), pp.3770–3777.

Strazzullo, P., D'Elia, L., Cairella, G., Garbagnati, F., Cappuccio, F.P. and Scalfi, L., 2010. Excess Body Weight and Incidence of Stroke. *Stroke*, 41(5), pp.e418–e426.

Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable (STAIR), 1999.

Recommendations for Standards Regarding Preclinical Neuroprotective and Restorative Drug Development. *Stroke*, 30(12), pp.2752–2758.

Ström, J.O., Ingberg, E., Theodorsson, A. and Theodorsson, E., 2013. Method parameters' impact on mortality and variability in rat stroke experiments: a meta-analysis. *BMC Neuroscience*, 14(1), p.41.

Sutherland, B.A., Minnerup, J., Balami, J.S., Arba, F., Buchan, A.M. and Kleinschnitz, C., 2012. Neuroprotection for Ischaemic Stroke: Translation from the Bench to the Bedside. *International Journal of Stroke*, 7(5), pp.407–418.

Tao, C., Keep, R.F., Xi, G. and Hua, Y., 2019. CD47 Blocking Antibody Accelerates Hematoma Clearance After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Aged Rats. *Translational stroke research*, pp.1–11.

The Hemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants, Selim, M., Hanley, D., Broderick, J., Goldstein, J.N., Gregson, B.A., Falcione, G., Gonzales, N.R., Gurol, E., Kersten, J., Lewkowicz, H., Mendelow, A.D., Muehlschlegel, S., Neuman, R., Palesch, Y., Rosenblum, M., Sheth, K.N., Singh, V., Ziai, W., Keep, R.F., Aronowski, J., Genstler, C., James, M.L., Ratan, R., Sansing, L., Youd, A., Xi, G., Zille, M., Anderson, C., Awad, I.,
Bastings, E., Bednar, M., Coon, A.L., Gottesman, R., Katz, B., Khan, S., Koenig,
J., Koroshetz, W., Ling, S., Loftus, C., Lockhardt, J., Louis, T., Marler, J., Moy,
C., Peña, C., Pollack, C., Omert, L., Shah, M., Shoamanesh, A., Singer, M.,
Steiner, T., Torbey, M., Tymianski, M., Wakhloo, A., Vespa, P., Zuccarello, M.
and Zheng, X., 2018a. Basic and Translational Research in Intracerebral
Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 49(5), pp.1308–1314.

The Hemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants, Selim, M., Hanley, D., Broderick, J., Goldstein, J.N., Gregson, B.A., Falcione, G., Gonzales, N.R., Gurol, E., Kersten, J., Lewkowicz, H., Mendelow, A.D., Muehlschlegel, S., Neuman, R., Palesch, Y., Rosenblum, M., Sheth, K.N., Singh, V., Ziai, W., Keep, R.F., Aronowski, J., Genstler, C., James, M.L., Ratan, R., Sansing, L., Youd, A., Xi, G., Zille, M., Anderson, C., Awad, I., Bastings, E., Bednar, M., Coon, A.L., Gottesman, R., Katz, B., Khan, S., Koenig, J., Koroshetz, W., Ling, S., Loftus, C., Lockhardt, J., Louis, T., Marler, J., Moy, C., Peña, C., Pollack, C., Omert, L., Shah, M., Shoamanesh, A., Singer, M., Steiner, T., Torbey, M., Tymianski, M., Wakhloo, A., Vespa, P., Zuccarello, M. and Zheng, X., 2018b. Unmet Needs and Challenges in Clinical Research of Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Stroke*, 49(5), pp.1299–1307.

The Hemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry (HEADS) Roundtable Participants, Selim, M., Hanley, D., Steiner, T., Christensen, H.K., Lafuente, J., Rodriguez, D., Keep, R., Anderson, C., Parry-Jones, A., Nilsson, M., Sunnerhagen, K.S., Novick, E., Aronowski, J., Lawson, B., Chaudhary, N., Zhou-Ping, T., Zuccarello, M., Woo, D., Shoamanesh, A., Qureshi, A.I., Cordonnier, C., Klijn, K., Salman, R.A.-S., Sprigg, N., Gregson, B., Mendelow, D., Gaudin, C., Pandey, A., Ziai, W., Alcázar-Romero, P.P., Montaner, J., Marti-Fabregas, J., Nilsson, S., Schenk, B., Riess, H., You, C., Gaist, D. and Broderick, J., 2020. Recommendations for Clinical Trials in ICH: The Second Hemorrhagic Stroke Academia Industry Roundtable. *Stroke*, 51(4), pp.1333–1338.

Tian, D., Shi, K., Zhu, Z., Yao, J., Yang, X., Su, L., Zhang, S., Zhang, M.,Gonzales, R.J., Liu, Q., Huang, D., Waters, M.F., Sheth, K.N., Ducruet, A.F., Fu,Y., Lou, M. and Shi, F., 2018. Fingolimod enhances the efficacy of delayed

alteplase administration in acute ischemic stroke by promoting anterograde reperfusion and retrograde collateral flow. *Annals of Neurology*, 84(5), pp.717–728.

Traystman, R.J., 2003. Animal Models of Focal and Global Cerebral Ischemia. *ILAR Journal*, 44(2), pp.85–95.

Tschoe, C., Bushnell, C.D., Duncan, P.W., Alexander-Miller, M.A. and Wolfe, S.Q., 2020. Neuroinflammation after Intracerebral Hemorrhage and Potential Therapeutic Targets. *Journal of stroke*, 22(1), pp.29–46.

Tsilidis, K.K., Panagiotou, O.A., Sena, E.S., Aretouli, E., Evangelou, E., Howells, D.W., Salman, R.A.-S., Macleod, M.R. and Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2013. Evaluation of Excess Significance Bias in Animal Studies of Neurological Diseases. *PLoS Biology*, 11(7), p.e1001609.

Tukey, J.W., 1980. We Need Both Exploratory and Confirmatory. *The American Statistician*, 34(1), pp.23–25.

Umeano, O., Phillips-Bute, B., Hailey, C.E., Sun, W., Gray, M.C., Roulhac-Wilson, B., McDonagh, D.L., Kranz, P.G., Laskowitz, D.T. and James, M.L., 2013. Gender and Age Interact to Affect Early Outcome after Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11), p.e81664.

Usui, T., Macleod, M.R., McCann, S.K., Senior, A.M. and Nakagawa, S., 2021. Meta-analysis of variation suggests that embracing variability improves both replicability and generalizability in preclinical research. *PLOS Biology*, 19(5), p.e3001009.

Veltkamp, R., Sun, L., Herrmann, O., Wolferts, G., Hagmann, S., Siebing, D.A., Marti, H.H., Veltkamp, C. and Schwaninger, M., 2006. Oxygen therapy in permanent brain ischemia: Potential and limitations. *Brain Research*, 1107(1), pp.185–191.

Virani, S.S., Alonso, A., Benjamin, E.J., Bittencourt, M.S., Callaway, C.W., Carson, A.P., Chamberlain, A.M., Chang, A.R., Cheng, S., Delling, F.N., Djousse, L., Elkind, M.S.V., Ferguson, J.F., Fornage, M., Khan, S.S., Kissela, B.M., Knutson, K.L., Kwan, T.W., Lackland, D.T., Lewis, T.T., Lichtman, J.H., Longenecker, C.T., Loop, M.S., Lutsey, P.L., Martin, S.S., Matsushita, K., Moran, A.E., Mussolino, M.E., Perak, A.M., Rosamond, W.D., Roth, G.A., Sampson, U.K.A., Satou, G.M., Schroeder, E.B., Shah, S.H., Shay, C.M., Spartano, N.L., Stokes, A., Tirschwell, D.L., VanWagner, L.B., Tsao, C.W., and On behalf of the American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee, 2020. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2020 Update. *Circulation*, 141(9), pp.e139–e596.

Voelkl, B. and Würbel, H., 2016. Reproducibility Crisis: Are We Ignoring Reaction Norms? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 37(7), pp.509–510.

Voelkl, B., Würbel, H., Krzywinski, M. and Altman, N., 2021. The standardization fallacy. *Nature Methods*, 18(1), pp.5–7.

Vollert, J., Schenker, E., Macleod, M., Bespalov, A., Wuerbel, H., Michel, M., Dirnagl, U., Potschka, H., Waldron, A.-M., Wever, K., Steckler, T., Casteele, T. van de, Altevogt, B., Sil, A., Rice, A.S.C., Vollert, J., Schenker, E., Macleod, M., Clark, J., Sena, E., Bespalov, A., Boulanger, B., Riedel, G., Platt, B., Sil, A., Kas, M.J., Wuerbel, H., Voelkl, B., Michel, M.C., Jucker, M., Wegenast-Braun, B.M., Dirnagl, U., Bernard, R., Heiden, E., Potschka, H., Loos, M., Wever, K.E., Ritskes-Hoitinga, M., Casteele, T.V.D., Steckler, T., Drinkenburg, P., Almenar, J.D.P., Gallacher, D., Linde, H.V.D., Gilis, A., Teuns, G., Wicke, K., Grote, S., Sommer, B., Nicholson, J., Janhunen, S., Virtanen, S., Altevogt, B., Cheng, K., Ramboz, S., Leahy, E., Lefevre, I.A., Ducrey, F., Guillen, J., Vergara, P., Waldron, A.-M., Seiffert, I. and Rice, A.S.C., 2020. Systematic review of guidelines for internal validity in the design, conduct and analysis of preclinical biomedical experiments involving laboratory animals. *BMJ Open Science*, 4(1), p.e100046.

Wacker, B.K., Park, T.S. and Gidday, J.M., 2009. Hypoxic Preconditioning-Induced Cerebral Ischemic Tolerance. *Stroke*, 40(10), pp.3342–3348.

Wahlgren, N., Ahmed, N., Dávalos, A., Ford, G.A., Grond, M., Hacke, W., Hennerici, M.G., Kaste, M., Kuelkens, S., Larrue, V., Lees, K.R., Roine, R.O., Soinne, L., Toni, D., Vanhooren, G. and investigators, for the S.-M., 2007. Thrombolysis with alteplase for acute ischaemic stroke in the Safe Implementation of Thrombolysis in Stroke-Monitoring Study (SITS-MOST): an observational study. *The Lancet*, 369(9558), pp.275–282.

Wang, H., Wang, Z., Wu, Q., Yuan, Y., Cao, W. and Zhang, X., 2021.

Regulatory T cells in ischemic stroke. *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, 27(6), pp.643–651.

Wang, Z., Higashikawa, K., Yasui, H., Kuge, Y., Ohno, Y., Kihara, A., Midori, Y.A., Houkin, K. and Kawabori, M., 2020. FTY720 Protects Against Ischemia–Reperfusion Injury by Preventing the Redistribution of Tight Junction Proteins and Decreases Inflammation in the Subacute Phase in an Experimental Stroke Model. *Translational Stroke Research*, pp.1–14.

Wang, Z., Kawabori, M. and Houkin, K., 2020. FTY720 (Fingolimod) Ameliorates Brain Injury through Multiple Mechanisms and is a Strong Candidate for Stroke Treatment. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 27(18), pp.2979– 2993.

Weaver, C.T., Harrington, L.E., Mangan, P.R., Gavrieli, M. and Murphy, K.M., 2006. Th17: An Effector CD4 T Cell Lineage with Regulatory T Cell Ties. *Immunity*, 24(6), pp.677–688.

Webb, M., Tham, C.-S., Lin, F.-F., Lariosa-Willingham, K., Yu, N., Hale, J., Mandala, S., Chun, J. and Rao, T.S., 2004. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor agonists attenuate relapsing–remitting experimental autoimmune encephalitis in SJL mice. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 153(1–2), pp.108–121.

Wei, S., Zhiquiang, S. and Li, S., 2011. Expression of S1P1 in focal brain ischemia-reperfusion rats. *Journal of Apoplexy and Nervous diseases*, 2(28), pp.108–110.

Wei, Y., Yemisci, M., Kim, H., Yung, L.M., Shin, H.K., Hwang, S., Guo, S., Qin, T., Alsharif, N., Brinkmann, V., Liao, J.K., Lo, E.H. and Waeber, C., 2010. Fingolimod provides long-term protection in rodent models of cerebral ischemia. *Annals of Neurology*, 69(1), pp.119–129.

Wilkinson, D.A., Keep, R.F., Hua, Y. and Xi, G., 2017. Hematoma clearance as a therapeutic target in intracerebral hemorrhage: From macro to micro. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 38(4), pp.741–745.

Wilkinson, D.A., Pandey, A.S., Thompson, B.G., Keep, R.F., Hua, Y. and Xi, G., 2018. Injury mechanisms in acute intracerebral hemorrhage.

Neuropharmacology, 134, pp.240–248.

World Health Organization, 2018. The top 10 causes of death. [online]

Available at: <https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10causes-of-death> [Accessed 8 May 2020].

Würbel, H., 2000. Behaviour and the standardization fallacy. *Nature Genetics*, 26(3), pp.263–263.

Xi, G., Keep, R.F. and Hoff, J.T., 2006. Mechanisms of brain injury after intracerebral haemorrhage. *The Lancet Neurology*, 5(1), pp.53–63.

Xie, Y., Li, Y.-J., Lei, B., Kernagis, D., Liu, W.-W., Bennett, E.R., Venkatraman, T., Lascola, C.D., Laskowitz, D.T., Warner, D.S. and James, M.L., 2018. Sex Differences in Gene and Protein Expression After Intracerebral Hemorrhage in Mice. *Translational stroke research*, 10(2), pp.231–239.

Xing, C., Arai, K., Lo, E.H. and Hommel, M., 2012. Pathophysiologic Cascades in Ischemic Stroke. *International Journal of Stroke*, 7(5), pp.378–385.

Xu, J., Zhang, Y., Liang, Z., Wang, T., Li, W., Ren, L., Huang, S. and Liu, W., 2016. Normobaric hyperoxia retards the evolution of ischemic brain tissue toward infarction in a rat model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Neurological research*, 38(1), pp.75–9.

Yang, J.-L., Yang, Y.-R. and Chen, S.-D., 2019. The potential of drug repurposing combined with reperfusion therapy in cerebral ischemic stroke: A supplementary strategy to endovascular thrombectomy. *Life Sciences*, 236, p.116889.

Ye, F., Garton, H.J.L., Hua, Y., Keep, R.F. and Xi, G., 2020. The Role of Thrombin in Brain Injury After Hemorrhagic and Ischemic Stroke. *Translational Stroke Research*, pp.1–16.

Yew, K.S. and Cheng, E.M., 2015. Diagnosis of acute stroke. *American family physician*, 91(8), pp.528–36.

Yin, W., Carballo-Jane, E., McLaren, D.G., Mendoza, V.H., Gagen, K.,
Geoghagen, N.S., McNamara, L.A., Gorski, J.N., Eiermann, G.J., Petrov, A.,
Wolff, M., Tong, X., Wilsie, L.C., Akiyama, T.E., Chen, J., Thankappan, A.,
Xue, J., Ping, X., Andrews, G., Wickham, L.A., Gai, C.L., Trinh, T., Kulick,
A.A., Donnelly, M.J., Voronin, G.O., Rosa, R., Cumiskey, A.-M., Bekkari, K.,
Mitnaul, L.J., Puig, O., Chen, F., Raubertas, R., Wong, P.H., Hansen, B.C.,
Koblan, K.S., Roddy, T.P., Hubbard, B.K. and Strack, A.M., 2012. Plasma lipid

profiling across species for the identification of optimal animal models of human dyslipidemia. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 53(1), pp.51–65.

Yoshimura, A. and Ito, M., 2020. Resolution of inflammation and repair after ischemic brain injury. *Neuroimmunology and Neuroinflammation*, 2020.

Yuan, R., Meng, Q., Nautiyal, J., Flurkey, K., Tsaih, S.-W., Krier, R., Parker, M.G., Harrison, D.E. and Paigen, B., 2012. Genetic coregulation of age of female sexual maturation and lifespan through circulating IGF1 among inbred mouse strains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(21), pp.8224–8229.

Zhang, S., Zhou, Y., Zhang, R., Zhang, M., Campbell, B., Lin, L., Shi, F.-D. and Lou, M., 2017. Rationale and design of combination of an immune modulator Fingolimod with Alteplase bridging with Mechanical Thrombectomy in Acute Ischemic Stroke (FAMTAIS) trial. *International Journal of Stroke*, (8), pp.906–909.

Zhang, Y., Li, Q., Rao, E., Sun, Y., Grossmann, M.E., Morris, R.J., Cleary, M.P. and Li, B., 2015. Epidermal Fatty Acid Binding Protein Promotes Skin Inflammation Induced by High-Fat Diet. *Immunity*, 42(5), pp.953–964.

Zhao, L., Mulligan, M.K. and Nowak, T.S., 2017. Substrain- and sexdependent differences in stroke vulnerability in C57BL/6 mice. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 39(3), pp.426–438.

Zhu, H., Wang, Z., Yu, J., Yang, X., He, F., Liu, Z., Che, F., Chen, X., Ren,
H., Hong, M. and Wang, J., 2019. Role and Mechanisms of Cytokines in the
Secondary Brain Injury After Intracerebral Hemorrhage. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 178(Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases: the official
journal of National Stroke Association 23 2014), p.101610.

Zhu, Z., Fu, Y., Tian, D., Sun, N., Han, W., Chang, G., Dong, Y., Xu, X., Liu, Q., Huang, D. and Shi, F.-D., 2015. Combination of the Immune Modulator Fingolimod With Alteplase in Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Pilot Trial. *Circulation*, 132(12), pp.1104–1112.

Zille, M., Farr, T.D., Przesdzing, I., Müller, J., Sommer, C., Dirnagl, U. and Wunder, A., 2011. Visualizing Cell Death in Experimental Focal Cerebral Ischemia: Promises, Problems, and Perspectives. *Journal of Cerebral Blood* Flow & Metabolism, 32(2).

Zollinger, M., Gschwind, H.-P., Jin, Y., Sayer, C., Zécri, F. and Hartmann, S., 2011. Absorption and Disposition of the Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor Modulator Fingolimod (FTY720) in Healthy Volunteers: A Case of Xenobiotic Biotransformation Following Endogenous Metabolic Pathways. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, 39(2), pp.199–207.

Appendix

A: Rodent Stroke Pain Assessment

see Name:		Proce	Jure pt	erforme	:p						(/		ōΝ				
lo:		Time:										/	Δ	ate:				
oject Auth:		Notes:							_			_			I			
Vame								_								sp	F	_
ent:												_				iult er		
[el:												\				g. exti	ian ian	
train 2 d		Startin	g weig	냁												itorin; .9 ,916	nsnina I) triio	
	SC	Day		Jay 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	D	ay 6	Day 7	Day 8	Day 9	Day 10 Dé	ay 11 Day 1	2	nom to yon so ynetneme	itav ittiw sz gbna ansm	
		am	om ar	mq r	am pm	n am pm	am pi	m	md	mg mg	•	•			_	əlqquə əlqquə	mash mash	
aight locs	-	╞	+		-	╞	╞	+	╞	-			╞	╞	_	t wait abiv	19W k New k Meme	
weight loss	<u>م</u>		+					+	t				╞	╞	_	Rev Pro	imi Imi	
weight loss	m		\vdash						E					\vdash	_		940	
ght loss	ΗË	<u> </u>	\vdash												_		de bi	
ICe	0															5-t 8-1	ne 01 9-9	
ntly unkempt	-															016 4 016 7	9 9 10 9 10 9 10	
berection	7														<u> </u>	25 25	25 25	
iloerection	m		\vdash											_				
	0												_	_		ner Gl	pu	(1
normal gait	-														hisin	ogeth i glob ents entgine	e ysn	hoixal
abnormal gait	7														ral cli	t (tne s si rt: emnie emnie	d jeja	t dmi
t mobility problems	m														Benei	ronnor virtw (sqmi l ne len	exelor	ilanot
y >24hrs	ΗEP	-	\vdash												jo vo	envia scale eoigol	t aona	pue) (
d nervous on handling	7														iđenik	ich 0≡ no2rs icnua e0 dai	nsisa.	ysnd
distressed on handling	m														comp	avior, abað) n anu: w ,ba	n , noi	lerate
ore (additive)	0														e Aq p	noide noide seam su si 8	cəft dr ti	etols
flexion	-														Demed	evalui evalui of 0-3 of 0-3	orelim defici	n n nezei
resistance to lat push w/o circlin	7		-												is bett	seppes ologic evelop golave	it abul: aldevi	official devices
aviour as grade 2 w/circling	m														i finem	, trigiei nuon : b tnor gniber	arti ete	relimi screas screas
ustment : 2-5			\vdash												ISSBSS	wyboe officied nsces g A .e	τγ. Τε bur. bur.	e 1: fo 2: 1: fo 2: de 2: de
scored a 3 more than once, add an			\vdash												iut A a	st toki cel es oke st ous (p	iilides bivieds abera	sberg grade grade witho
for each 3			H					\parallel							anas	ntatic a stro ologic sgring: griw	ed gn	i T T
															әц⊥∗	sedo hivi neur ollo	level circli	

Conferences and Publications

Conferences

- 1.2016 Irish Association of Pharmacologist (30-11-2016) RCSI Dublin attendant
- 2.2017 Irish Association of Pharmacologist (24-11-2017) UCD Dublin poster presentation
- 3.2018 Irish Association of Pharmacologist (30-11-2018) Belfast poster presentation
- 4.2019 Irish Association of Pharmacologist (30-11-2019) NUI Galway Oral presentation

Publications associated with PhD research work

<u>Diaz Diaz, A.C.</u>, Shearer, J.A., Malone, K. and Waeber, C., 2020. Acute Treatment With Fingolimod Does Not Confer Long-Term Benefit in a Mouse Model of Intracerebral Haemorrhage. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 11, p.613103.

Malone, K., <u>Diaz Diaz, A.C.</u>, Shearer, J.A., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2021. The effect of fingolimod on regulatory T cells in a mouse model of brain ischaemia. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, 18(1), p.37.

<u>Diaz Diaz, A.C.</u>, Malone, K., Shearer, J.A., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2021. Histological, behavioural and flow cytometric datasets relating to acute ischaemic stroke in young, aged and ApoE-/- mice in the presence and absence of immunomodulation with fingolimod. *Data in Brief*, 36, p.107146.

<u>Diaz Diaz, A.C.</u>, Malone, K., Shearer, J., Moore, A.C. and Waeber, C., 2022. Preclinical Evaluation of Fingolimod in Rodent Models of Stroke with Age or Atherosclerosis as Comorbidities. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*. [online] Available at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2022.920449/.